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With our vision statement, “worth to invest, worth to live,” we continue to positively 
affect lives, through projects across Turkey that make a difference. In creating lifestyle 
centers such as shopping malls, recreational and residential areas, offices and hotels, 
we believe it is a principal responsibility to ensure that these projects add value to both 
our country and the lives of its people. 

More than 50 million people visit our shopping malls every year. We contribute to 
the creation of TRY 500 million in retail trade with a gross leasable area of 
563 thousand m² and provide, directly or indirectly, employment opportunities for 
30 thousand people.

We host 265 companies and approximately 10 thousand employees strengthening 
and supporting our economy. In line with the needs and expectations of the corporate 
and commercial sector, we offer 563 thousand m2 of space, amplifying the sector’s 
competitive power. Our projects - each a center of attraction in its own field - offer 
visitors, residents and tenants a wide range of business, residential and entertainment 
areas; at the same time, our projects present promising opportunities for investors, 
with a portfolio value of TRY 10.3 billion and net assets of TRY 6.4 billion. 

You might have seen our outstanding projects or passed them by, or perhaps you are 
not aware of these projects at all. As some have noted, “those who travel can know 
more than those who simply read.” Let us now take you on a short tour and watch your 
perspective widen.

WHY YOU SHOULD SEE 
OUR PROJECTS

PREFACE

Armed with more than 30 years of experience in the sector, we 
develop human- and life-oriented real estate projects.   



Our aim is to close our TRY 4 billion net 
debt within 2022, in order to add further 
strength to the firm foundations of 
Torunlar REIC. In the meantime, we are 
building a more fruitful future aligned with 
our three-stage strategy.

THE ROUTE FOR THE FUTURE

TORUNLAR REIC 
ROADMAP
Through its implemented projects, Torunlar REIC 
reveals a profitable path for investors. The Company’s 
three-stage short- and medium-term strategy 
constitutes the initial steps into a stronger future.
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SALES OF ALL RESIDENTIAL 
UNITS IN THE 5. LEVENT PROJECT

Selling all the residential 
units that remain in the 

inventory of the 5. Levent 
Project, positioned in 

the development axis of 
Levent, İstanbul’s most 

valuable location

REACHING 100% OCCUPANCY  
AT TORUN CENTER

Offering the remaining 
residential units, and leasing 

offices and commercial 
areas at Torun Center, which 

blends business, lifestyle 
and entertainment at a 

single point in Mecidiyeköy 
- the heart of İstanbul

COMPLETING PHASE 2 OF 
MALL OF İSTANBUL

Completing the second phase 
of the hotel, convention center 

and mixed-used residential 
project at Mall of İstanbul, which 

has become a new center of 
attraction for İstanbul, blending 
entertainment, culture and art 
with the shopping experience 



PROJECTS IN DIFFERENT CITIES, 
HOUSING MILLIONS OF PEOPLE

THE ROUTE FOR INVESTMENT

İSTANBUL

TRY  8,942.9  MN

ANKARA

TRY 267.2  MN
MUĞLASAMSUN

TRY 52.4  MN TRY 45.5  MN

ANTALYABURSA

TRY 1,927.7 MN TRY 962.2  MN

İSTANBUL
SAMSUN

0.4%ANKARA

2.2%

ANTALYA

MUĞLA

0.4%

BURSA

15.8%

73.3%

7.9%



MALL OF İSTANBUL

DEEPO OUTLET CENTER 
ANTALYA

ANKAMALL - CROWNE 
PLAZA HOTEL ANKARA

TORUN CENTER İSTANBUL

NISHİSTANBUL

KORUPARK SHOPPING MALL 
BURSA

TORUN TOWER İSTANBUL

KORUPARK RESIDENCES 
BURSA

TORIUM SHOPPING MALL 
İSTANBUL

MALL OF ANTALYA

ZAFER PLAZA BURSA

BULVAR SAMSUN SHOPPING 
MALL SAMSUN NETSEL MARINA MUĞLA

5. LEVENT PROJECT  
İSTANBUL
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MALL OF İSTANBUL

WORLDWIDE: 
“THE BEST-OF-THE-BEST” 

Further information on the project can be found on page 80

Let’s begin this tour at Mall of İstanbul, a 
significant achievement recognized worldwide. 
Mall of İstanbul was named "the Best-of-the-
Best" at the VIVA Best-of-the-Best 2017 Awards, 
where the International Council of Shopping 
Centers evaluates the world’s best shopping malls.

LOCATION
İSTANBUL
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OPERATIONAL DATE

2014
GROSS LEASABLE AREA (SHOPPING MALL)

154,479 M2

7
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TORUN CENTER 

"RESIDENTIAL, BUSINESS AND 
SOCIAL LIFE AT THE HEART OF 
THE CITY"
Torun Center is home to İstanbul’s most modern 
public square, along with office and residential 
towers, on Büyükdere Avenue in Mecidiyeköy, 
the central spot for business and life in 
İstanbul. Featuring a landscape and functional 
areas that include cafes, restaurants, a theater 
and cinemas, Torun Center offers the city a new 
breathing space.

Further information on the project can be found on page 82

LOCATION
İSTANBUL
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OPERATIONAL DATE

2016
TOTAL SPACE

175,458 M2
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A PROJECT THAT REDEFINES THE 
STANDARDS OF A PROFESSIONAL 
BUSINESS SPACE

TORUN TOWER

Torun Tower, an A+ office project, is located 
on Büyükdere Avenue, İstanbul’s hotspot for 
trade. It offers a modern, highly efficient 
workplace. Built on the understanding of 
sustainability, Torun Tower received LEED 
certification in 2014, and was selected the 
“Best Office” project at the Sign of the City 
Awards in 2015.

Further information on the project can be found on page 84

LOCATION
İSTANBUL
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OPERATIONAL DATE

2014
GROSS LEASABLE AREA

66,000 M2
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TORIUM SHOPPING MALL

A UNIQUE EXPERIENCE OF 
SHOPPING AND FUN

Further information on the project can be found on page 86

Located between Beylikdüzü and Avcılar, 
this İstanbul district is gaining attention. 
Set on the E-5 Motorway, Torium is 
Turkey’s first shopping mall featuring 
an allocated 30% of leasable area to 
entertainment. Offering a shopping and 
entertainment experience in a single spot, 
Torium is home to SnowPark, Turkey’s first 
and only snow entertainment center.

LOCATION
İSTANBUL
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OPERATIONAL DATE

2010
GROSS LEASABLE AREA

88,503 M2
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5. LEVENT PROJECT

Further information on the project can be found on page 88

A concept steeped in nature, covering a landscape of 
110 thousand m2 and coupled with abundant social 
facilities, is the defining characteristic of 5. Levent, 
which offers more than just “walls” for investors. This 
award-winning project brings together residents 
seeking to live at the heart of İstanbul in a holiday 
atmosphere that lasts throughout the seasons.

LOCATION
İSTANBUL

İSTANBUL’S YOUNGEST, MOST 
MODERN AND GREENEST 
DISTRICT 
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OPERATIONAL DATE

2017
LAND AREA

515,977 M2
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KORUPARK SHOPPING MALL

A CENTER OF HAPPINESS 
ADDING EVEN MORE COLOR TO 
GREEN BURSA
Introducing a range of domestic and foreign brands to 
Bursa residents, Korupark has redefined shopping in the 
city from its day of inception, as Bursa’s preferred retail 
and lifestyle center. Featuring an innovative and dynamic 
structure, Korupark has succeeded in serving as the 
“happiness center” of the city for more than a decade.

Further information on the project can be found on page 90

LOCATION
BURSA
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OPERATIONAL DATE

2007
GROSS LEASABLE AREA

71,267 M2
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KORUPARK RESIDENCES

BURSA’S EXEMPLARY 
LIFESTYLE PROJECT

Further information on the project can be found on page 92

Korupark Residences, Bursa’s first 
project offering a modern housing 
estate concept, creates added value 
for both investors and the city, offering 
social facilities alongside a safe and 
comfortable lifestyle.

LOCATION
BURSA
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DATE OF COMPLETION

2012
GROSS SELLABLE AREA

226,053 M2 
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A SYMBOL THAT BRINGS 
THE FIRSTS TO BURSA

ZAFER PLAZA

Further information on the project can be found on page 94

Bursa’s first shopping mall built to 
world-class standards and scale, 
Zafer Plaza moved beyond serving 
solely as a shopping mall to evolve 
as a hallmark of the city and an 
indispensable part of daily life.

LOCATION
BURSA
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OPERATIONAL DATE

1999
GROSS LEASABLE AREA

23,449 M2
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THE MEDITERRANEAN’S 
LARGEST AND MOST INNOVATIVE 
OUTLET CENTER 

DEEPO OUTLET CENTER

Further information on the project can be found on page 96

Located within a few kilometers of the airport in 
Antalya - Turkey’s tourism capital and fifth largest 
city - Deepo Outlet is the favorite destination for 
local and foreign visitors. Deepo Outlet offers 
prestigious brands and outlet stores, as well as 
dining and entertainment areas. In addition,  
Deepo Outlet, the most preferred outlet center in the 
Mediterranean, provides flight information boards 
and check-in services for passengers. 

LOCATION
ANTALYA
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OPERATIONAL DATE

2004
GROSS LEASABLE AREA

21,055 M2
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A DISTINCTIVE CONCEPT THAT 
ADDS FURTHER VALUE TO 
ANTALYA

MALL OF ANTALYA

Further information on the project can be found on page 98

With Mall of Antalya, Torunlar REIC 
pioneers a new era in retail in Turkey. 
Tracking the retail models first launched in 
Italy, France and USA, Mall of Antalya is 
adjacent to Deepo Outlet. The two centers 
create a dynamic common synergy, with Mall 
of Antalya featuring the current season’s 
products. 

LOCATION
ANTALYA
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OPERATIONAL DATE

2017
GROSS LEASABLE AREA

43,703 M2
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THE CAPITAL’S LEADING STAR 
OF SHOPPING

ANKAMALL - CROWNE PLAZA HOTEL

Further information on the project can be found on page 100

A colorful shopping and lifestyle center 
in the heart of Ankara, featuring a 
range of stores, campaigns, and arts 
and cultural events... 

LOCATION
ANKARA
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OPERATIONAL DATE

1999
GROSS LEASABLE AREA

91,404 M2
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BULVAR SAMSUN SHOPPING MALL

AN INSPIRING STORY  
OF TRANSFORMATION

Further information on the project can be found on page 102

How to create a center of attraction 
from a former tobacco factory, not only 
for Samsun but for the entire region? 
Just visit Bulvar Shopping Mall in 
Samsun for the answer. At Bulvar 
Shopping Mall, a distinctive narrative 
of transformation has taken place. 

LOCATION
SAMSUN
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OPERATIONAL DATE

2012
GROSS LEASABLE AREA

18,601 M2
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THE MOST PRESTIGIOUS MARINA 
IN THE MEDITERRANEAN, WHERE 
VIBRANT HUES OF BLUE AND 
GREEN ARE WOVEN TOGETHER

NETSEL MARINA

Further information on the project can be found on page 104

Adjacent to the fragrant pine forest in Marmaris, 
Netsel Marina offers moments of delight and pleasure 
to domestic and foreign visitors alike. Set like a 
unique pearl in the heart of Marmaris Bay, Netsel 
Marina is surrounded by a natural lake reflecting 
incredible shades of turquoise.

LOCATION
MUĞLA



Torunlar REIC Annual Report 2018

31

OPERATIONAL DATE

1989
GROSS LEASABLE AREA

6,189 M2
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NISHİSTANBUL

LOCATION AND FUNCTIONALITY 
BRING THIS MIXED-USE PROJECT 
BEYOND THE ORDINARY 
Nishİstanbul is composed of three residential 
blocks, one office block and commercial areas, and 
stands out as a modern project that adds value to 
its location in Yenibosna, one of İstanbul’s most 
dynamic districts.

Further information on the project can be found on page 106

LOCATION
İSTANBUL
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OPERATIONAL DATE

2010
NUMBER OF RESIDENTIAL UNITS

585
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Trade Name    : Torunlar Gayrimenkul Yatırım Ortaklığı A.Ş. (Torunlar REIC) 

Date of Establishment   :  20.09.1996

Date of REIC Status   :  21.01.2008

Issued Capital    :  TRY 1,000,000,000

Registered Capital Ceiling   :  TRY 1,000,000,000

IPO Date and Price   :  21.10.2010/TRY 1.64

Head Office    :  İstanbul

İstanbul Trade Registry No.  :  353242

Trade Registry Office   : İstanbul

Tax Office    :  Anadolu Kurumlar VD - 9460032851

Stock Exchange    :  Borsa İstanbul A.Ş.

The Capital Market instrument is  :  Collective Products Market

Traded at and Indices it is Included in : BIST Real Estate Investment Company Index (XGMYO)/BIST 

       Finance BIST All/BIST All-100

Company Ticker    : TRGYO

Bloomberg Ticker   :  TRGYO:TI

Reuters Ticker    :  TRGYO.IS

Head Office Address   :  Kavacık, Rüzgarlıbahçe Mah. Özalp Çıkmazı No: 4 Beykoz 34805 İstanbul

Website     :  www.torunlargyo.com.tr

E-mail     : info@torunlargyo.com.tr

KEP (Registered E-mail)   :  torunlargyo@hs01.kep.tr

Central Registration System  :  0946003285100019

This Annual Report (“Report”) Has Been Prepared in Accordance with Article 516 of the Turkish Commercial Code, the 
Provisions of the Ministry of Customs and Trade’s “Regulation on the Determination of the Minimum Content of Company 
Annual Reports” Published in the Official Gazette Dated August 28, 2012 and Numbered 28395, Article 8 of the Capital 
Markets Board’s Communiqué (Serial: Ii-14.1) on the “Principles of Financial Reporting in Capital Markets,” The Applicable 
Articles of the Corporate Governance Communiqué (Serial: Ii-17.1) and Article 39 of the Capital Markets Board Communiqué 
(Serial: Iii-48.1) on the “Principles Regarding Real Estate Investment Companies” (Serial: Ii-17.1), in Order to Assess the 
Company’s Operational Activities Between January 1, 2018 and December 31, 2018 and to Provide Information to Investors.

COMPANY PROFILE
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The loss of momentum in global 
economic activity in Q2 2018 
lingered, due to a simultaneous 
slowdown in the growth of 
developing and developed 
countries in Q3. Despite a 
positive growth performance 
observed in the US and UK, a 
downward trend in growth for 
the Eurozone, in particular, was 
evident. Rising protectionism 
added to the uncertainty around 
global economic policies, and 
this is anticipated to inhibit 
the outlook for global growth 
in the upcoming period. Prices 
for industrial metals continued 
to decline in Q4 as the US 
introduced international trade 
restrictions, which resulted 
in expectations for lower 
demand. In both developed 
and developing countries, the 
WPI inflation fell in Q4 - a direct 
implication of falling prices for 
crude oil. 

The incremental monetary 
tightening adopted by the central 
banks in developed nations 
continued in the fourth quarter 
of 2018. In the same period, 
the downward trend in global 
growth aligned with mounting 
uncertainties around the global 
economy. Both paved the way 
for projections that the ongoing 
policy normalization in developed 
countries could lose pace, in turn 
triggering a regression in returns 
on bonds. In parallel with stronger 
anticipation of a slowdown in 
the normalization of the US 
Federal Reserve’s (the Fed) 
monetary policy, some recovery 
has been observed in the flow 
of portfolios towards developing 
countries since September. The 
risk premiums of developing 
countries follow a fluctuating 
course due to - among other 
factors - geopolitical risks. 
However, these premiums have 
started to fall in parallel with 
rising global appetite since 
January.

Meanwhile, we worked hard 
to maximize our financial and 
operational performance in 
line with our 2018 budget and 
strategic goals. 

Important operations and 
financial results of our Company 
are presented below:

The performance of the 5. Levent 
project, where sales started in 
April 2015, remains strong, in 
line with our expectations. Until 
December 2018, preliminary sales 
contracts were signed for 1,653 
housing units out of a total of 
2,061 units in the first and second 
phases, resulting in a preliminary 
sales revenue of TRY 1,510 million. 
In addition, 1,615 units in the  
5. Levent project were delivered 
from the last quarter of 2017 to 
December 2018, generating sales 
revenue of TRY 1,456 million. 

OVERVIEW OF 2018

We brought our financial and operational results to their 
highest level and continued our work, in line with our 
established financial and strategic objectives. We increased 
our total assets by 8% to TRY 12,274 million as of December 
31, 2018, from TRY 11,336 million on December 31, 2017.
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In January, our Company 
purchased 12,131 m2 of land 
adjacent to Mall of İstanbul for 
TRY 75 million + VAT. In March, 
the Company also purchased, 
for TRY 109,000, 100% of the 
shares of TRN Otel İşletmeciliği 
ve Yatırımları A.Ş. to run the 
hotels, the construction of which 
are ongoing and which will be 
included in our portfolio. 

In 2018, our company spent  
TRY 510 million in investment. 
TRY 438 million of this amount 
was spent for 5. Levent and  
TRY 40 million for Mall of 
İstanbul’s Second Phase.

In 2018, total sales revenue 
amounted to TRY 1,954 million, 
most of which was from rental 
income. In the same period, 
67% of the sales revenue stood 
for residential units and 27% 
for rentals. Rental income from 
shopping malls and offices 
increased by 28% year-over-year. 

Our total assets, which stood 
at TRY 11,336 million as 
of 31.12.2017 grew by 8%, 
reaching TRY 12,274 million 
as of 31.12.2018. The ratio of 
shareholders’ equity to total 
assets is 62%, while the ratio of 
foreign funds to total assets is 
around 38%. Of the Company’s 
total assets, 96% is comprised 
of investment properties, 
investments in associates and 
inventories, while 2% is comprised 
of cash and cash equivalents.

Due to the sharp depreciation of 
the Turkish lira, TRY 1,106 million 
was recorded as a non-operating 
expense (foreign exchange loss) 
from the Company’s net cash 
position of TRY 3,501 million. 

After the year-end re-utilization 
of investment properties, an 
appreciation of TRY 1,695 million 
was attained from the properties 
in our portfolio.

In conclusion, the Company 
closed 2018 with TRY 1,287 
million profit.

Furthermore, EBITDA (earnings 
before interest, taxes, 
depreciation, and amortization), 
which is a key indicator of 
the Company’s operational 
performance, was TRY 930 million, 
and the EBITDA margin stood at 
47.6%. 

We again express our profound 
gratitude to our shareholders, 
customers, suppliers, business 
partners, directors and 
employees.

Kind regards,

TORUNLAR REIC
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REAL ESTATE ENERGY FOOD

Torunlar REIC
• Second largest REIC in terms 

of portfolio value and market 
capitalization among the listed 
REICs on BIST in Turkey

• Best and most diversified 
portfolio

• Over 572 thousand m² of gross 
leasable area

Başkent Natural Gas
• 1.8 million of total customers
• 3.8 billion m³ natural gas sales 

and distribution volume
• 11,800 km of grid length

Torunlar Food
• A leading company in 

processing oilseeds, soybeans, 
sunflowers, rice and sugar beets 

• In competition with leading 
multinationals such as Cargill, 
Bunge and Cofco

TOTAL 
ASSETS

18,497
TRY MILLION

TOTAL SHAREHOLDERS’ 
EQUITY

9,002
TRY MILLION

TOTAL 
SALES

6,304 
TRY MILLION

TOTAL NUMBER 
OF EMPLOYEES

1,007 
CITIES OF 

OPERATION

12  

FOOD
15.2%

FOOD
23.5%

ENERGY
18.5%

ENERGY
45.5%

REAL ESTATE
66.4%

REAL ESTATE
31.0%

TOTAL ASSETS TOTAL SALES

2018

TORUNLAR GROUP
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Operating in the Turkish real 
estate market since 1977, 
Torunlar Group established Toray 
Construction - the predecessor of 
Torunlar REIC - in 1996 to further 
expand real estate operations 
with retail, residential, office, and 
hotel development projects. The 
Company became a real estate 
investment company in 2008. 
The purpose of the Company 
is to invest in retail, residential, 
entertainment, and office 
property development projects.

Torunlar REIC is engaged in all 
stages of project development 
and management – including 
sourcing, land acquisition, project 
finance, obtaining permissions, 
project design, construction 
audits and inspections – in 
addition to sales and marketing. 
In addition to these basic 
services, the Company also 
carries out other operations after 
the completion of the projects, 
such as tenant mix and lease 
management, lease structuring, 
renewals and expansion. 
Additionally, it undertakes efforts 

to increase traffic to shopping 
malls, and maximize occupancy 
rates and rental income. 

Its extensive knowledge and 
experience in the Turkish real 
estate sector provides Torunlar 
REIC with a clear view on urban 
development, demographic 
trends, and customer profiles 
in target markets, and with 
a business network, which 
enables the Company to find 
and buy inexpensive parcels 
of land for development. 
Strong relationships with local 
municipalities, contractors, sellers 
and other sector participants 
provide the Company access 
to available land and some 
development opportunities that 
international land developers 
cannot access. Additionally, 
Torunlar REIC has an extensive 
network of local and international 
retail brands to create its tenant 
mix at the shopping malls, 
and a wide customer base for 
housing development projects. 
Capitalizing on the good 
reputation of the Torun Family in 

the Turkish market, Torunlar REIC 
builds on the quality and trust 
those tenants, customers and 
other players in the Turkish real 
estate sector associate with the 
Torunlar name.

Torunlar REIC’s key focus 
areas include developing 
and constructing large, 
comprehensive, and best-in-
class shopping malls in major 
cities like İstanbul, Bursa, Antalya, 
Samsun and Ankara, and asset 
management.

As of December 31, 2018,  
96% of the Company’s total 
consolidated assets of  
TRY 12,274 million consisted of 
mixed use development projects 
with high growth potential, such 
as residences, offices and hotels, 
and also lands for development 
and real estate projects.

Boasting extensive experience and knowledge of the Turkish 
real estate sector, Torunlar REIC is engaged in all stages of 
project development and management – including sourcing, 
land acquisition, project finance, obtaining permissions, 
project design, construction audits and inspections – in 
addition to sales and marketing.

TORUNLAR REIC IN BRIEF
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12,402
TRY Million

Total 
Portfolio Value

12,274
TRY Million

 Consolidated Total 
Assets

20%
Increase in the Total 

Portfolio Value
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To make Torunlar REIC a highly preferred brand both globally 
and nationally scales in the areas of investment, development and 
management of mixed-use residential and business centers that 
consist of shopping malls, entertainment venues, housing units, 
offices, hotels, logistics centers, commercial and industrial buildings; 
to undertake investments with high returns; and to ensure steady 
growth by giving first priority to transparency and reliability.

 › To be the most trustworthy brand in developing living 
spaces such as homes, offices, hotels and shopping malls, 
and to become the name synonymous with the concept 
of high-quality living, 

 › To develop and build residential projects, shopping malls, 
hotels, entertainment and business centers that meet 
the needs and expectations of our customers to the 
maximum extent possible while maximizing the benefits 
for them, 

 › To attract and retain the best talent by offering 
employees a rewarding and satisfying work environment.

MISSION

VISION
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The Company aims to secure competitive advantage by pursuing the 

strategies outlined below:

•  Developing retail-based mixed-use projects and retaining a focus on 

shopping malls,

•  Engaging in active and dynamic management of shopping malls,

•  Following developments in the real estate sector, 

•  Capitalizing on opportunities in areas and property types that offer high 

growth and development potential,

• Developing crisis management, and turning crises into opportunities,

•  Playing a pioneering role in the sector, and developing exemplary projects,

•  Employing the latest technology in the real estate and other sectors in 

new projects so as to create spaces that make life easier, 

•  Moving the sector forward through the use of technology,

• Combining international consultancy and know-how with our local 

experience to build the projects of the future,

•  Keeping a close eye on opportunities that add value to provide the 

highest returns to our shareholders,

•  Becoming a trusted real estate investment company preferred by 

investors by strengthening its position in the sector and distributing the 

highest dividends.

Through strategic decision-making, the Board of Directors of Torunlar 

REIC aims to ensure optimal balance between risk, growth and income by 

adopting a rational and cautious approach to risk management; manages 

and represents the Company; and looks out for long-term corporate 

interests. The Board of Directors sets the strategic goals of Torunlar REIC, 

determines the need for personnel and financial resources, and oversees 

management performance.

The Board of Directors of Torunlar REIC holds four strategic meetings each 

year to evaluate the Company’s financial performance in comparison to the 

budget on a quarterly basis, oversees matters and developments of strategic 

importance, devises new strategies and makes investment decisions by 

taking into consideration management’s recommendations.

STRATEGIC TARGETS
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Zafer Plaza wins four awards at 
the Hermes Creative Awards 
Held annually since 2013, the 
globally renowned Hermes 
Creative Awards evaluates 
numerous projects and activities 
undertaken by international media 
groups, corporate marketing and 
communication departments, 
advertising agencies, public 
relations firms and digital 
designers, and recognizes the 
most successful campaigns.

“Two Heads Are Better Than 
One,” a project undertaken by 
Zafer Plaza, was recognized with 
Platinum awards in the ‘Corporate 
Social Responsibility and 
"Projects Adding Value to Society" 
categories. The “Zafer Street” 
and “Acoustic Bazaar” projects 
received Gold awards in the 
"Event Marketing" and "Exclusive 
Event" categories.

Zafer Plaza continues to manifest 
its strong commitment to 
innovation and transformation 
through social responsibility 
activities and projects in the field 
of exclusive events.

A Bronze Stevie award to Zafer 
Plaza for the ‘Best PR’
Stevie Awards are among the 
most acclaimed business awards 
worldwide, with categories 
that publicly recognize 
global organizations and 
working professionals for their 
achievements and positive 
contributions.

Zafer Plaza won the Bronze award 
in the ‘Best PR’ category for the 
“Zafer Street” project. 

AWARDS AND CERTIFICATIONS

Zafer Plaza returned from the Hermes Creative Awards, 
renowned as one of the most prestigious honors in 
international PR, with two Gold Awards and two 
Platinum Awards - another significant achievement.
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“Kitapcan Velisi/Bibliophile 
Parent” of Darüşşafaka’s Class 
9/B - 9/C: Torunlar REIC
Torunlar REIC continued to 
support the “Kitapcan Velisi 
(Bibliophile Parent)” project that 
was developed by the Books to 
Everyone Foundation in order to 
foster a love of reading among 
the students of Darüşşafaka, and 
help them develop the habits of 
going to a bookstore, reviewing 
a book, choosing, buying and 
reading a book. Within the scope 
of the Torunlar REIC project, 
‘Kitapcan Velisi (Bibliophile 
Parent)’, support was provided 
for the Darüşşafaka Class 9/B and 
Class 9/C students to purchase 
books. Students may select their 
own books and buy them with 
the Kitapcan card, loaded with 
TRY 50 each month. With the 
help of this support, children had 
the opportunity to own their own 
personal library at a young age.

CORPORATE SOCIAL RESPONSIBILITY PROJECTS

In 2018, Torunlar REIC continued to support "Kitapcan 
Velisi (Bibliophile Parent),” a project developed by the 
Books to Everyone Foundation.
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01   

Aziz Torun
Chairman and CEO 
Born in Kemah, Erzincan in 1950. Mr. 
Torun graduated from the Faculty 
of Economics at İstanbul University 
in 1975. He worked as an inspector 
at the Ministry of Labor and Social 
Security between 1976 and 1982. He 
then decided to work in the private 
sector and quit his job in 1982. 
Together with his brother Mehmet 
Torun, he laid the foundations of the 
Torunlar Group of Companies. He 
currently serves as Chairman and 
Member of the Board of Directors of 
several subsidiaries of the Torunlar 
Group. He also served as Chairman 
of the Board of Directors at GYODER 
(The Association of Real Estate and 
Real Estate Investment Companies) 
between 2013 and 2017.

02   

Mehmet Torun
Vice Chairman 
Born in Ağaçsaray, near Kemah in 
Erzincan in 1953. He started his 
business career at an early age. He is 
currently the Chairman of the Board 
of Directors of Torunlar Food Industry 
and Trade Inc., Torunlar Energy 
Industry and Trade Inc. and Başkent 
Natural Gas Distribution REIC; all of 
which are within the Torunlar Group. 
He is the Vice Chairman of the Board 
of Directors of Kütahya Sugar Factory 
Inc., Torun Construction Industry and 
Trade Inc., Vice Chairman of the Board 
of Directors of Nokta Construction 
Inc. and member of the Board of 
Directors of Netsel Tourism Inc. He is 
also a founding partner of Torunlar 
Real Estate Investment Company.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS
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03   

Prof. Dr. Ali Alp
Member of the Board of Directors 
Born in Rize in 1964. In 1987, he 
graduated from the department 
of Business Administration, Social 
Sciences Faculty of Ankara University. 
He obtained an MA from Marmara 
University in 1991 and a PhD in 
Business Administration from Ankara 
University in 1995. Having started his 
career as an assistant specialist at 
the Undersecretariat of the Treasury 
in 1987, Mr. Alp then worked as a 
specialist at the Capital Markets 
Board between 1988 and 1996. After 
1996, he served as an undersecretary 
to the Minister of State in charge 
of economy; vice president at the 
General Directorate of Public Housing 
(TOKİ); a deputy undersecretary at 
the Ministry of Culture and Tourism; 
Executive Committee Member at the 
World Tourism Organization; Chairman 
of Emlak REIC; Board Member at 
TRT; and Council Member at the 
Turkish Accounting Standards Council. 
Mr. Alp worked as faculty member 
at Maastricht Faculty of Business 
Administration, and University of Illinois 
at Urbana- Champaign. He is currently 
a faculty member in the Department 
of Business Administration, at 
Economy and Technology University 
founded by the Union of Chambers 
and Commodities of Turkey, and gives 
lectures on finance at Bilkent University 
and Vienna University of Economics 
and Business as a visiting scholar. 
Furthermore, he is Board Member at 
Yeni Gimat REIC, Başkent Natural Gas 
Distribution REIC, and Özak REIC.

04   

Mahmut Karabıyık
Member of the Board of Directors  
Born in Afyon – Sincanlı in 1961. 
Graduated from İstanbul University’s 
Faculty of Law in 1982. Since 
completing his lawyer internship 
in 1983, he has been working as a 
lawyer particularly in the areas of 
Commercial Law, Corporate Law, 
Banking and Capital Markets Law and 
Enforcement-Bankruptcy Law. Mr. 
Karabıyık is a member of the Board 
of Directors of Yeni Gimat REIC and 
Başkent Natural Gas Distribution REIC. 

05   

Ramadan Kumova
Independent Member of the Board of 
Directors 
Born in İstanbul, in 1968. Ramadan 
Kumova graduated from the Civil 
Engineering Department, Boğaziçi 
University in 1991 and from Harvard 
Business School in 2011. He began 
his career at Enka, where he was 
involved with the Behkme Dam 
project, later working on motorway 
projects; he began serving in 
international markets as of 1993. In 
1998, Mr. Kumova provided market 
research and concept development 
consultancy services to leading 
firms in the real estate sector. He 
then partnered with US-based 
companies for extending mortgage 
loans in Turkey. Between 2006 and 
2010, he served as CEO of a real 
estate development and investment 
company and, in 2010, became a co-
founder of FerYapı, implementing the 
sector’s most pioneering projects. Mr. 
Kumova has served as Board Member 
at the Turkish Basketball Federation, 
GYODER and İnder, and as Founding 
Member of the Board of the Turkish 
Council of Shopping Centers (AYD). 
He currently serves as the Vice 
Chairman of Konutder.

06   

Kenan Yavuz
Independent Member of the Board of 
Directors  
Born in Bayburt, in 1959. Kenan 
Yavuz graduated from the Muğla 
Business Administration Program in 
1981. He began his career in 1985 
at Koç Holding, where he served in 
various executive roles until 2004. 
In March 2004, he was appointed 
to the Board of Petkim Petrokimya 
Holding and, in May of the same 
year, he was appointed CEO of 
Petkim, finalizing the privatization 
of Petkim Petrokimya Holding in 

2008. He continued to serve as CEO 
after the Holding was acquired by 
SOCAR, a state project of Azerbaijan. 
In 2009, Mr. Yavuz assumed the 
role of Chairman/CEO of SOCAR 
Türkiye Enerji AŞ. Under the umbrella 
of SOCAR Türkiye Enerji A.Ş., he 
established the STAR Refinery, 
Petlim Limancılık Ticaret, SOCAR 
Power Enerji Yatırımları and various 
distribution companies. In September 
2016, he established Yavuz Yönetim 
Çözümleri Ltd. Mr. Yavuz is a member 
of TÜSİAD, DEİK and MÜSİAD, a Board 
Member for the URAK International 
Competition Research Association, 
and a Baksi Museum Sponsor, as well 
as a Member of the Board of Trustees 
for the Baksi Museum. 

07   

İbrahim Kemal Tosun
Independent Member of the Board of 
Directors 
Born in Ankara, in 1978. İbrahim 
Kemal Tosun graduated from Bilgi 
University’s International Relations 
Department, Economic and 
Administrative Sciences Faculty, 
with high honors. He began his 
professional life in 1998 in the jewelry 
sector and then operated F&B 
franchises. In 2008, Mr. Tosun entered 
the real estate and construction 
sector, establishing his own company 
to develop housing projects and 
provide consultation services to 
mid-size companies on project 
development, sales and marketing.
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Information related to the seven Board Members, who were elected to office for a period of one year at the 
2017 Ordinary General Assembly Meeting held on June 19, 2018, is provided below. 

Name Surname Title Independent/  
Non-independent

Assigned Date

Aziz Torun Chairman and CEO Non-independent Member
Since the establishment of 

the Company

Mehmet Torun Vice Chairman Non-independent Member 03.05.2010

Prof. Dr. Ali Alp Member Non-independent Member 08.02.2010

Mahmut Karabıyık Member Non-independent Member 21.01.2008

Ramadan Kumova Member Independent 19.06.2018

Kenan Yavuz Member Independent 19.06.2018

İbrahim Kemal Tosun Member Independent 19.06.2018

At the General Assembly, it has was decided to pay TRY 4,500 net in attendance fees to the Members of the 
Board of Directors, including Independent Members. 

Apart from the said attendance fee decided upon at the general assembly, the Company did not provide any 
premium, bonus or other such financial benefits to Board Members. The remuneration of Independent Board 
Members does not include share options or a payment plan based on the Company’s performance. During the 
year, the Company did not extend any debt, loans, collaterals etc. for Board Members. 

The Articles of Association, Articles 14 -19 outline the principles concerning the formation of the Board of 
Directors, as well as the Board’s authorities and responsibilities.

As per Article 19 of the Articles of Association, the Board of Directors must convene at least once per month, 
and may be invited to meet by the Chairman or Vice Chairman when deemed necessary for the affairs of the 
Company. The Board convened 62 times in 2018. 

BOARD OF DIRECTORS
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Board of Directors Committees
The committee members and their roles are presented in the below table.  

 Corporate Governance 
Committee

Audit 
Committee

Early Risk Detection 
Committee

Nomination 
Committee

Remuneration 
Committee

Chairman Kenan Yavuz Kenan Yavuz Ramadan Kumova Ramadan Kumova Ramadan Kumova

Member Habibe Didem Hömek Ali Alp Remzi Aydın İbrahim Kemal Tosun Ali Alp

Member Pelin Örsel Ramadan Kumova İsmail Kazanç Ali Alp Kenan Yavuz

The working principles of the committees are published on the Company web site.

Board of Directors’ Duties outside the Company
There are no rules regulating the task and duties of the members of the Board of Directors outside the 
company, and thus some members do carry out tasks and duties outside the Company as members of the Board 
of Directors at other companies. The tasks and duties of the Members of the Board of Directors outside the 
company and their duties and term of office in the company are specified in their resumes.

• Aziz Torun serves as Chairman and Board Member at various Group companies,
• Mehmet Torun serves as Chairman and Board Member at various Group companies,
• Mahmut Karabıyık is a Lawyer in private practice, and serves as Board Member at Başkent Natural Gas 

Distribution REIC and Yeni Gimat REIC,
• Prof. Dr. Ali Alp is a University Faculty Member, and serves as Board Member at Yeni Gimat REIC and Özak 

REIC,
• Ramadan Kumova is a Board Member of the Turkish Basketball Federation, GYODER and İnder, and a Founding 

Board Member of the Turkish Council of Shopping Centers (AYD). He is currently the Vice Chairman of 
Konutder.

• In September 2016, Kenan Yavuz established Yavuz Yönetim Çözümleri Ltd. He is a member of TÜSİAD, DEİK 
and MÜSİAD. He is also a Board Member of the URAK International Competition Research Association. 

• Since 2008, İbrahim Kemal Tosun has been involved in real estate and construction, as well as developing 
housing projects and providing consultation to mid-size companies on project development, sales and 
marketing.

with the company he established.

The Company and the members of the Board of Directors did not make any transaction contrary to the 
provisions of applicable legislation; and there are no administrative or legal sanctions imposed the Company and 
the members of the Board of Directors.
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Due to the fact that I am nominated, at the General Assembly Meeting of your Company, as a candidate for 
assuming the role of Independent Member, I do declare that:

•  Within the last five years, no executive employment relation that would give important duties and 
responsibilities, or no capital relation or significant commercial relation has been established between 
myself, my spouse, my second degree relatives by blood or by marriage and (i) the Company and (ii) the 
affiliates of the Company, and (iii) the juridical persons affiliated, in terms of management or capital, with the 
shareholders who have directly or indirectly 10% or more shares in the Company capital, 

•  Within the last five years, I have not worked for or have not been a member of the Board of Directors at the 
companies that provide auditing, rating and consulting services for the Company, or companies that carry out 
all or part of the activities and organization of the Company within the framework of the signed agreements,

•  Within the last five years, I have not been a partner, employee, or a member of the board of directors at any of 
the firms that provide a significant amount of products and services to the Company,

•  I have no shares in the Company capital,

•  I do have the professional training, knowledge, and experience that will help me properly carry out the tasks 
and duties I will assume as a result of being an Independent Member of the Board of Directors,

•  Neither am I currently nor will be working after being elected as a member, fulltime in public institutions and 
organizations (except working as an academician at the university),

•  I am considered a resident in Turkey according to the Income Tax Law,

•  I do have the strong ethical standards, professional standing and experience that will help me positively 
contribute to the activities of the Company, and remain neutral in conflicts of interest between the Company 
and the shareholders, and that will help me make decisions freely by taking the rights of the stakeholders into 
consideration,

•  I will be able to spare the sufficient time for the activities of the Company to an extent that will help me 
pursue the activities of the Company and fulfil the requirements of my tasks and duties.

Kenan YAVUZ

INDEPENDENCE STATEMENT



Torunlar REIC Annual Report 2018

53

Due to the fact that I am nominated, at the General Assembly Meeting of your Company, as a candidate for 
assuming the role of Independent Member, I do declare that:

•  Within the last five years, no executive employment relation that would give important duties and 
responsibilities, or no capital relation or significant commercial relation has been established between 
myself, my spouse, my second degree relatives by blood or by marriage and (i) the Company and (ii) the 
affiliates of the Company, and (iii) the juridical persons affiliated, in terms of management or capital, with the 
shareholders who have directly or indirectly 10% or more shares in the Company capital, 

•  Within the last five years, I have not worked for or have not been a member of the Board of Directors at the 
companies that provide auditing, rating and consulting services for the Company, or companies that carry out 
all or part of the activities and organization of the Company within the framework of the signed agreements,

•  Within the last five years, I have not been a partner, employee, or a member of the board of directors at any of 
the firms that provide a significant amount of products and services to the Company,

•  I have no shares in the Company capital,

•  I do have the professional training, knowledge, and experience that will help me properly carry out the tasks 
and duties I will assume as a result of being an Independent Member of the Board of Directors,

•  Neither am I currently nor will be working after being elected as a member, fulltime in public institutions and 
organizations (except working as an academician at the university),

•  I am considered a resident in Turkey according to the Income Tax Law,

•  I do have the strong ethical standards, professional standing and experience that will help me positively 
contribute to the activities of the Company, and remain neutral in conflicts of interest between the Company 
and the shareholders, and that will help me make decisions freely by taking the rights of the stakeholders into 
consideration,

•  I will be able to spare the sufficient time for the activities of the Company to an extent that will help me 
pursue the activities of the Company and fulfil the requirements of my tasks and duties.

Ramadan KUMOVA
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Due to the fact that I am nominated, at the General Assembly Meeting of your Company, as a candidate for 
assuming the role of Independent Member, I do declare that:

•  Within the last five years, no executive employment relation that would give important duties and 
responsibilities, or no capital relation or significant commercial relation has been established between 
myself, my spouse, my second degree relatives by blood or by marriage and (i) the Company and (ii) the 
affiliates of the Company, and (iii) the juridical persons affiliated, in terms of management or capital, with the 
shareholders who have directly or indirectly 10% or more shares in the Company capital, 

•  Within the last five years, I have not worked for or have not been a member of the Board of Directors at the 
companies that provide auditing, rating and consulting services for the Company, or companies that carry out 
all or part of the activities and organization of the Company within the framework of the signed agreements,

•  Within the last five years, I have not been a partner, employee, or a member of the board of directors at any of 
the firms that provide a significant amount of products and services to the Company,

•  I have no shares in the Company capital,

•  I do have the professional training, knowledge, and experience that will help me properly carry out the tasks 
and duties I will assume as a result of being an Independent Member of the Board of Directors,

•  Neither am I currently nor will be working after being elected as a member, fulltime in public institutions and 
organizations (except working as an academician at the university),

•  I am considered a resident in Turkey according to the Income Tax Law,

•  I do have the strong ethical standards, professional standing and experience that will help me positively 
contribute to the activities of the Company, and remain neutral in conflicts of interest between the Company 
and the shareholders, and that will help me make decisions freely by taking the rights of the stakeholders into 
consideration,

•  I will be able to spare the sufficient time for the activities of the Company to an extent that will help me 
pursue the activities of the Company and fulfil the requirements of my tasks and duties.

İbrahim Kemal TOSUN

INDEPENDENCE STATEMENT



Torunlar REIC Annual Report 2018

55

01   

Aziz TORUN 
Chairman and CEO 
Aziz Torun’s résumé is given on  
page 48.

02   

İsmail KAZANÇ 
Chief Financial Officer
Born in Tekirdağ, in 1972. Mr. Kazanç 
graduated from the Faculty of 
Business Administration at Bilkent 
University in 1994. He completed 
a MSc. Degree in International 
Financial Markets at the University of 
Southampton in 2001. He worked as 
an Inspector on the Board of Internal 
Auditors between 1994 and 2002, 
and as an Assistant Treasury Manager 
between 2006 and 2008 at Türkiye İş 
Bankası and as the Group Manager in 
the Treasury Department at İş Bankası 
between 2006 and 2008. He worked 
as an Assistant General Manager at 
Arab-Turkish Bank between 2008 and 
2009. Since 2009, İsmail Kazanç has 
been the CFO at Torunlar REIC. Also, 
Mr. Kazanç is a Member of the Board 
of Directors at Başkent Natural Gas 
Distribution REIC, Torunlar Energy 
Industry and Trade Inc., Torunlar 
Foo d Inc., Torunlar Natural Gas Inc. 
and TCMA (Turkish Capital Markets 
Association).

03   

İlham İnan DÜNDAR 
Chief Operating Officer of Malls
Born in Eskişehir, in 1960. Graduated 
from Anadolu University’s Faculty 
of Economics and Administrative 
Sciences – Kütahya School of 
Administrative Sciences in 1984. 
In 1985, he obtained a certificate 
of specialization in Business 
Administration from İstanbul 
University’s Institute of Business 
Economics. Worked as Team Leader 
in the Financial Affairs Department at 
Tekfen Holding Tekfen Manufacturing 
and Engineering Inc. between 
1987 - 1989; Technical Accounting 
Manager at Çukurova Holding Inc. 
between 1989 - 1991; Assistant 
General Manager at Dempa Forestry 
Products Inc. between 1991 – 1994. 
He also worked as General Manager 
at Şevket Demirel Holding Demponel 
Forestry Products Industry and Trade 
Inc. between 1994 – 1996, at Diksan 
Knitwear Industry and Trade Inc. 
between 1996 - 2000, Zafer Plaza Mall 
Management Inc. between 2000 - 
2003, and Jones Lang Lasalle Property 
Management Services between 2006 
- 2007. In 2007, Mr. Dündar became 
a General Coordinator in Torun 
Mall Investment Management Inc. 
Since 2008, he has worked as Chief 
Operating Officer of Malls at Torunlar 
REIC.

04   

Remzi AYDIN 
Chief Construction and Project 
Management Officer
Born Elazığ, in 1969. Graduated 
from Fırat University Construction 
Engineering in 1992. Started working 
as a Construction Engineer at Torunlar 
Group in 1993. Since then, he has 
worked in different positions within 
the Group. Currently, Mr. Aydın works 
as Chief Construction and Project 
Management Officer at Torunlar REIC.

EXECUTIVE BOARD
01

02

03

04
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The Company’s free-floating shares have been listed on the İstanbul Stock Exchange (Borsa İstanbul) since 
October 21, 2010. As of December 31, 2018, the capital and shareholding structure of the Company is as follows:

The Company has accepted the registered capital system in accordance with the provisions of the Capital 
Markets Law and shifted to this system with the n.1/17 permission given on January 8, 2008 by the Capital 
Markets Board.

The permission given by the Capital Markets Board for the Ceiling of Registered Capital is valid between 2013-
2017 (five years). On December 27, 2017, the issued capital was increased to TRY 1,000,000,000 from internal 
resources. 

No rights issue was made within the period.

Shareholding Structure 

NAME SURNAME/TRADE NAME GROUP TYPE SHARE AMOUNT 
(TRY)

SHARE PERCENT 
(%)

Aziz TORUN A Registered 200,327,757.21 20.0328

Aziz TORUN C Registered 173,739,712.65 17.374

Mehmet TORUN B Registered 200,312,034.13 20.0312

Mehmet TORUN C Registered 173,739,712.65 17.374

TORUNLAR GIDA SANAYİ ve TİCARET A.Ş. A Registered 141,507.71 0.0142

TORUNLAR GIDA SANAYİ ve TİCARET A.Ş. B Registered 141,507.71 0.0142

Mahmut KARABIYIK B Registered 15,723.09 0.0016

Metin KARAKOÇ C Registered 8,565.91 0.0009

Listed Shares C Registered 251,573,478.94 25.1573

TOTAL CAPITAL 1,000,000,000 100.00

The paid-up capital of the Company, is TRY 1,000,000,000 (one billion Turkish Lira), divided into 1,000,000,000 
(one billion) shares each with a par value of TRY 1 (one Turkish Lira).

CAPITAL AND SHAREHOLDING STRUCTURE
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The issued capital is composed of:

a) Group A shares with a nominal value of TRY 200,469,258.09 representing 200,469,258.09 registered shares; 
b) Group B shares with a nominal value of TRY 200,469,258.09 representing 200,469,258.09 registered shares;
c) Group C shares with a nominal value of TRY 599,061,483.82 representing 599,061,483.82 registered shares. 

Group A and B shares have the privilege to nominate in the election of the members of the board of directors, 
within the framework of the principles stipulated in Article 9 of the articles of association. Two of the members 
of the board of directors are elected from among the candidates nominated by Group A shareholders while 
two members are elected from among the candidates nominated by Group B shareholders; the other three 
members are elected from among the candidates nominated at the General Assembly. Independent members 
of the board of directors are nominated and elected in conformity with the Capital Markets Board regulations 
regarding the independent members of the board of directors.

Share repurchase
Between September 12, 2011 and March 18, 2013, our Company repurchased 273,295 of its own shares through 
the stock market under the buyback program. After the subsequent bonus issue, the number of repurchased 
shares rose to 610,033. 

PAID-UP CAPITAL

TRY 1,000,000,000
REGISTERED CAPITAL

TRY 1,000,000,000

CAPITAL STRUCTURE
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1. Opening and election of the Presiding Committee,

2. Authorization of the Presiding Committee to sign the minutes of the General Assembly,

3. Reading of and deliberations on the Board of Directors’ Report on the operations and accounts of the year 
2018, 

4. Reading of and deliberations of the Auditors’ Report and the summary statement of the independent 
external auditing firm DRT Bağımsız Denetim ve Serbest Muhasebeci Mali Müşavirlik A.Ş.,

5. Approval, approval after modification or refusal of Board of Directors’ submission of 2018 Financial 
Statements,

6. Approval, approval after modification or refusal of the proposal concerning the distribution of profit, 

7. Discharge of the Members of the Board of Directors from liability in respect of their operations in the year 
2018,

8. Re-election or replacement of the Members of the Board of Directors and assignment of their term of office,

9. Decision on the monthly honorarium of the Chairman and Members of the Board of Directors,

10. Approval of the Independent External Auditing Firm for the year 2018, elected by the Board of Directors as 
per the Capital Markets Board communiqué on Independent Audit Standards in the Capital Markets,

11. Informing the General Assembly about the donations and grants made in the year 2018, determination of 
the upper limit for the donations and grants to be made for the year 2019, determination of the upper limit 
for the donations and grants to be made for the year 2020 until the 2019 General Assembly Meeting is being 
held,

12. Informing our shareholders about transactions with related parties in 2018 within the scope of the Capital 
Markets Board legislation,

13. Informing the General Assembly on the details of securities, pledges, and mortgages granted to the third 
parties in pursuance of the Capital Markets Board resolution No. 17.1 Corporate Governance No. 12/4,

14. Informing our shareholders about whether or not the Members of the Board of Directors conduct business 
that fall within the scope of the company’s activities directly or on behalf of others, to become shareholders 
in companies performing such transactions and to conduct other transactions as set forth in Articles 395 - 
396 of the Turkish Commercial Code,

15. Proposal to grant permission to the Members of the Board of Directors to perform directly or on behalf of 
others, the transactions that fall within the scope of the company’s activities, to become shareholders in 
companies performing such transactions and to conduct other transactions as set forth in Articles 395 - 396 
of the Turkish Commercial Code,

16. The Company purchased an immovable property of 12,131.79 m2, registered on Block no. 858, Plot no. 3, in 
İkitelli-2 neighborhood, Başakşehir District, İstanbul, in the amount above the fair value determined by the 
appraisal firm. Announcing this purchase to the shareholders and providing necessary information,

17. Wishes and requests,

18. Closing.

AGENDA OF TORUNLAR REIC 2018 
ORDINARY GENERAL ASSEMBLY 
MEETING DATED APRIL 30, 2019
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Principles regarding the profit distribution of our Company are specified in Article 38th of the Articles of the 
Association.

The Profit Distribution Policy of our Company, determined within the framework of the Capital Markets Board 
regulations and the Company strategies, was presented for shareholders’ information, and it was publicly 
announced. The Profit Distribution Policy of the Company is presented below.

1- In principle, it has been decided to distribute dividends every year in accordance with the Turkish 
Commercial Code, Capital Markets Law, Articles of Association of the Company and other applicable 
regulations.

2- According to the aforementioned principles, it is desirable to distribute 50% of total distributable profit in 
dividends. However, in due consideration of the investment plans of the Company, the progress of these 
investments, the funding needs for investments, and any extraordinary or unexpected developments in the 
economy, the yearly distribution of the said 50% of the distributable profit may be postponed.

3- The profit share can be in cash or “bonus shares” upon the addition of distributable profit to the capital.

4- If the General Assembly decides to distribute dividends, the dividend shall be distributed as specified in the 
relevant decision, and at the latest, by the end of the year when the General Assembly is held. The General 
Assembly may decide on the exact date of the distribution within this interval. The profit share distribution 
can be performed in a single transaction or in installments.

5- The Board of Directors’ opinion on whether or not to distribute dividends is submitted to the approval of the 
General Assembly. The final decision belongs to the General Assembly.

6- Distributable profit is calculated in accordance with; the Turkish Code of Commerce and the Capital Markets 
Law and arrangements made/to be made according to this Law, Corporate Tax Law and arrangements 
made/to be made according to this Law, provisions of the Articles of Association and decisions taken at 
the general assembly. The profit share is distributed equally to all shares in good standing as of the date of 
distribution, irrespective of their dates of issuance and acquisition.

7- The Articles of Association does not provide for any privileges in dividend distribution.

8- The Articles of Association provides for profit share payments in advance and such advances may be 
distributed to shareholders in accordance with capital markets regulations.

9- In matters not covered here, the rules outlined in the Communique on Dividends issued on the Official 
Gazette dated 23.01.2014 and numbered 28891 apply. 

In case the Board of Directors presents a proposal to the General Assembly for not making profit distribution, 
information about the reasons for not making profit distribution, and about the method of using the profit not 
to be distributed, will be: i) given to the shareholders at the General Assembly, ii) included in the annual report, 
and iii) publicly announced.

PROFIT 
DISTRIBUTION  
POLICY
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(TRY THOUSAND)

1. Paid-up/Issued Capital 1,000,000

2. Total Legal Reserve (as per Statutory Records) 349,477

Any Privilege in Dividend Distribution if any according to the Articles of Association: None

 2018

 Capital Markets Board Statutory

3.  Period's Profit  1,287,204  (4,167)

4.  Tax Provision (-) 

5.  Net Profit (=)  1,287,204  (4,167)

6.  Previous Year Losses (-) 

7.  General Legal Reserves (-)  -  - 

8.  Net Distributable Profit (=)  1,287,204  - 

9.  Donations within the Year (+)  643 

10.  Net Distributable Profit including Donation for   
 Distribution of First Dividend 

 1,287,847 

11.  First Dividend to the Shareholders  - 

  -Cash  - 

  -Bonus Shares 

  -Total 

12.  Dividend to Privileged Shareholders  - 

13.  Other Dividend Distributed 

  Dividend to BoD Members 

  Dividend to Employees 

  Dividend to Non-Shareholders 

14.  Dividend to Holders of Usufructuary Shares 

15.  Second Dividend to Shareholders -

16.  General Legal Reserve - -

17.  Statutory Reserves 

18.  Special Reserves 

19.  EXTRAORDINARY RESERVES 1,287,204 -

20.  Other Sources to be Distributed 

2018 PROFIT DISTRIBUTION TABLE
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DIVIDEND PAYOUT RATIO TABLE
INFORMATION ABOUT THE DIVIDEND PER SHARE 

GROSS GROUP
TOTAL DIVIDEND AMOUNT 

DISTRIBUTED (TRY)
DIVIDEND PER SHARE

FOR TRY 1 NOMINAL VALUE 
AMOUNT (TRY) RATIO (%)

 0.00 0.00 0.0
NET  0.00 0.00 0.0
THE RATIO OF DISTRIBUTED DIVIDEND TO THE NET DISTRIBUTABLE PROFIT INCLUDING DONATIONS
DIVIDEND AMOUNT 
DISTRIBUTED TO 
SHAREHOLDERS 
(TRY) TOTAL DIVIDEND AMOUNT DISTRIBUTED/NET DISTRIBUTABLE PROFIT (%)
0.00 0.0
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NET ASSET VALUE (TRY BILLION)

19% INCREASE

6.0

2016 2018

7.6
6.4

2017

REVENUE (TRY MILLION)

151% INCREASE

666

1,954

780

MARKET VALUE (TRY BILLION)

2.1

2016 2018

1.5

3.3

2017

TOTAL PORTFOLIO VALUE  (TRY BILLION)

20% INCREASE

9.8

2016 2018

12.410.3

2017

BAŞLICA FİNANSAL GÖSTERGELERFINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS

Due to its long-standing experience in real estate 
development, Torunlar REIC develops new real estate 
projects in addition to maintaining sustainable 
profitability through net rental income.

2016 20182017
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EBITDA MARGIN (%)

54.4

2016 2018

47.6
62.9

2017

MALL AND OFFICE RENTAL INCOME (TRY MILLION)

28% INCREASE

352

2016 2018

526
411

2017

151%
REVENUE INCREASE

EBITDA (TRY MILLION)

89% INCREASE

362

2016 2018

930

491

2017

CAPEX (TRY MILLION)

757

2016 2018

510
718

2017
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TRY (000) 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018

Sales 773,240 628,038 665,677 780,140 1,954,283

Residence and Office 534,824 249,687 243,273 286,070 1,307,091

Mall and Office Rental 177,190 309,864 351,652 411,150 526,116

Other 61,226 68,487 70,752 82,920 121,076

EBITDA 398,358 368,872 361,922 491,066 929,765

EBITDA Margin 51.5% 58.7% 54.4% 62.9% 47.6%

Net Profit 1,057,892 953,604 1,172,384 455,108 1,287,204

      

Market Value 1,725,000 1,625,000 2,075,018 3,330,000 1,510,000

Portfolio Value 6,938,584 8,760,058 9,772,422 10,347,221 12,402,269

Net Asset Value 3,957,423 4,861,088 5,973,549 6,378,657 7,613,718

Capex 578,448 440,241 757,077 717,660 510,254

Net Debt 1,777,147 1,901,906 2,535,224 3,004,044 3,989,688

Loan to Property Value Ratio (LTV) 30.21% 25.78% 27.30% 29.38% 33.95%

Shopping Mall
50%

Ongoing 
Projects
9%

Office
23%

Land 2%
Cash 2%

Completed 
Units
14%

PORTFOLIO 
BREAKDOWN*

TRY 12.4 BILLION

FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS

* The share of Other and Marina is 0% in the portfolio breakdown.
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The financial statements of our Company have been prepared in 
compliance with the Capital Markets Board’s (CMB) Communiqué (Serial: 
II no. 14.1) on the “Principles of Financial Reporting in Capital Markets” 
and with the generally accepted accounting principles and standards 
(GAAPs). Pursuant to Article 5 of the Communiqué, the Company 
complies with Turkish Accounting Standards/Turkish Financial Reporting 
Standards (TMS/ TFRS) and relevant annexes and comments, issued by 
the Public Oversight, Accounting and Auditing Standards Authority of 
Turkey (KGK).

In keeping the accounting records and preparing the statutory financial 
statements, the Company abides by the requirements of the Turkish 
Commercial Code (“TCC”), tax legislation and the Uniform Chart of 
Accounts issued by the Ministry of Finance. The attached financial 
statements, which reflect the fair value measurements of financial assets 
and liabilities, are based on historical cost accounting and are in Turkish 
Lira. These statements are the result of corrections and classifications 
made to the statutory TMS/TFRS records based on historical cost 
accounting, in order to ensure an accurate presentation. 

The Company has prepared the financial statements for the interim 
period which ended on December 31, 2018, in conformity with the 
Turkish Accounting Standard no. 34 “Interim Period Financial Reporting” 
and announcements clarifying this Communique. Interim financial 
statements and notes have been submitted, including the compulsory 
information, in conformity with the formats recommended by the 
Capital Markets Board. Audits by the Independent Audit Company 
are performed by DRT Bağımsız Denetim ve Serbest Muhasebeci Mali 
Müşavirlik A.Ş.(Deloitte).

EVALUATION OF 2018 OPERATING RESULTS
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Financial Statements 
The following figures were taken from the Independently Audited Consolidated Financial Statements for the 
accounting period January 1-December 31, 2018 annexed to this report.

Comprehensive Income Statement (TRY 000) 2017 2018  Change

Sales 780,140 1,954,283 150.5%

Residence + Office 286,070 1,307,091 356.9%

Mall + Office Rental 411,150 526,116 28.0%

Common area revenues + Other 82,920 121,076 46.0%

Cost of Sales (271,486) (1,069,194) 293.8%

Residence + Office (150,946) (911,233) 503.7%

Mall & Office rental administrative commission expenses (27,613) (18,486) -33.1%

Common area expenses + Other (92,927) (139,475) 50.1%

Gross profit 508,654 885,089 74.0%

Gross margin 65.2% 45.3% -19.91 pp

Gross margin (Residence + Office) 47.2% 30.3% -16.95 pp

Gross margin (Mall + Office rental) 75.6% 75.6% -0.01 pp

Operating expenses (55,964) (57,920) 3.5%

General administrative expenses (44,913) (51,496) 14.7%

Marketing and sales expenses (11,051) (6,424) -41.9%

Other income (expenses) 17,621 81,218 360.9%

Fair value gains on investment property 374,050 1,694,571 353.0%

Operating profit 844,361 2,602,958 208.3%

Operating profit excluding fair value gains on investment 
property 

470,311 908,387 93.1%

Dividends received from associates 18,761 19,389 3.3%

EBIT 489,072 927,776 89.7%

EBIT margin (%) 62.7% 47.5% -15.22 pp

Depreciation 1,994 1,989 -0.3%

EBITDA 491,066 929,765 89.3%

EBITDA margin (%) 62.9% 47.6% -15.37 pp

Gain (Loss) from associates 11,400 34,975 206.8%

Net financial interest income (expense) (128,331) (250,437) 95.1%

Other net financial income (expense) 4,009 (13,301) -431.8%

Foreign exchange gain (loss) (295,092) (1,106,380) 274.9%

Profit and loss before tax 455,108 1,287,204 182.8%

Corporate tax 0 0 NM

Net profit/loss 455,108 1,287,204 182.83%

Net profit margin (%) 58.3% 65.9% 7.53 pp

EVALUATION OF 2018 OPERATING RESULTS
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Balance Sheet (TRY 000) 2017 2018 Change

Cash and cash equivalents 602,432 204,337 -66.1%

Financial assets 0 0 NM

Trade receivables + other receivables 174,273 186,549 7.0%

Inventory 1,624,998 1,261,004 -22.4%

Prepaid expenses 52,555 14,275 -72.8%

Derivative instruments 0 0 NM

Other current assets 147,226 13,852 -90.6%

CURRENT ASSETS 2,601,484 1,680,017 -35.4%

Trade receivables 33,498 10,661 -68.2%

Investments valued by equity method 315,593 348,425 10.4%

Investment properties 8,282,529 10,143,533 22.5%

Tangible fixed assets 9,416 86,740 821.2%

Intangible fixed assets 295 1,060 259.3%

Inventory 0 0 NM

Prepaid expenses 93,002 4,003 -95.7%

Derivative instruments 0 0 NM

Other non-current assets 0 0 NM

NON-CURRENT ASSETS 8,734,333 10,594,422 21.3%

TOTAL ASSETS 11,335,817 12,274,439 8.3%

Short-term financial liabilities 469,671 258,038 -45.1%

Short-term portion of long-term financial liabilities 396,372 1,685,608 325.3%

Derivative instruments 277 0 -100.0%

Trade payables 119,224 99,246 -16.8%

Other liabilities 35,278 28,772 -18.4%

Tax payables for the profit over the period 0 0 NM

Deferred income 1,176,510 97,584 -91.7%

Other short-term liabilities 18,195 187,598 931.0%

SHORT-TERM LIABILITIES 2,215,527 2,356,846 6.4%

Long-term liabilities 2,740,433 2,250,389 -17.9%

Trade payables 0 0 NM

Provision for benefits to employees 1,200 1,182 -1.5%

Other long-term liabilities 0 52,304 NM

LONG-TERM LIABILITIES 2,741,633 2,303,875 -16.0%

Paid-in capital 1,000,000 1,000,000 0.0%

Share premium 25,770 25,770 0.0%

Legal reserves 65,153 74,255 14.0%

Repurchased shares (-) -1,195 -3,338 179.3%

Profit for previous years 4,833,821 5,229,827 8.2%

Net profit/loss for the period 455,108 1,287,204 182.8%

SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY 6,378,657 7,613,718 19.4%

TOTAL LIABILITIES AND EQUITY 11,335,817 12,274,439 8.3%
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Key Financial Indicators 2017 2018 Change

Total net debt (TRY 000) 3,004,044 3,989,688 32.81%

Average loan term (years) 5 5  

Average overall interest rate* 4.99% 5.48% 0.49 pp

Leverage (financial loans as % of total assets) 31.8% 34.2% 2.35 pp

Net Debt/Equity ratio 47.1% 52.4% 5.31 pp

Net Debt/Asset ratio 26.5% 32.5% 6.00 pp

Equity/Assets ratio 56.3% 62.0% 5.76 pp

Net loan/portfolio value (LTV) 29.4% 33.9% 4.56 pp

Interest coverage ratio (times) 3.8 3.7 -2.98%

Net Debt/EBITDA (times) 6.12 4.29 -29.85%

Net debt/Market capitalization 90.2% 264.2% 174.01 pp

Number of employees 176 105 -40.34%

* Excl. Loans in TRY

EVALUATION OF 2018 OPERATING RESULTS
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TORUNLAR REIC/FINANCIAL RATIOS 31.12.2017 31.12.2018

   

CURRENT RATIO (TOTAL CURRENT ASSETS/TOTAL CURRENT LIABILITIES)

TOTAL CURRENT ASSETS 2,601,484 1,680,017

TOTAL SHORT-TERM LIABILITIES 2,215,527 2,356,846

CURRENT RATIO 117.42% 71.28%

ACID - TEST RATIO (TOTAL CURRENT ASSETS - INVENTORIES)/TOTAL SHORT-TERM LIABILITIES) 

TOTAL CURRENT ASSETS - INVENTORY 976,486 419,013

TOTAL SHORT-TERM LIABILITIES 2,215,527 2,356,846

ACID - TEST RATIO 44.07% 17.78%

CASH RATIO (CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS/TOTAL SHORT-TERM LIABILITIES)

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 602,432 204,337

TOTAL SHORT-TERM LIABILITIES 2,215,527 2,356,846

CASH RATIO 27.19% 8.67%

DEBT RATIO (TOTAL LIABILITIES/TOTAL EQUITY)   

TOTAL LIABILITIES 4,957,160 4,660,721

TOTAL EQUITY 6,378,657 7,613,718

DEBT RATIO 77.71% 61.21%

SHORT-TERM LIABILITIES/TOTAL LIABILITIES RATIO (TOTAL SHORT-TERM 
LIABILITIES/TOTAL LIABILITIES)

TOTAL SHORT-TERM LIABILITIES 2,215,527 2,356,846

TOTAL LIABILITIES 4,957,160 4,660,721

TOTAL SHORT-TERM LIABILITIES/TOTAL LIABILITIES RATIO 44.69% 50.57%

 

LEVERAGE RATIO (TOTAL LIABILITIES/TOTAL LIABILITIES AND EQUITY)   

TOTAL LIABILITIES 4,957,160 4,660,721

TOTAL LIABILITIES AND EQUITY 11,335,817 12,274,439

LEVERAGE RATIO 43.73% 37.97%

 

TOTAL EQUITY/TOTAL LIABILITIES AND EQUITY RATIO (TOTAL EQUITY/ 
TOTAL LIABILITIES AND EQUITY)

 

TOTAL EQUITY 6,378,657 7,613,718

TOTAL LIABILITIES AND EQUITY 11,335,817 12,274,439

TOTAL LIABILITIES/TOTAL LIABILITIES AND EQUITY RATIO 56.27% 62.03%
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CAPEX (01.01.2018 - 31.12.2018)/TRY 000

5. Levent 438,305

Mall of İstanbul Phase 2 39,751

Mall of Antalya Shopping Mall 12,740

Other 11,345

Paşabahçe Project 4,855

Torun Center 3,258

TOTAL 510,254

Our total assets, which stood at TRY 11,336 million as of 31.12.2017 grew 8% reaching TRY 12,274 million as 
of 31.12.2018. The ratio of shareholders’ equity to total assets is 62%, while the ratio of total liabilities to total 
assets is around 38%. 

Of the Company’s total assets, 96% is comprised of investment properties, investments in associates and 
inventories, while 2% is comprised of cash, cash equivalents and financial assets.

The Company’s cash and financial investments stand at TRY 204 million as of December 31, 2018. 

Committed preliminary sales brought in notes receivables amounting to TRY 92 million. Of this amount,  
TRY 55 million corresponds to 5. Levent, and TRY 11 million to Mall of İstanbul Phase 2 residence projects. 

Total stocks dropped by 22% by year-end, totaling TRY 1,261 million. The 5. Levent and Torun Center projects 
make up TRY 659 million and TRY 561 million of the total inventory. 

In 2018, our company spent TRY 510 million in investment. TRY 438 million of this amount was spent for  
5. Levent and TRY 40 million for Mall of İstanbul’s Second Phase. 

At Torun Center, offices started to be delivered to our customers in December 2015 and residential units started 
to be delivered in May 2016. As of December 31, 2018, 46 offices, 39 flat offices and 87 residential units were 
delivered, generating a sales revenue of TRY 574 million. The sales of offices and residences in the project 
continue.

The performance of the 5. Levent project, where sales started in April 2015, continues as expected. Until 
December 2018, preliminary sales contracts were signed for 1,653 housing units out of a total of 2,061 units in 
the first and second phases, resulting in a preliminary sales revenue of TRY 1,510 million. In addition, 1,615 units 
in the 5. Levent project were delivered from the last quarter of 2017 to December 2018, generating  
TRY 1,456 million in sales revenue. 

On the liabilities side, the main item is financial debt (bank loans and leases), totaling TRY 4,194 million, 54% of 
which are long-term borrowings. The Company’s bank loans consist of USD by 59%, Euro by 27% and TRY by 14%. 
As of December 2018, the Company’s bank loans in original currency totaled USD 451 million, EUR 199 million 
and TRY 530 million. 

As of December 31, 2018, the weighted average cost of funding - loans in Turkish Lira excluded - stood at 5.48% 
The cost of US Dollar denominated loans was 6.18%, while the cost of Euro-denominated loans was 3.93%.

The Company’s net debt stood at TRY 3,990 million. As of December 31, 2018, the net balance sheet position is 
TRY 3,501 million (Euro 194 million and USD 443 million). This figure was TRY 2,706 million (Euro 159 million and 
USD 528 million) on December 31, 2017.

EVALUATION OF 2018 OPERATING RESULTS
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Shareholders’ equity climbed by 19% YoY, reaching TRY 7,614 million, thanks to the TRY 1,695 million operating 
income generated by the rise in the value of investment properties.

On the income statement side, sales rose by 151% year-over-year reaching TRY 1,954 million. In the same period, 
67% of the sales revenue stood for residential units and 27% for rentals. Rental income from shopping malls and 
offices increased 28% year-over-year. 

Sharp increases in exchange rates are gradually reflected in rents denominated in a foreign currency.

In 2018, retail turnover at the shopping malls in our portfolio went up by 20% on a like-for-like basis. 

The Company operated with a gross margin of 45% in 2018, compared to a gross margin of 65% in 2017. The 
average gross profit margin in the sale of residential units and offices stands at 30% and at 76% for office and 
shopping mall rental income in 2018. 

The Company’s operating expenses (marketing and sales expenses) rose 4% year-over-year to TRY 58 million. 

The Company’s dividends received from associates for the fiscal year 2017 amounted to TRY 2.3 million from 
Netsel Marina and 17.1 million from Yeni Gimat REIC, both subsidiaries of the Company. 

EBITDA (earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation, and amortization), which is a key indicator of the 
Company’s operational performance, was TRY 930 million, and the EBITDA margin stood at 47.6%. 

Due to the sharp depreciation of the Turkish Lira, TRY 1,106 million was recorded as non-operating expense 
(foreign exchange loss) from the Company’s net cash position of TRY 3,501 million.

As a consequence, the Company closed the year 2018 with a net profit of TRY 1,287 million. 

REPAYMENT SCHEDULE FOR FINANCIAL LOANS (TRY MILLION)
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The table represents the outstanding loan principal balances as of 2018. 
The Company has TRY 204 million of cash and cash deposits. 
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CAPEX Projection (TRY Million)

INVESTMENT
Total 

Budget
Actual 

Spent to Date 2019 2020 2021 2022 2023

MOI 2nd Phase Hotel, 
Residence and Convention 
Center Project 328.4 124.6 74.7 129.1    

5. Levent Phases 1+2 1,672.0 1,494.8 171.5 5.8    

5. Levent Phase 3 400.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 120.0 150.0 130.0

Paşabahçe Project 711.6 25.0 28.4 32.9 220.5 243.9 160.9

Mall of Antalya - Hotel 39.5 0.0 0.0 39.5    

Karaköy - Hotel 46.1 0.0 0.0 46.1

TOTAL 3,197.6 1,644.4 274.5 253.3 340.5 393.9 290.9

LONG-TERM SALES FORECAST (TRY MILLION) Sales Residence-Office Rental Other
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LONG-TERM EBITDA FORECAST (TRY MILLION)

2018 2019F 2020F 2021F 2022F 2023F

930 708
948

1,208

2,215
2,376

Information on Stock Performance 
The Company’s free-floating shares have been listed on the İstanbul Stock Exchange (Borsa İstanbul) since 
October 21, 2010. As of December 31, 2018, the closing price of REIC shares in the closing session of BIST was 
TRY 1.51.

According to our Company’s consolidated financial statement dated December 31, 2018, total assets amounted 
to TRY 12,274 million, total equity (net asset) stood at TRY 7,614 million, and the equity value (net asset) per 
share was TRY 7.61 (our Company has 1,000,000,000 shares). 

31.12.2017 31.12.2018 Change

BIST 100 (XU 100) 115,333 91,270 -20.86%

BIST REIC (XGMYO) 44,138 28,491 -35.45%

TRGYO 3.33 1.51 -54.65%

As of December 31, 2018, the BIST Real Estate Investment Trusts Index (XGMYO) stood at 28,491 points while 
the BIST 100 Index stood at 91,270 points. When compared to same period of previous year, the BIST National 
100 Index dropped by 20.86% (in Turkish Lira), and Torunlar REIC shares lost value by 54.65% while the REIC 
Index fell by 35.45%.
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STOCK PERFORMANCE BENCHMARK

ISYGYO EKGYO XGMYO (BIST REIC INDEX) TRGYO (TORUNLAR REIC) SNGYO BIST100 (BIST100 NATIONAL INDEX)
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(TRY 000)

 31.12.2017  31.12.2018  

REAL ESTATE, REAL ESTATE PROJECTS, 
(REAL ESTATE) RIGHTS

Appraisal
 Value

Total Real Estate 
Portfolio Value 

Share %
Appraisal 

Value

Total Real Estate 
Portfolio Value 

Share % Change

Landbank 153,347 1.6% 200,420 1.6% 30.7%

İstanbul Eyüpsultan Land (1,035 m²)* 22,107 0.2% 5,280 0.0% -76.1%

İstanbul, Başakşehir, Kayabaşı Land (60,833.20 m²) 53,230 0.5% 64,785 0.5% 21.7%

Mall of İstanbul Project Phase 3 (12,131.79 m2)** 0 0.0% 68,120 0.6% NM

Antalya Kepez Land Plots - Antalya 78,010 0.8% 62,235 0.5% -20.2%

Buildings 8,236,117 84.5% 10,517,928 86.2% 27.7%

Zafer Plaza Shopping Mall - Bursa (72.26% share) 291,600 3.0% 352,400 2.9% 20.9%

Korupark Shopping Mall - Bursa 1,293,000 13.3% 1,540,000 12.6% 19.1%

Torium Shopping Mall - İstanbul 465,200 4.8% 490,000 4.0% 5.3%

Deepo Outlet Center Shopping Mall - Antalya 299,600 3.1% 410,000 3.4% 36.8%

Mall of Antalya - Antalya 278,400 2.9% 490,000 4.0% 76.0%

Korupark Phases 1 and 2 - Bursa - 5 retail units + warehouses 
of 201 residential units + 1 power center 20,613 0.2% 22,433 0.2% 8.8%

Kemankeş Boutique Hotel Building - İstanbul 58,170 0.6% 61,660 0.5% 6.0%

Nishİstanbul - İstanbul - 8 retail stores 15,475 0.2% 15,535 0.1% 0.4%

Korupark Residences Phase 3 - Bursa 11 residences + 1 
parking lot + 1 power center 12,850 0.1% 12,850 0.1% 0.0%

Torium Residences - İstanbul - 2 residential units 610 0.0% 625 0.0% 2.5%

Mall of İstanbul Shopping Mall - İstanbul 1,860,000 519.1% 2,590,000 21.2% 39.2%

Mall of İstanbul - 6 Residences, 49 Offices (Tower), 3 flat 
offices, 11 power centers - İstanbul 70,484 0.7% 80,120 0.7% 13.7%

Torun Tower (Office building) - İstanbul 1,532,000 15.7% 1,724,000 14.1% 12.5%

Torun Center Project -- Sellable residences (64,232,71 m2) - 
İstanbul 1,016,510 10.4% 1,125,420 9.2% 10.7%

Torun Center Project - Leasable office and retail area 
(66,111.90 m2) - İstanbul 1,021,605 10.5% 1,078,195 8.8% 5.5%

5. Levent Project - İstanbul - 423 residential units, 50 retail 
units, 17 power centers 0 0.0% 524,690 4.3% NM

Real Estate Projects 1,010,939 10.4% 1,114,444 9.1% 10.2%

Mall of İstanbul Project Phase 2 (Hotel, convention center, 
residence) - İstanbul 256,339 2.6% 313,344 52.6 22.2%

İstanbul Paşabahçe Project 754,600 7.7% 801,100 6.6% 6.2%

PARENT COMPANY'S TOTAL REAL ESTATE PORTFOLIO 9,400,403 96.5% 11,832,792 97.0% 25.9%

NET ASSET VALUE TABLE
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NET ASSET VALUE TABLE

PARTICIPATION'S REAL ESTATE PORTFOLIO Appraisal Value

Total Real Estate 
Portfolio Value 

Share %
Appraisal 

Value

Total Real Estate 
Portfolio Value 

Share % Change %

ANKAmall + Crowne Plaza - Yeni Gimat GYO A.Ş. (14.83% 
share) - Ankara 257,936 2.6 267,195 2.2 3.6

Netsel Marina - Netsel Turizm Yatırımları A.Ş. (44.60% share) 
- Muğla 38,800 0.4 45,545 0.4 17.4

Bulvar Samsun Shopping Mall - TTA Gayrimenkul Yat. ve 
Yönetim A.Ş. (%40 share) - Samsun 47,650 0.5 52,400 0.4 10.0

PARTICIPATION'S TOTAL REAL ESTATE PORTFOLIO 344,386 3.5 365,140 3.0 6.0

TOTAL REAL ESTATE PORTFOLIO 9,744,789 100.0 12,197,932 100.0 25.2

MONEY AND CAPITAL MARKET INSTRUMENTS 31.12.2017
Total Portfolio 
Value Share % 31.12.2018

Total Portfolio 
Value Share % Change % 

Demand/Time Forex Deposit 189,699 2 145,445 1 -23.3

Demand/Time TRY Deposit 412,733 4 58,892 0 -85.7

TOTAL MONEY AND CAPITAL MARKET INSTRUMENTS 602,432 6 204,337 2 -66.1

TOTAL PORTFOLIO VALUE 10,347,221 100 12,402,269 100 19.9

OTHER ASSETS 988,586  -127,830  -112,9

LIABILITIES 4,957,150  4,660,721  -6.0

NET ASSET VALUE 6,378,657  7,613,718  19.4

NUMBER OF SHARES 1,000,000,000  1,000,000,000  0.0

NAV PER SHARE 6.38  7.61  19.4

SHARE CLOSING PRICE 3.33  1.51  -54.7

Note: 5. Levent project with TRY 320,200,000 appraisal value is not included in the portfolio table as it is not annotated on the title deed. 

* The 5. Levent Eyüpsultan land, covering an area of 5,720.90 m2 in 2017, now covers 1,035 m2 after occupancy permits were obtained for the 

parcels. 

**Mall of İstanbul Project’s Phase 3 (12,131.79 m2) was purchased on January 10, 2018.
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COMPLIANCE WITH THE PORTFOLIO 
LIMITATIONS ON REICs

Rental Properties
Summary information presented here has been derived from the Company’s financial statements in accordance 
with Article 16 of the “Communiqué on Principles of Financial Reporting in Capital Markets” (Serial: II-14.1), 
published in the Official Gazette dated June 13, 2013 and numbered 28676; and prepared in compliance 
with the relevant provisions of the “Communiqué on the Principles Regarding Real Estate Investment 
Companies” (Serial: III-48.1), published in the Official Gazette dated May 28, 2013 and numbered 28660, and 
the “Communiqué Revising the Communiqué on the Principles Regarding Real Estate Investment Companies” 
(Serial: III-48.1a), published in the Official Gazette dated January 23, 2014 and numbered 28891, concerning 
controls and compliance with portfolio limitations on REICs. 

As per relevant regulations, properties and subsidiaries make up 96% of the Company’s assets while money and 
capital market instruments makes up 2%. Accordingly, our Company manages a portfolio that remains within 
the 50% minimum real estate investment limit, and as of December 31, 2018, our portfolio does not include any 
assets that contradict the limitations set forth in the Communiqué. 

As calculated in conformity with the lease agreements, the currency distribution of rents is approximately 70% in 
US Dollars and 30% in Euro. As of December 31, 2018, the rental income of the Company totaled TRY 526 million.

SHOPPING MALL & OFFICE
OPERATIONAL 

DATE
APPRAISAL 

DATE
APPRAISAL VALUE 

(TRY Thousand) SHARE (%)
Zafer Plaza 24.03.2009 31.12.2018 352,400 4
Korupark Shopping Mall 25.07.2008 31.12.2018 1,540,000 18
Torium Shopping Mall 13.09.2011 31.12.2018 490,000 6
Deepo Outlet Center 14.07.2011 31.12.2018 410,000 5
Mall of Antalya Shopping Mall 28.04.2017 31.12.2018 490,000 6
Mall of İstanbul Shopping Mall 23.05.2014 31.12.2018 2,590,000 30
Torun Tower Office Tower 01.11.2014 31.12.2018 1,724,000 20
Torun Center Leasable Office and 
Retail Area 01.01.2017 31.12.2018 1,078,195 12
TOTAL   8,674,595 100

PROJECTS
START OF 

CONSTRUCTION 
APPRAISAL 

DATE
APPRAISAL VALUE 

(TRY Thousand) SHARE (%)
Mall of İstanbul Phase 2 (Hotel, 
Residences, Convention Center) 22.12.2014 31.12.2018 313,344 28
Paşabahçe Villa + Hotel Project 07.09.2017 31.12.2018 801,100 72
TOTAL   1,114,444 100

LANDBANK
PURCHASE 

DATE 
APPRAISAL 

DATE
APPRAISAL VALUE 

(TRY Thousand) SHARE (%)
Kayabaşı, Başakşehir, İstanbul 05.05.2008 31.12.2018 64,785 32
Eyüpsultan, İstanbul 08.09.2015 31.12.2018 5,280 3
Kepez, Antalya 30.06.2014 31.12.2018 62,235 31
Mall of İstanbul Project, Phase 3 10.01.2018 31.12.2018 68,120 34
TOTAL   200,420 100

Money and Capital Market Instruments
According to the consolidated financial statements, the Company has TRY 204 million cash and cash deposits.
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ASSETS OF TORUNLAR REIC
As of December 31, 2018, 96% of Torunlar REIC’s total 
consolidated assets of TRY 12,274 million consisted 
of mixed use development projects with high growth 
potential, such as residences, offices and hotels, and also 
lands for development and real estate projects.

İSTANBUL

TRY  8,942.9  MN

ANKARA

TRY 267.2  MN
MUĞLASAMSUN

TRY 52.4  MN TRY 45.5  MN

ANTALYABURSA

TRY 1,927.7 MN TRY 962.2  MN

İSTANBUL
SAMSUN

0.4%ANKARA

2.2%

ANTALYA

MUĞLA

0.4%

BURSA

15.8%

73.3%

7.9%
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MALL OF İSTANBUL

DEEPO OUTLET 
CENTER ANTALYA

NISHİSTANBUL

ANKAMALL - 
CROWNE PLAZA 
HOTEL ANKARA

MALL OF İSTANBUL PHASE 
2 HOTEL- RESIDENCES-
CONVENTION CENTER 

TORUN CENTER 
İSTANBUL

KORUPARK 
SHOPPING MALL 
BURSA

BULVAR SAMSUN 
SHOPPING MALL 
SAMSUN

PAŞABAHÇE 
PROJECT – İSTANBUL

TORUN TOWER 
İSTANBUL

KORUPARK 
RESIDENCES BURSA

NETSEL MARINA 
MUĞLA

KEMANKEŞ HOTEL 
PROJECT – İSTANBUL

TORIUM SHOPPING 
MALL İSTANBUL

MALL OF ANTALYA

ZAFER PLAZA BURSA

KAYABAŞI LAND – 
İSTANBUL

5. LEVENT PROJECT  
İSTANBUL
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MALL OF İSTANBUL

Mall of İstanbul, which consists of 
a shopping mall, residential and 
office units, is Turkey’s largest 
mixed-use project.

Mall of İstanbul is attracting 
attention by being an urban 
transformation project. The 
project incorporates a metro line, 
as well. 

Designed as a new lifestyle  
center for İstanbul, Mall of 
İstanbul has a total construction 
area of 725,845 m². The shopping 
mall has a 350 retail store and 
4 thousand vehicle parking 
capacity, with entertainment 
and food and beverage areas 
covering 30% of the space. It was 
built on a GLA of 154,479 m²,
enriched with 10,045 m² for 
children amusement, 8,962 m² 
for a theater with a capacity of 
3,050 in 16 halls, and a 9,481 m² 
area with 700 seats for exhibition 
conference and theater hall. Half 
of the project was designed as 
a shopping mall, with 40% as 
sellable residential area and 10% 
office space. 

Mall of İstanbul is home to many 
“firsts” in Turkey like the first two-
story store of LCW in a shopping 
mall, the biggest Toyzz Shop 
with a 1,600 m² store, De Facto’s 
first two-story store in İstanbul, 
first home store of H&M, first 
Rebel brand store by Mango and 
the first full concept store of 
Victoria’s Secret in Turkey with a 
1,000 m² space.

American brand Build-a-Bear, 
French Decathlon, Orchestra; the 
British Miss Selfridge, Danish Ecco, 
Italian Carnevale, Intimissimi, 
Swiss Victorinox, German Media 
Markt, Kryolan and Spanish 
Pablosky are the international 
brands that are now tenants in 
the shopping malls owned by 
Torunlar REIC for the first time. 

Mall of İstanbul also draws 
attention with its entertainment 
concept. Mall of İstanbul is the 
home of Turkey’s first themed 
indoor amusement park, 
MOIPARK.

NUMBER OF RESIDENTIAL UNITS

1,081
NUMBER OF OFFICES

181

Designed as a new lifestyle center for İstanbul, Mall of 
İstanbul has a total construction area of 725,845 m².  
The shopping mall has a 350 retail store and 4 thousand 
vehicle parking capacity, with entertainment and food and 
beverage areas covering 30% of the space. 
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Ownership

TORUNLAR REIC (100%)

Start of Construction

MARCH 2011

Completion Date

APRIL 2014

Shopping Mall Opening Date

MAY 23, 2014

Number of Stores

350

Occupancy Rate

97%

Main Tenants  

5M MİGROS, ZARA, MEDIA MARKT, 
KOÇTAŞ, TEKNOSA, BOYNER, 
H&M, VİCTORIA’S SECRET, LCW, 
DECATHLON, FLO, KOTON

Gross Leasable/Sellable Area

SHOPPING MALL GLA: 154,479 M2 
RESIDENTIAL UNITS GSA: 121,426 M2 
OFFICE TOWER GSA: 34,241 M2

FLAT OFFICE GSA: 5,091 M2

Leasehold/Freehold Status

FREEHOLD

www.mallofistanbul.com.tr
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Torun Center is being designed 
as a mixed-use project on the 
land of the former Ali Sami Yen 
Stadium. Equipped with features 
to meet all the requirements of a 
modern life, the residential units 
of the Project vary from 100 m² 
1-bedroom units to 425 m²
4-bedroom units. Composed 
of three blocks, two 42-story 
residential blocks and one 
36-story office block, the Project 
also has 3-story car park with one 
of the parking floors reserved 
for the municipality. The design 
of the blocks, which are placed 
at different positions, is inspired 
from the concept of “tropism,” 
which means the orientation of 
plants toward the sun. Thanks to 
this design, all four sides of the 
three buildings have panoramic 
views of the city extending 
from the Bosporus to the Sea of 
Marmara. Through the Project, 
İstanbul enjoys a modern town 
square. The areas below ground 
level were planned as office 
floors with terraces and gardens. 
Furthermore, the section that 
open to the Büyükdere Avenue 
is designed as a town square 
enriched with restaurants and 
cafes.

TOWER OFFICES AND  
FLAT OFFICES

82,158 M2

RETAIL AREA

GROSS SELLABLE AREA

15,312 M2

77,988 M2

TORUN CENTER

All the facades of the three blocks 
in Torun Center look out on the 
numerous panoramic views of the 
city, the Bosporus in particular.
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Ownership

TORUNLAR REIC (100%)  

Start of Construction

Q3 2012

Completion Date

Q4 2015 (OFFICE TOWER AND  
FLAT OFFICES) 
2016 (RESIDENTIAL TOWER)

Sellable and Gross Leasable Area 

77,988 M2 RESIDENCE
82,158 M2 OFFICE TOWER AND 
FLAT OFFICES 
15,312 M2 RETAIL AREA

www.toruncenter.com
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Torun Tower is located on the 
main street of Büyükdere in Şişli, 
the most expensive commercial 
district in İstanbul. With Torun 
Tower, comfort and efficiency 
standards of the business world 
are changing. 

Designed as an A Class  
office project, Torun Tower rises 
on a 15 thousand m² of land as a  
34-story building consisting of 
66 thousand m² of office space. 
Located just 10 meters from the 
Gayrettepe Metro Station, Torun 
Tower offers two different office 
types: tower and flat. The tower 
office, with an average office 
floor space of 1.700 m², aims to 
be İstanbul’s largest leasable 
tower office floor space. Two flat 
office floors, created with garden 
and terrace concepts, consist of 
office units ranging between 800 
m² and 1,900 m². 

The construction of the Torun 
Tower project in Gayrettepe 
started in 2011 and was delivered 
to DenizBank in June 2014. As 
the largest office space rental in 
Turkey to date, a total of 
60,023 m² of the Torun Tower 
Project, excluding the top four 
floors to be reserved for the use 
of Torunlar REIC, was rented out 
to DenizBank for a period of 
10 years in February 2014. On 
November 1, 2014, DenizBank 
relocated its headquarters to 
Torun Tower.

Bringing new vitality to the office 
concept with an exceptional 
location, unique architecture and 
an A Plus status, Torun Tower 
was deemed worthy of LEED 
Gold Certification in July 2014, 
having fulfilled LEED criteria 
related to sustainable spaces, 
water efficiency, energy and 
environment, materials and 
resources, as well as inner air 
quality.

TOTAL NUMBER OF FLOORS

34
OCCUPANCY RATE

93%

TORUN TOWER

Designed as an A class office project, Torun Tower rises on a  
15 thousand m² of land as a 34-story building consisting of 
66 thousand m² of office space. Located just 10 meters from the 
Gayrettepe Metro Station, Torun Tower offers two different office 
types: tower and flat.
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Ownership

TORUNLAR REIC (100%)

Start of Construction

DECEMBER 2011

Completion Date

JUNE 2014

Leasehold/Freehold Status

FREEHOLD

www.toruntower.com
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Torium, a mixed-use shopping 
mall and residential project, is 
located in the city’s most densely 
populated region covering the 
Beylikdüzü, Esenyurt, Gürpınar, 
Bahçesehir, Küçükçekmece, Florya 
and Büyükçekmece districts. 
Opened in October 2010 at 
Haramidere Junction on the D100 
(E5) motorway, Torium is easily 
accessible through various public 
transport alternatives. With a 
parking space having a capacity 
of 2,200 cars, Torium boasts the 
distinction of having the most 
convenient parking and shopping 
opportunities in the area. 

Torium pioneers a new trend 
in the retail and shopping mall 
sector with the concept that 25% 
of leasable area is entertainment 
and catering areas, in an enclosed 
area of 256 thousand m². With 
this concept, entertainment 
and catering areas accounted 
for 25% of the total leasable 
area. With Turkey’s first and only 
snow center, Snowpark, Torium 
earned recognition across the 
country. With the Starpark 
funfair, designed according to an 

entertainment concept  
appealing to every age in a  
3,500 m² enclosed area, and 
Cinetech Movie Theatre, having 
a capacity of 1,947 seats with 
nine screens and the eight-line 
bowling alley, Torium stands 
out as one of the primary 
attraction centers in İstanbul. The 
performance arts center Torium 
Sahne, which can accommodate 
300 people, became operational 
as of end-2015.

In order to make the best use 
of the young and working 
population advantage of the 
region, we created a powerful mix 
of stores at Torium. For the first 
time in shopping malls, stores had 
wide showcases through an 11 
meter axis interval that provide 
brands with the opportunity 
to present themselves in wider 
spaces. Torium is a spacious 
shopping mall with its large 
atrium and galleries, bright 
frontage that makes maximum 
use of daylight, water pools and 
rich landscape. In addition, Torium 
is the first and only shopping 
mall in Turkey that has LEED 
certification.

TORIUM SHOPPING MALL

NUMBER OF STORES

149

Torium pioneers a new trend in the retail and 
shopping mall sector with the concept that 25% of 
leasable area is entertainment and catering areas, in 
an enclosed area of 256 thousand m².
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Ownership

TORUNLAR REIC (100%)

Number of Stores

149

Occupancy Rate

75% 

Main Tenants  

MİGROS, BOYNER, DECATHLON, 
H&M, MARKS & SPENCER, 
MACFIT, LCW, TEKNOSA, KOTON, 
DE FACTO, ÖZDİLEK, TOYZZ SHOP

Leasehold/Freehold Status

FREEHOLD

Gross Leasable Area 

88,503 M2

www.torium.com.tr
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Torunlar REIC signed an asset 
swap agreement with KİPTAŞ, 
a subsidiary owned by İstanbul 
Metropolitan Municipality, on 
June 28, 2013 regarding a project 
to be developed on a 515,977 m²
of land. As per the property 
sharing agreement, Torunlar 
REIC will own 54.28% of the 
construction area. In return, the 
Company will build social housing, 
educational and social facilities, 
and hand them over to KİPTAŞ. 

The 5. Levent Project has many 
important advantages, such as its 
location on the European side of 
İstanbul, facing TEM; proximity to 
central business districts (Levent-
Maslak area), and also to existing 
and planned subway lines, thus 
providing easy access to all major 
parts of the city. Its location is not 
the only distinctive feature of this 
project; it also offers medium- to 
large-scale residential units that 
can meet all needs and appeal 
to people from all segments of 
society.

The Project offers 2,961 
residential units ranging from 
1-bedroom to 4-bedroom 
residential units. The Project will 
include bicycle paths, jogging 
routes, outdoor pools (with slides 
and children’s pools), special 
playgrounds for different age 
groups, football, basketball and 
tennis courts. Since the Project 
is within the context of urban 
regeneration, it is subject to 1% 
VAT.

5. LEVENT PROJECT

The centrally-located 5. Levent Project offers 
middle- and large-scale apartments that appeal 
to people from all walks of life.

NUMBER OF RESIDENTIAL UNITS

2,961
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Ownership

ASSET-SWAP 
TORUNLAR REIC 54.28% 
KİPTAŞ 45.72%

Start of Construction

APRIL 2015

Expected Date of Completion

Q4 2017 (PHASE 1)
Q1 2018 (PHASE 2)
2022 (PHASE 3)

Number of Residential Units/
Gross Sellable Area 

2,961/400,546 M2

Estimated CAPEX

TRY 1.8 BILLION
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As the second project of Torunlar 
Real Estate Investment Company 
in Bursa, Korupark Shopping Mall 
has proved since day one that it is 
not just a shopping mall, but also 
a lifestyle center with the new 
brands, new shopping habits and 
events that were introduced to 
Bursa for the first time. 

Korupark Shopping Mall continues 
to lead the industry in Bursa 
through its renewed mix and 
quality of the stores introduced 
as a result of in depth sectoral 
evaluations. Currently, there 
are many major national and 
international brands in the queue 
willing to open stores in Korupark. 

Opened in May 2007 as second 
investment in Bursa of Torunlar 
REIC, Korupark is among the 
20 largest shopping malls in 
Turkey. Korupark is located on the 
west side of the city and close 
to the region’s development 
axis and highway connection 
roads. It is accessible by public 
transportation through buses, 
light rail transit and minibuses. 
Korupark is located on the Bursa 
- Mudanya highway, the road 
that connects the city to resort 
districts and to the ferry port 
that provides the connection 
to İstanbul, South Marmara and 
the Aegean regions. With its size, 
complete mix of shops, spacious 
architecture and customer 
satisfaction approach, Korupark 
is one of the major attraction 

centers not only in Bursa, but also in 
the whole South Marmara region.

As the shopping mall with the 
longest frontage to a main 
street in Turkey, Korupark also 
is distinguished as a mixed-use 
project. Our Korupark Residences 
and Korupark Terrace projects, 
the most prestigious residential 
projects of Bursa, are preferred by 
families in A and B socio-economic 
status. This is another factor that 
increases the appeal of Korupark 
Shopping Mall. 

Located just one kilometer from 
the city and the region’s main 
highway artery, Korupark boasts an 
occupancy rate of 100%.

Korupark’s most important 
attraction for visitors is its retail 
store mix. As a result, it is critical 
to correctly develop this mix to 
remain ahead of the competition. 
Korupark’s main goals are to 
preserve the current tenant base, 
to replace inefficient stores with 
those in higher demand, and to sign 
deals with brands much-awaited by 
the inhabitants of Bursa before new 
shopping malls do so.

The Shopping Mall contains two 
car parks (one underground park 
with a capacity of 2,500 cars and 
one outdoor parking with a 500 car 
capacity), a hypermarket  
(6 thousand m²), a movie theater 
complex (with nine screens) and an 
entertainment area (an amusement 
park and a children’s play center).

NUMBER OF STORES

190
OCCUPANCY RATE

100%

KORUPARK SHOPPING MALL

The most important attraction of Korupark,  
a shopping mall with the longest facade looking out 
on the main street in Turkey, is its retail store mix.
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Ownership

TORUNLAR REIC (100%)

Gross Leasable Area 

71,267 M2

Main Tenants 

MİGROS, MEDIAMARKT, 
DECATHLON, VAKKO, BEYMEN, 
ZARA, BOYNER, LCW, FLO

Leasehold/Freehold Status 

FREEHOLD

www.korupark.com.tr
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Located on the Bursa-Mudanya 
highway, Korupark Residences is 
an integral part of the mixed-use 
project consisting of a shopping 
mall and residential units. Built and 
offered for sale in three separate 
phases as the first private, gated 
community in Bursa, Korupark 
Residences is located in one of the 
newly developing districts of the 
city, and the value of this location is 
increasing every day. 

Korupark Residences Phase 
1 consists of six blocks (343 
residential units, gross sellable area: 
57,119 m²); Phase 2 consists of 
seven blocks (403 residential units, 
gross sellable area: 66,721 m²). 
All residential units completed in 
these two phases have been sold. 

Korupark Terrace (Phase 3) is 
designed as a luxurious residential 
project on the land next to 
Korupark Shopping Mall and 
Korupark Residences (Phases 1 & 2). 
Consisting of seven blocks and 678 
residential units, Korupark Terrace 
offers different types of apartments 
ranging from 1-bedroom to 
4-bedroom units, and has a total 
of 102,213 m² of sellable area. The 
construction permit for the project 
was obtained in 2011 and deliveries 
began in the fourth quarter of 2012. 

NUMBER OF RESIDENTIAL UNITS

1,424

KORUPARK RESIDENCES

Located in Bursa’s new development 
district with a rising value each passing 
day, Korupark Residences stand out with 
their architecture and landscape. 
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Start of Construction

CONSTRUCTION OF KORUPARK 
RESIDENCES STARTED IN 2006; 
PHASE 1 WAS COMPLETED IN 
2008, PHASE 2 IN 2009, AND 
PHASE 3 WAS COMPLETED IN 
2012. 

www.korupark.com.tr
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The rental and management 
operations of Zafer Plaza, 
which opened in October 1999, 
are performed by Zafer Plaza 
Management Inc. It is run with 
100% of occupancy rate, right 
at the heart of central Bursa. In 
2000, Zafer Plaza won the Best 
Shopping Mall of Turkey award. 

Having celebrated its 19th 
anniversary, Zafer Plaza is the first 
shopping mall in Bursa built to 
world-class standards and scale. 

NUMBER OF STORES

120

ZAFER PLAZA

Zafer Plaza distinguishes itself in the 
sector, with 100% occupancy rate right  
at the heart of central Bursa, alongside  
its unique architecture.
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Ownership

TORUNLAR REIC (72.26%)

Occupancy Rate

100% 

Main Tenants

BOYNER, TEKNOSA, MİGROS, 
KOTON, FLO, LCW 

Leasehold/Freehold Status

FREEHOLD

www.zaferplaza.com.tr
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As the largest outlet in the 
Mediterranean Region, Deepo 
Outlet opened in 2004. Located 
just across from the airport in 
Antalya, Turkey’s most important 
tourism destination, Deepo was 
converted from a food wholesale 
warehouse into a shopping 
complex with a modern outlet 
center concept. In this shopping 
mall project, we emphasized 
ease of movement with two main 
galleries while taking into account 
the region’s climatic conditions.

Antalya is a fast emerging region 
with an expanding population. 
Deepo Outlet’s location is at 
the center of a developing 
hinterland. The Deepo Outlet 
project continues to develop with 
a turnover-based management 
strategy in line with the 
evolving socio-economic and 
demographic characteristics of 
the province.

Antalya is considered by leading 
brands as the right address to 
stock end of season products 
with its distance to the Turkey’s 
other major cities and its tourism-
based dynamism. Deepo Outlet 
takes advantage of its location 
across from Antalya Airport in the 
best possible way. With the flight 
information boards and airline 
check-in desk services located 
in the building, Deepo Outlet 
makes a difference in terms 
of increasing the time airline 
passengers spend at the outlet 
center. 

In order to facilitate access to 
Deepo, the Company increased 
the transport options to the 
shopping mall. The long-running 
construction of the tram line was 
finally completed and service 
began on June 6, 2016. The 
tram stop has been placed right 
in front of the shopping mall, 
increasing the number of visitors 
who reach the shopping mall via 
public transport. Furthermore, 
there is an increase in the use of 
the underpass (tunnel).

NUMBER OF STORES

84

DEEPO OUTLET CENTER

The largest outlet in the Mediterranean Region, 
Deepo turns the benefit of a close location to the 
Antalya Airport into earnings for store owners. 



97

Torunlar REIC Annual Report 2018

Ownership

TORUNLAR REIC (100%)

Occupancy Rate

91%  

Number of Stores

84

Main Tenants 

PAUL & SHARK, TOMMY HILFIGER, 
UNDER ARMOUR, GUESS, 
HUMMEL, ADIDAS, DIESEL, GANT, 
OCCASION, VAKKO 

Leasehold/Freehold Status

FREEHOLD

www.deepo.com.tr
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The Shopping Center is 3 
kilometers from Antalya Airport 
and 9 kilometers from Expo 
Antalya; it features gross leasable 
area of 43,703 m². In line with 
Antalya’s status as an emerging 
city, the rich presentation of 
seasonal products at the Mall 
of Antalya, along with outlet 
products at Deepo, redefine the 
optional shopping concept. With 
the innovative energy of Mall of 
Antalya and the consumer trust 
built by Deepo in ten years, this 
is the most ambitious mixed use 
project in the Mediterranean 
Region of Turkey. Mall of Antalya 
dedicates one-third of its leasable 
area to action, entertainment 
and fun activities. The high-tech 
Cinetech cinemas feature 11 
screens, with a total capacity 
of 1,750 people. It also offers a 
state-of-the-art theater with a 
210-audience capacity.

MALL OF ANTALYA

With its innovative energy and the synergy 
derived from Deepo, Mall of Antalya is the 
most ambitious mixed-used project of the 
Mediterranean.

NUMBER OF STORES

124
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TORUNLAR REIC (100%)

Gross Leasable Area

43,703 M2

Number of Stores

124

Leasehold/Freehold Status

FREEHOLD  

Occupancy Rate

85%

Main Tenants  

H&M, LCW, MEDIAMARKT, KOTON, 
MAVİ, MİGROS, FLO, SKECHERS 

www.mallofantalya.com.tr
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Located in Yenimahalle, at the 
intersection of the İstanbul and 
Konya highways, ANKAmall can 
be reached directly through the 
pedestrian passage that connects 
the Akköprü Metro Station to the 
shopping mall.

ANKAmall has a major 
competitive advantage in terms 
of its tenant mix, central location 
and ease of access. Of course, a 
free 6,000-car parking lot and 330 
stores play a part in this success.

With a leasable area of 91,404 m²,
ANKAmall hosts the largest 
hypermarket in Turkey, a home 
improvement store, multiplex 
cinema and a theater, various 
restaurants and cafes, and many 
national and international retail 
brands. 

NUMBER OF STORES

330

ANKAMALL - CROWNE PLAZA HOTEL

ANKAmall maintains its competitive 
advantage in terms of its tenant mix, central 
location and ease of access. 
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YENI GİMAT REIC IN WHICH 
TORUNLAR REIC HOLDS 14.83% OF 
THE STAKE

Gross Leasable Area 

YENİ GİMAT REIC’S SHARE  
91,404 M2 
TORUNLAR REIC’S SHARE  
13,555 M2

Occupancy Rate

96% 

Number of Stores

330

Number of Hotel Rooms

263 

Main Tenants

MİGROS, KOÇTAŞ, BOYNER, H&M, 
MUDO CITY, MARKS & SPENCER, 
LCW

Leasehold/Freehold Status

FREEHOLD

www.ankamall.com.tr
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Formerly an old tobacco factory, 
Bulvar Samsun Shopping Mall 
opened on July 1, 2012, after 
a restoration. Through our 
partnership in TTA Real Estate 
Investment and Management 
Inc., we have a 40% stake in the 
project. The other partner in the 
project is Turkmall Real Estate. 
At the end of the 30-year lease 
period, the entire ownership 
of the Bulvar Samsun will be 
transferred to Samsun Greater 
City Municipality.

With 18,601 m² of Gross Leasable 
Area and an occupancy rate of 
89%, Bulvar Samsun Shopping 
Mall is the first shopping mall 
in Samsun city center. The 
Shopping Mall is located in an 
area surrounded by residential 
and commercial buildings south 
of the city center.

Bulvar Samsun Shopping Mall is 
located in the downtown area, 
between two important avenues, 
Gazi and Mecidiye, which are lined 
with residences and commercial 
space. Passing by the shopping 
mall, Gazi Avenue is used by 

around 150 people per day. 
Thanks to its central location, 
Bulvar Shopping Mall has become 
a much preferred lunch venue for 
office employees working in the 
area. The retail center has also 
introduced an array of national 
brands to Samsun, adding to its 
general appeal to the region’s 
shoppers.

Bulvar Samsun Shopping and 
Life Center’s competitive edge is 
based on a prime, central location, 
proximity to neighborhoods 
populated by A and B socio-
economic groups, ease of access, 
closeness to commercial and 
business centers, architectural 
references to the area’s historical 
heritage, comfort provided by a 
vast square and courtyard flanked 
by cafes and restaurants, three 
evenings of live music in the 
courtyard every week, nearness to 
educational institutions, and an 
on-site arts center which offers 
courses in ballet, painting, music 
and drama. 

BULVAR SAMSUN SHOPPING MALL

NUMBER OF STORES

38
OCCUPANCY RATE

89%

An attraction center that introduced the first domestic 
brands to Samsun, Bulvar Shopping Mall promises a unique 
experience in all seasons with its architectural features. 
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RIGHT OF CONSTRUCTION 
TORUNLAR REIC (40%)

Gross Leasable Area

18,090 M2

Main Tenants

FLO, TEKNOSA, MAVİ, BOYNER, 
MANGO, KOTON, DEICHMANN, 
DE FACTO, ADL, MCDONALD’S, 
BURGER KING  

Leasehold/Freehold Status

RIGHT OF CONSTRUCTION  
FOR 30 YEARS

www.bulvarsamsun.com.tr
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As one of the three largest 
marinas in Turkey, Netsel 
Marmaris Marina is also one of 
the country’s few marinas where 
international yachtspersons 
can perform the obligatory 
procedures such as customs  
and passport control. About  
100 thousand passengers coming 
with over 70 cruise ships annually 
to Marmaris Cruise Port, located 
next to the Marina, also benefit 
from the services provided by 
the Marina and its recreational 
facilities. In addition, Marmaris 
Netsel Marina is the largest 
marina in Turkey in terms of its 
6,189 m² retail space.

Netsel Marmaris Marina, one of 
the most prestigious marinas in 
the Eastern Mediterranean, is 
operated jointly by Torunlar REIC 
and Koç Group, and is the sixth 
marina under Setur Marinas. 

Adjacent to the marvelous 
pine forest in Marmaris, Netsel 
Marmaris Marina lies like a unique 
pearl in the heart of Marmaris 
Bay, which resembles a natural 
lake reflecting incredible shades 
of turquoise.

One of the most prominent 
features of Netsel Marmaris 
Marina is that it is a city 
marina. It is very close to the 
historical Marmaris Castle and 
entertainment venues, and within 
two minutes walking distance of 
Marmaris city center.

With its strong breakwaters and 
the natural harbor structure, 
which provide protection against 
adverse weather conditions, 
Netsel Marmaris Marina is one of 
the safest shelters.

SHOPPING MALL OCCUPANY RATE

98% 
NUMBER OF STORES

75

NETSEL MARINA

Netsel Marmaris Marina, one of the most prestigious 
marinas in the Eastern Mediterranean, is operated jointly 
by Torunlar REIC and Koç Group, and is the sixth marina 
under Setur Marinas.
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RIGHT OF CONSTRUCTION 
TORUNLAR REIC (44.60%)

Land  

37,478 M2

Yacht Capacity

850

Main Tenants

MİGROS, STEFANEL, PAUL & 
SHARK

Leasehold/Freehold Status

RIGHT OF CONSTRUCTION  
FOR 49 YEARS

www.netselmarina.com
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Nishİstanbul, located in 
Yenibosna, Bahçelievler on the 
European side of İstanbul and by 
the side of the E5 motorway, is 
a mixed-use project composed 
of residential, office and retail 
space. The project was run by the 
Torunlar-Özyazıcı Joint Venture. 
Torunlar REIC’s share in the 
project is 60%. 

Some 585 housing units 
have been built and sold in 
the Nishİstanbul project. 
Construction of the project, 
consisting of three residential 
blocks, an office block and retail 
units, was completed in October 
2010. Following completion of 
the project, the project partners 
shared the remaining unsold units 
among them. 

Thanks to its central location, the 
project features a combination of 
both living and business space. 

The offices range from 270 m²
to 1,080 m² and are highly 
sought after, especially for firms 
engaged in international trade 
due to its proximity to the airport. 

NUMBER OF OFFICES

63

NISHİSTANBUL

Thanks to its central location, 
Nishİstanbul features a 
combination of both living and 
business space.
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TORUNLAR REIC  

Leasehold/Freehold Status

FREEHOLD

Start of Construction

2008

Number of Residential Units/
Gross Sellable Area  

585/53,204 M2

Number of Offices/Gross 
Sellable Area  

63/16,925 M2

Number of Stores/Gross 
Leasable Area 

52/10,937 M2

www.nishistanbul.com
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Consisting of a hotel, a 
convention center and residential 
areas, the Mall of İstanbul project 
is in construction on a land 
area of 18,208 m2 in its second 
stage, with a construction area 
of nearly 109 thousand m2. The 
project includes a 180-room 
hotel, a convention center with 
1,000-person capacity and 106 
residential units.

Ownership Torunlar REIC (100%)
Start of Construction December 2014
Expected Date of Completion 2020
Land Area 18,208.90 m²
Construction Area 109,000 m²
Estimated CAPEX TRY 328 million 
Leasehold/Freehold Status Freehold

MALL OF İSTANBUL PHASE 2
HOTEL - RESIDENCES - CONVENTION CENTER PROJECT

Consisting of a hotel, a convention center and residential areas, 
the Mall of İstanbul project is in construction on a land area of 
18,208 m2 in its second stage, with a construction area of nearly 
109 thousand m2.

Ongoing Projects
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The project is designed as an 
“Urban Resort Hotel,”  
a mixed-use, low-intensity, luxury 
boutique hotel consisting of 
120 rooms, apart-hotel units, 
and villas, which will be run by 
a prestigious hotel operator, 
an upscale and prestigious 
international brand. Torunlar REIC 
has also received the easement 
for the pier, wharf and the filled 
land covering 3,935 m² for a 
period of 49 years.

Ownership Torunlar REIC (100%)
Start of Construction Second Half of 2017
Expected Date of Completion 2022
Estimated Operational Date 2022
Construction Area 64,633 m²
Estimated CAPEX TRY 712 million 
Leasehold/Freehold Status Freehold
Current Status The construction permit was 

obtained in September 2017. 

PAŞABAHÇE PROJECT

The Paşabahçe Project is designed as an “Urban Resort 
Hotel,” a mixed-use, low-intensity, luxury boutique hotel 
consisting of 120 rooms, apart-hotel units, and villas, 
which will be served by a prestigious hotel operator.
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The 1,501 m² land is located in 
an area offering commercial 
potential in the Kemankeş district 
of İstanbul Beyoğlu, very close 
to Karaköy ferry port and the 
İstanbul Modern Art Museum. The 
ramshackle 3-storey and 3,900 m² 
building will be demolished and 
replaced with a boutique hotel.

KEMANKEŞ HOTEL PROJECT

Ownership Torunlar REIC (100%)
Expected Start of Construction 2019
Expected Date of Completion 2020
Land Area 1,501 m²
Gross Leasable Area 3,900 m²
Estimated CAPEX TRY 46 million 
Leasehold/Freehold Status Freehold 
Current Status At the stage of construction permit 

Adjacent to İstanbul’s cruise port and in an ideal 
location to attract cruise passengers, the Kemankeş Land 
is positioned in an area with high commercial potential.

Ongoing Projects
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In 2020, it is planned to 
obtain a construction license 
for land located in a region 
where population density will 
increase due to the third bridge 
connection roads and the 
opening of the new airport.

Ownership TORUNLAR REIC (100%)
Expected Start of Construction 2023
Land Area 60,833.20 m²
Leasehold/Freehold Status Freehold
Current Status At the stage of construction permit 

KAYABAŞ LAND - İSTANBUL

After the opening of the İstanbul Airport, Torunlar REIC  
plans to build a new project befitting İstanbul on a  
60,835.20 m² of land in a new development district of the city.
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Risk Management
The Early Detection of Risk 
Committee was established to 
detect and identify potential risks 
that may threaten the Company’s 
existence, development and 
continuity; implement the 
necessary measures against 
detected risks; and to manage 
risks.

Operational Risk
As a part of the portfolio 
management business, the 
Company invests in real estate, 
money and capital market 
instruments. As of December 31, 
2018, real estate investments 
accounted for about 96% of the 
total portfolio. Operational risk 
includes possible changes to the 
legislation and zoning practices 
that may affect the Company’s 
operations; a decline in new 
investment opportunities due 
to contraction of the real estate 
sector; a decrease in demand 
for properties and falling prices; 
and policy changes by local 
and/or the central government, 
which may affect the Company’s 
operations; and other external 
factors. The Company takes 
necessary measures to minimize 
the risk arising from the business 
environment, uses control 
systems and monitors efficiency 
of the said measures and controls. 

RISKS AND ASSESSMENT OF THE MANAGEMENT BODY
Credit Risk
The Company is exposed to 
credit risk resulting from trade 
receivables related to credit 
sales and also due to assets 
and receivables held by banks 
and financial institutions. The 
Company keeps its financial 
assets at commercial banks, 
which are among the 10 largest 
banks based in Turkey and have 
business relationships with the 
Company. The majority of the 
trade receivables are real estate 
note receivables from housing 
sales. The credit risk connected 
to receivables from unrelated 
parties is managed by securing 
receivables with collateral 
covering the highest possible 
proportion of the receivables. The 
methods used are as follows:

• Bank guarantees (letter of 
guarantee, letter of credit, etc.),

• Mortgage on real estate,
• Checks and notes.

As for customers not guaranteed 
through securities, individual 
limits are determined as a 
result of a customer credibility 
assessment involving risk 
control, financial status, previous 
experiences and other factors; 
use of such credit limits is 
regularly monitored.

Liquidity Risk
Liquidity risk is the probability 
that a company might fail to 
meet its net funding liabilities. 
The Company management 
seeks to avoid liquidity risk by 
maintaining sufficient levels 
of cash and cash equivalents 
for its daily operations and by 
ensuring accessibility to liquidity 
through banks while optimizing 
the principles of managing 
the balance sheet on the basis 
of its projected cash flow. The 
management also seeks to align 
back payments of financial 
borrowings obtained for the 
construction cost and acquisition 
of investment properties with 
the rental revenue streams from 
these properties to the extent 
possible. The Group obtains 
cash advances from customers 
for residential construction by 
executing preliminary sales 
contracts in order to minimize 
the funding requirement in such 
projects.
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Interest Rate Risk 
Our Company is exposed to 
interest rate risk because of 
changes in interest rates on 
interest bearing assets and 
liabilities. Such exposure is 
managed by offsetting interest 
rate sensitive assets and liabilities 
and using derivative instruments 
with balance sheet related 
methods when considered 
necessary.

In this context, matching 
maturities of receivables and 
payables as well as interest 
readjustment periods are crucially 
important. In order to keep 
exposure of financial liabilities 
to interest rate changes at a 
minimum, the fixed interest/
variable interest, short-term/
long-term, local/foreign currency 
balances should be structured 
in a manner consistent with its 
structure and the assets in the 
balance sheet.

Loans with variable risks, which 
are classified as financial liabilities 
on the Company’s balance 
sheet, are exposed to interest 
risk depending on the interest 
fluctuations. 

Foreign Exchange Risk 
Our Company is exposed to 
exchange rate risk because of 
operations performed using 
multiple currencies. The main 
principle in the management of 
this risk is to maintain a foreign 
exchange position in a manner 
which minimizes fluctuations in 
exchange rates; in other words, by 
maintaining the foreign exchange 
position level close to zero.

Accordingly, the Company aims 
to maintain the ratio between 
the current proportion of 
the currencies against cross-
currencies or Turkish Lira and 
shareholders’ equity at certain 
limits. Our Company is also 
exposed to foreign exchange rate 
risk, mainly in EUR and USD.
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On February 27, 2019, a construction permit was obtained for one of the projects of our Company, for the 
purposes of hotel construction on the parcel with a construction area of 6,850.56 m2, registered on Plot 120, 
Block 64, Layout 23 at Karamustafapaşa Mahallesi, Tophane İskele Cad. in Beyoğlu District of İstanbul.

No amendment was made during the Period.

The following amendment was introduced in the period from January 1 to December 31, 2018:

There is full compliance with all the regulations of the Capital Markets Board dating before January 1, 2018. 
However, the Communique (no. III-48.1.c) amending the Communique (no. III-48.1) on the Principles Regarding 
Real Estate Investment Companies went into force upon promulgation in the Official Gazette dated May 10, 
2018 with no. 30417. This article pertains to the transitional provision regarding profit distribution, which may 
obligate established companies to distribute dividends in cash. For companies that run a portfolio exclusively 
composed of infrastructure investments and services, the provision, which stipulated that this article was 
inapplicable until December 31,2017, was amended and the date was extended to December 31, 2019. 

MATERIAL EVENTS DISCLOSURE AFTER THE ACCOUNTING PERIOD ENDING ON 
DECEMBER 31, 2018

AMENDMENTS TO THE ARTICLES OF ASSOCIATION DURING THE ACCOUNTING PERIOD 
AND THEIR EXPLANATIONS

AMENDMENTS TO REGULATIONS ON REAL ESTATE INVESTMENT COMPANIES 
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Bursa/Korupark Shopping Mall, İstanbul/Torium Shopping Mall, Mall of İstanbul and Antalya /Deepo Outlet 
Center, Mall of Antalya – Management Company 

TRADE NAME TORUN MALL INVESTMENT AND MANAGEMENT INC. 

Capital TRY 100,000

Shareholding Structure Share in Capital (%)

1-Aziz TORUN 46%

2- Mehmet TORUN 49%

3-Other 5%

Field of Activity Operating shopping malls

Date and Term of the Contract 01.06.2010 

Scope of Service Management service for Bursa/Korupark Shopping Mall, İstanbul/
Torium Shopping Mall, Mall of İstanbul Shopping Mall, Antalya/Deepo 
Outlet and Mall of Antalya Shopping Mall.

Service Charge A 2% service charge is paid based on the monthly total amount (VAT 
excluded, in TRY) of the rental invoices (fixed rent, turnover rent, 
ATM rent, warehouse rent and GSM/base station rent) issued for the 
tenants of the shopping mall. 

INFORMATION ON CONSULTING FIRM, MANAGEMENT COMPANY, REAL ESTATE 
APPRAISAL COMPANY, ASSET MANAGEMENT COMPANY AND DEPOSITORY INSTITUTION 
RELATED TO THE ASSETS AND RIGHTS IN THE PORTFOLIO OF THE COMPANY
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Bursa/Zafer Plaza Shopping Mall - Operating Firm 

TRADE NAME ZAFER PLAZA MANAGEMENT INC. 

Capital TRY 50,000

Shareholding Structure Share in Capital (%)

1-Aziz TORUN 44.50%

2- Mehmet TORUN 39.50%

3-Other 16.00%

Field of Activity Operating shopping malls

Date and Term of the Contract 08.10.2014 - 08.10.2019

Scope of Service Renting out leasable areas at the shopping mall; renting out and 
operating event and parking spaces that involve or may involve 
tenant-landlord relations; providing repair and maintenance 
services for machines and equipment or outsourcing these services; 
managing and operating common areas as a whole.

Service Charge The Operating Company pays Torunlar REIC the rental amount 
based on a per m2 rate, as determined in the contract. No 
payment is made to the Operating Company except for personnel, 
administrative and other expenses.

Our Company procures:

- Real estate appraisal services from Lotus Gayrimenkul Değerleme ve Danışmanlık A.Ş.,

- Full certification services from Boğaziçi Bağımsız Denetim ve Yeminli Mali Müşavirlik A.Ş.,

- Independent audit services from DRT Bağımsız Denetim ve Serbest Muhasebeci Mali Müşavirlik A.Ş. (Deloitte). 

The Company is not involved in any conflicts of interest with these firms. 

INFORMATION ON CONSULTING FIRM, MANAGEMENT COMPANY, REAL ESTATE 
APPRAISAL COMPANY, ASSET MANAGEMENT COMPANY AND DEPOSITORY INSTITUTION 
RELATED TO THE ASSETS AND RIGHTS IN THE PORTFOLIO OF THE COMPANY
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The lawsuit concerning the accident, which occurred at the construction site of Torun Center project on 
September 6, 2014, was finalized by the İstanbul 13th Criminal Court on March 23, 2018. The Court did not 
impose any criminal sanction on Torunlar REIC’s principal shareholders and senior management.

The internal control system of the Company is established for examining, controlling, monitoring, assessing the 
compliance, efficiency and effectiveness of company operations and controls related to these operations. The 
system embraces a risk oriented control approach; thus, the internal control activities are based on controls 
designed for mitigating and eliminating inherent risks of company operations and efficiency of these controls is 
the basis of internal control process. 

The Company complies with the principles set out under the Corporate Governance Principles. Accordingly, the 
Audit Committee was formed within the structure of the Board of Directors and the working principles of the 
Committee were determined by the Board of Directors. The financial statements of the Company illustrating 
the results of the Company’s activities are audited by the independent auditing company DRT Independent 
Auditing and Accounting Financial Consultancy Inc.

Torunlar REIC’s related party transactions with Group companies and other related parties are of a commercial 
nature.

Our Company has a fully-owned affiliated company, TRN Hotel Management and Investment Inc. The Company 
also has a joint venture, TTA Real Estate Investment and Management Inc., and two subsidiaries, namely Yeni 
Gimat REIC (“Yeni Gimat”) and Netsel Tourism Investment Inc. (“Netsel”).

As of December 31, 2018, the Company owes TRY 30,1 million to related parties; whereas the Company has  
TRY 30.7 million in trade receivables from related parties. 

LAWSUITS

INTERNAL CONTROL SYSTEM OF THE COMPANY AND INFORMATION ABOUT INTERNAL 
AND EXTERNAL CONTROL OPERATIONS

SUBSIDIARIES AND RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
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It is possible to base the 
importance of construction 
sector in the overall Turkish 
economy on three factors:
• Role in the process of 

constructing residences, 
schools, roads, hospitals and 
such other infrastructure;

• The impact of its volume;
• Role of materials used at 

construction sites within overall 
production activities.

Recently, customer expectations 
and demands have been rapidly 
changing all around the world 
and our country. These demands 
have been raising construction 
costs, thus the sector is in pursuit 
of new technologies. New 
technologies and investments 
made in these technologies 
reduce the costs and facilitate 
meeting the diverse customer 
demands and expectations. 
In this aspect, it is assumed 
that the construction sector is 
on the verge of a new era and 
the competitiveness criteria 
of the sector will be based on 
technological developments in 
the future.

Cost is not the sole reason for 
innovations and technological 
developments to be made in the 
construction materials sector. 
Besides customer demands, 
sustainable urbanization and 
environmental protection, 
thus minimizing the impact of 
urbanization on the environment, 
have forced innovation of the 
entire construction sector. In 
the case of the construction 
sector, sustainability is associated 
with design and construction of 
environment friendly buildings 
which consume less energy, emit 
less CO2 and produce less waste 
as well as production of materials 
used. 

Sustainability is an approach 
covering both construction of 
new buildings and renovation of 
current buildings. The purpose 
of this approach known as 
sustainable design is to create 
synergy between the building’s 
lifecycle and design practices.

Green buildings are generally 
characterized with the 
advantages of using solar energy 
photovoltaic techniques, use of 
plants and trees on green roofs, 
rain gardens, preventing rainwater 
leaks and use of renewable 
resources such as waste heat 
recovery pumps. There are also 
several techniques such as using 
permeable concentrate rather 
than packed gravel or ordinary 
concentrate or using asphalt for 
renewal of underground waters.

For the construction sector 
which is the driving engine of 
economic growth in Turkey 
with the value added and 
employment generated, the 
objective is to reinforce its status 
and gain a competitive edge 
on international markets. In 
order to achieve this objective, 
technological capacity should be 
increased; products with higher 
added value should be preferred; 
and sustainability, which is an 
important issue in today’s world 
of rapidly consuming natural 
resources, should be set as a 
priority for the sector. 

SUSTAINABILITY

Torunlar REIC will continue to be a part of building 
a nation-wide sustainable future, to lead its sector with 
this approach and to contribute to the future of humanity.
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We should design buildings 
pollute the environment less, 
use natural resources more 
effectively, have higher energy 
efficiency and less carbon 
emission in order to ensure a 
sustainable future. Environment 
friendly, ecological, comfortable 
green buildings designed to 
minimize energy consumption 
also meet the expectations of 
consumers who are conscious 
about energy efficiency, 
environmental and climate 
change as well as caring about 
health and safety.

Minimizing consumption of 
energy for heating purposes 
in buildings is possible by 
minimizing heat loss in buildings. 
For this purpose, we should 
develop and use better insulation 
materials, prefer more effective 
heating and cooling systems 
as well as make better use of 
renewable energy resources, such 
as solar and wind energy. We 
need construction materials and 
buildings that are lighter, more 
flexible, sturdier and that have 
longer lifecycle, have minimum 
impact on the environment 
during production and usage and 
make use of renewable energy 
resources more effectively.

Projects developed by Torunlar 
REIC have a role in the lives of 
millions of people and enterprises 
and stand by them in planning 
their future and construction 
process. In this respect, the 
Company works in close 
cooperation with the broadest 
range of business partners, non-
governmental organizations, 
and public authorities, and 
strives to fully meet its corporate 
responsibilities within the service 
cycle.

Torunlar REIC defines its 
strategy as displaying long-
term sustainable growth by 
continuously creating value, with a 
view to constantly and remarkably 
increasing the efficiency, agility 
and organizational efficiency 
it provides its customers, 
shareholders, employees, the 
community and environment.

Sustainability is closely related 
to devising an accurate strategy 
and business model by building 
plans and processes resistant to 
external factors. In this respect, 
Torunlar REIC is very pleased to 
enjoy the unfaltering support 
of its shareholders; meanwhile, 
the employees’ strong sense of 
belonging and the stakeholders’ 
trust in the brand constitute the 
most valuable assets that the 
Company needs in this journey.

Torunlar REIC will continue to be 
a part of building a nation-wide 
sustainable future, to lead its 
sector with this approach and 
to contribute to the future of 
humanity.

Torunlar REIC defines its 
most basic obligation towards 
its shareholders as creating 
permanent value in the  
short-term as well as the  
long-term. It views sustainability 
as a valuable tool and a 
permanent goal which will help 
the Company contribute to the 
solution of the environmental, 
social and economic problems 
of our age. It also believes 
that sustainability efforts 
will strengthen its business 
in the eyes of customers and 
stakeholders, and become a 
source of pride for shareholders 
as well.

In every step of its service cycle, 
Torunlar REIC is committed 
to remaining honest and 
transparent, uphold ethical 
values and fully comply with laws. 
Torunlar REIC’s presence in the 
market contributes to economic 
dynamism, social well-being, 
individuals’ living standards and 
even consumption patterns.
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SUSTAINABILITY

We are going through a business 
cycle where global conditions 
become harder each day and 
fluctuations have become 
normal. Limited resources fail to 
meet demands of an increasing 
population and humanity tries to 
overcome a series of problems. 
In such a world, competition, as 
we know it today, will be very 
different tomorrow.

The best approach to be 
embraced by companies in this 
process would be effectively 
managing risks as well as 
reinforcing shareholders’ value 
and effectively managing 
impacts on the society and the 
environment through transferring 
resources.

Torunlar REIC considers that its 
power and stability stem from 
a robust corporate governance, 
strong and flexible balance sheet, 
transport reporting system, and 
most importantly, risk-sensitive 
perspective. All of these help 
the Company create more and 
more value to its customers, 
shareholders and employees in 
the long-term, in line with the 
aforementioned sustainability 
approach.

Placing its employees at the 
center of success, Torunlar 
REIC focuses on creating and 
maintaining a labor-friendly 
and safe work environment that 
employees are proud to be a  
part of.

Always proud of supporting 
society with different social 
responsibility projects, Torunlar 
REIC views these activities not as 
an obligation, but as its natural 
responsibility towards society, of 
which it is a member and where it 
conducts commercial activities.

Torunlar REIC believes that 
efficiency and productivity are 
the foundations of profitability as 
well as establishing long lasting 
value for our stakeholders. The 
Company considers sustainability 
as an important platform to 
manage costs at an optimal level 
and to achieve performance 
goals. As long as it improves 
the efficiency and productivity 
of its structure, the Company 
will succeed in increasing the 
long-term value that it offers 
to stakeholders by sharpening 
its competitive edge and 
continuously increasing its total 
output in the service cycle. While 
this may be seen as only the 

economic aspect of sustainability, 
it is also crucial for the fulfillment 
of environmental and social 
responsibilities.

Torunlar REIC believes that 
fulfilling its social, economic and 
environmental responsibilities 
figure among its top business 
priorities, and therefore 
believes in the importance of 
sustainability, and upholds it in 
every field in which it operates. 
In this vein, the Company 
acts with the philosophy of 
giving back to the society and 
delivering value to the society, by 
improving business operations 
and conducting corporate social 
responsibility projects.

Torunlar REIC believes in the 
importance of an effective 
stakeholder communication 
policy for the sustainability of its 
business. By establishing open 
and transparent relationships 
with all of its stakeholders, the 
Company learns about their 
priorities and expectations, and 
seeks appropriate solutions. It 
translates their expectations into 
its business strategies, and takes 
decisions with the aim of creating 
benefit for all parties.

Always proud of supporting society with different social 
responsibility projects, Torunlar REIC views these activities not as 
an obligation, but as its natural responsibility towards society, of 
which it is a member and where it conducts commercial activities.
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Torunlar REIC believes that 
conducting and expanding 
business with a responsible 
and sustainable approach is 
an economic and social need. 
Corporate responsibility is a 
management tool and also a part 
of corporate strategy for Torunlar 
REIC.

Torunlar REIC aims at improving 
customer satisfaction and loyalty 
through the processes defined 
and projects implemented. 
The organizational structure 
and activities conducted (e.g. 
customer satisfaction surveys) 
assures informing employees 
about these goals and achieving 
them.

Torunlar REIC prepares customer 
satisfaction questionnaires each 
year for the purpose of regularly 
monitoring product and service 
satisfaction of customers and 
improving its performance. 

Questionnaires prepared by 
expert and qualified research 
companies are handed out to the 
customers through sophisticated 
sampling methods, and due 
action is taken according to the 
results of the analyses.

Torunlar REIC acknowledges 
that responsibilities towards an 
ecologic environment start with 
minimizing the energy used for 
business processes, and to this 
end, places recycling boxes at the 
General Directorate and shopping 
malls for separately collecting 
and sorting paper, plastic and 
household wastes. Each type of 
waste is collected under terms 
appropriate for the type and then 
delivered to related enterprises 
for recycling. There are also 
battery waste boxes for collecting 
used batteries, which are then 
delivered to local municipalities 
for recycling.

Mankind consumes natural 
resources rapidly. Thus the 
Company’s shopping malls try 
to use water, gas electricity 
and diesel oil as effectively as 
possible. Energy costs rise all the 
time and increased costs can be 
only compensated by saving. The 
Company is conscientious about 
the economic aspect of the 
matter, as well as environmental 
pollution and global warning 
issues. It is important to find 
systems able to save on resources 
and to monitor operations of 
these systems as well as the 
responses and technological 
developments. The Company 
ensures that the solutions 
available are convenient and at a 
practicable level.

The methods used are:

• Monitoring, evaluating daily 
consumption levels and taking 
action;

• Determining saving systems and 
developing implementations;

• Informing technical personnel 
about the saving culture 
and ensuring their active 
involvement in the process;

• Ensuring coordination between 
teams;

• Assessing operational output.

As a result of these measures, 
the Company posted the 
following reductions in power 
consumption per shopping mall. 
Water consumption, however, 
was remarkably higher than the 
previous years’ average values 
due to the drought across the 
country.
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2017-2018 
Difference (%)

Mall of 
İstanbul

Zafer 
Plaza Korupark Torium

Deepo 
Outlet

Water (m3) +19.2 -10.5 +24.1 -1.7 -9.7
Electricity (kwh) +6.9 -3.9 -5.6 -7.0 -0.6

Torun Tower opts for local plants 
with low water consumption, and 
utilizes drip irrigation systems.

Striving to maximize energy 
savings in the project, the energy 
performance of the building 
is compared with the ASHRAE 
90.1.2007 standard and  
energy-efficient systems  
were deployed to slash  
energy costs by 32%.

In order to limit the use of 
natural resources, recycled 
materials corresponding to 
30% of construction cost were 
used at Torun Tower. Plus, local 
materials corresponding to 
50% of construction cost were 
utilized so as to contribute to 
the local economy and avoid 
environmental pollution arising 
from fuel consumption linked to 
transport.

With a view toward preserving 
indoor air quality, highly efficient 
filters were installed in all  
air-conditioning centers. In line 
with the ASHRAE 62.1.2007 
standard, 30% more fresh air 
is pumped into the building. 
Negative pressure is created in 
cleaning rooms and parking areas, 
to prevent the entry of polluted 
air into the building’s ventilation 

Torun Tower supports public 
transportation with its close 
proximity to public transit hubs, 
and reduces carbon dioxide 
emissions arising from individual 
car use by encouraging bicycle 
use with the development’s 
bicycle parks and shower facilities. 
The project assigns the most 
prominent section of parking lots 
to eco-friendly cars with a view to 
emphasizing the importance of 
vehicles with low emissions and 
high fuel efficiency. In order to 
facilitate night vision and reduce 
light pollution, the project has a 
meticulous indoor and outdoor 
lighting design.

In order to reduce water 
consumption at Torun Tower, 
highly efficient faucets with 
sensors are used, yielding a 45% 
drop in the consumption of city 
water. The use of flush tanks and 
urinals with a low flow rate cuts 
waste-water by 50% and lightens 
the burden on sewage systems. 
Meanwhile, to lower water 
consumption in landscaped areas, 

Environment friendly features 
at Torium Shopping Mall and 
practices encouraging energy 
saving are recognized by US 
Green Building Council. Torium 
is Turkey’s first Shopping Mall 
to receive LEED (Leadership 
in Energy and Environmental 
Design) certification and it is one 
of the largest buildings in Europe 
to hold this certificate. 

Breathing new life into the 
office concept with a prime 
location, unique architecture 
and A Plus status, Torun Tower 
was deemed worthy of LEED 
Gold Certification on July 21, 
2014 having fulfilled LEED 
criteria concerning sustainable 
spaces, water efficiency, energy 
and atmosphere, materials and 
resources, as well as inner air 
quality.

At Torun Tower, local materials corresponding to 50% of 
construction cost were utilized so as to contribute to the 
local economy and avoid environmental pollution arising 
from fuel consumption linked to transport.

SUSTAINABILITY
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system. In highly populated food 
court areas and parking facilities, 
carbon sensors are deployed to 
keep indoor air quality under 
control.

Torun Tower became the second 
Torunlar REIC project to obtain 
LEED Gold Certification, after its 
first shopping mall investment 
in İstanbul, Torium. Torunlar 
REIC’s Mall of İstanbul which 
opened in May 2014 as the 
largest entertainment, shopping 
and living center in the country, 
received LEED Gold certification 
in May 2015. 

During the LEED certification 
process, our team acts with the 
mission of leaving sustainable 
and eco-friendly buildings to 
future generations by creating 
sustainable areas, and making 
innovations in water efficiency, 
energy and atmosphere, materials 
and resources, inner space quality 
and design.

The various activities carried out 
through the LEED certification 
process is summarized below:
• The side chosen for our 

projects are located near 
public transportation hubs and 
thus reduce CO2 emissions by 
promoting public transit rather 
than individual vehicle use. 

• In lighting design, the Company 
opts for solutions that reduce 
light pollution and facilitate 
night vision.

• Erosion and sedimentation 
control (ESC) is carried out to 
avoid air and water pollution 
and to prevent soil loss.

• To prevent the heat island 
effect, parking facilities are 
placed underground, and green 
roof applications and materials 
with reflective dyes are used.

• In order to cut water 
consumption, the Company 
opts for faucets with sensors, 
flush tanks and urinals with a 
low flow rate, local plants with 
low water consumption, and 
drip irrigation systems. 

• Plus, gases detrimental to the 
ozone layer are not used in 
cooling and heating systems, 
with special energy models set 
up to save energy. 

• Use of recycled materials, 
and local materials to avoid 
environmental pollution arising 
from fuel consumption linked to 
transport are other important 
measures to make material 
usage sustainable.

In line with its economic growth 
and productivity goals, Torunlar 
REIC employs an optimal number 
of personnel. Torunlar REIC had 
105 employees (2017: 176) at 
2017 year-end. Gender is not 
a criterion for determining 
remuneration. Male and female 
employees are on the same 
salary scale; female and male 
employees receive similar salaries. 

The infrastructure required to 
ensure culture of occupational 
health and safety across all 
construction, shopping centers 
and factories affiliated to 
Torunlar REIC was established 
and the necessary studies to 
provide continuance carried 
out. Within this scope, our 
organization sustains this culture 
by regularly providing trainings 
and inspections to our employees, 
subcontractors, interns and 
suppliers.

We obtain all our requirements 
from national and international 
published standards, particularly 
Labor Law No. 4857, Law No. 
6331 on Occupational Health and 
Safety and related regulations 
and communiques, and best 
practices for collective protection 
in the industry and its employees.

At Torunlar REIC, our aim is to 
protect our employees from 
possible workplace accidents 
and occupational illnesses, to 
ensure that they work in a safe 
environment, and to create 
healthy conditions in legal, social, 
economic and administrative 
terms. 

Torunlar REIC adopts a proactive 
approach to occupational health 
and safety; identifies risks before 
they occur; takes preventive 
measures with a continuous 
improvement perspective; and 
ensures that its own employees 
and interns, as well as the 
employees of suppliers and 
contractors are happy, healthy 
and safe in their working 
environment.

At all workplaces, employees 
participate in training seminars, 
where they are informed of 
good and bad practices, near-
misses and accidents concerning 
occupational health and safety 
in Turkey and across the world. 
Lessons are drawn from the 
bad practices, near-misses and 
accidents in order to prevent 
the repetition of such events by 
taking the necessary preventive 
measures. The Company 
implements corrective and 
preventive actions to further 
improve workplace health and 
safety conditions, and to ensure 
continuity and sustainability. 
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Responsibility in Occupational 
Health and Safety:
• Provides guidance to 

employees, as well as suppliers, 
interns, visitors and the 
employees of subcontractors 
in issues of occupational 
health and safety, and 
encourages personnel to 
constantly communicate 
among themselves and with 
their managers due to the 
importance of employee 
participation in the safety 
culture.

Social Responsibility:
• Guarantees the health, safety 

and social welfare of employees 
at each level, visitors, and 
subcontractors with due 
consideration of the impact of 
all the Company’s activities on 
the environment and people, 
aims at minimizing any possible 
material and moral damages to 
them and their families.

To this end, Torunlar REIC is 
committed to continuing its 
efforts to establish a healthy 
working environment in the 
workplaces.

Continuous Improvement:
• Ensures the participation of 

every level of the organization 
as well as stakeholders in order 
to improve the occupational 
health and safety performance;

• Implements preventive and 
corrective measures related to 
occupational health and safety.

Employees: 
• Demonstrates a proactive 

approach to occupational 
health and safety, identifies 
risks beforehand, takes 
preventive measures with 
a continuous improvement 
perspective, and ensures that 
employees work in a happy, 
health and safe fashion.

Occupational Health and Safety 
Policy
A leader in constructing, 
developing and managing 
shopping malls, entertainment 
centers, residences, office 
space, hotels, logistics centers, 
commercial and industrial 
buildings, and other multipurpose 
living and business center 
investments, Torunlar REIC 
defines its primary business 
objective as the generation of 
the required technical, financial 
and human resources in order to 
protect the health and welfare of 
the Company’s employees and 
surrounding communities and to 
minimize losses. To these ends, 
Torunlar REIC takes the following 
measures:

Customer Orientation:
• Fosters a culture of 

occupational health and safety, 
and turns this corporate culture 
into a lifestyle;

• Monitors and implements the 
standards put forth by the 
institutions that it is a member 
of, in addition to adhering to 
occupational health and safety 
requirements; controls these on 
a regular basis and checks for 
compliance.

Torunlar REIC defines its primary business objective as the 
generation of the required technical, financial and human 
resources in order to protect the health and welfare of the 
Company’s employees and surrounding communities and to 
minimize losses.

SUSTAINABILITY
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As of December 31, 2018, the Company had 105 employees. We staff non-unionized employees who are subject 
to the Labor Act. There is no collective bargaining. There are no rights and benefits offered excluding the 
monthly salary.

Aside from its subsidiaries, affiliates and joint venture companies, the Company does not have branches and 
employees outside of its headquarters.

As of December 31, 2018, 62% of the Company’s consolidated assets are financed by shareholders’ equity 
(December 31, 2017: 56%) and 38% by external sources (December 31, 2017: 44%). 

The Company uses external financing to make investments in line with corporate strategies and to ensure 
business continuity. The Company’s net financial debt rose from TRY 3,004 million in 2017 to  
TRY 3,990 million in 2018. 

The Company works actively to devise strategies and policies towards identifying, measuring, reporting 
and managing inherent risks.

Our company closely monitors economic developments and evaluates the opportunities of operational assets 
purchases with land and/or rental income.

PERSONNEL AND WORKER ACTIONS, COLLECTIVE BARGAINING PRACTICES, RIGHTS 
AND BENEFITS OFFERED TO PERSONNEL AND WORKERS

INFORMATION ABOUT OUTSIDE ORGANIZATIONS

COMPANY FINANCING SOURCES AND RISK MANAGEMENT POLICIES

PROJECTIONS ABOUT THE COMPANY’S PROGRESS
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As per Article 8 (“Principles of Corporate Governance Compliance Reports”) of Capital Markets Board’s 
Communiqué on Corporate Governance (Serial: II-17.1), which came into effect after publication in the Official 
Gazette, dated January 3, 2014, no changes have occurred during the period.

The Company does not make use of any discount benefits applied to investment incentives.

As a real estate investment company, Torunlar REIC does not undertake any R&D activities. The Company 
assigns professional consulting firms to carry out market research studies and other necessary analyses.

The Company did not issue any capital market instruments during the period.

According to the consolidated financial statements, the Company has TRY 204 million cash and cash deposits.

CHANGES AFFECTING THE IMPLEMENTATION OF PRINCIPLES OF CORPORATE 
GOVERNANCE

DEVELOPMENTS IN INVESTMENTS, USE OF INCENTIVES, TO WHAT EXTENT INCENTIVES 
HAVE BEEN USED, IF ANY

RESEARCH AND DEVELOPMENT ACTIVITIES

QUALITY AND AMOUNT OF CAPITAL MARKET INSTRUMENTS ISSUED

MONEY AND CAPITAL MARKET INSTRUMENTS
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Detailed information is provided in the appendix of this annual report, titled Summary Consolidated Financial 
Statements and Footnotes for the Accounting Period January 1-December 31, 2018.

Detailed information is provided in the appendix of this annual report, titled Summary Consolidated Financial 
Statements and Footnotes for the Accounting Period January 1-December 31, 2018.

The Company continues its investments by carefully maintaining the balance between shareholders’ equity and 
external financing.

Resumes of the Members on the Board of Directors have been provided previously. In the year 2018,  
TRY 2,611 thousand was paid to the to the senior management for remuneration and benefits.

As per Article 6 of the Articles of Association, the Company may make donations to foundations and such 
individuals and/or institutions established for various purposes, subject to the regulations of the Capital Markets 
Board.

A total of TRY 643 thousand was donated and/or provided as support during the period of January 1, 2018 to 
December 31, 2018. 

CHARACTERISTICS AND CAPACITY UTILIZATION RATES OF THE COMPANY’S PRODUCTION 
UNITS; RELATED DEVELOPMENTS; CAPACITY UTILIZATION RATE; DEVELOPMENTS IN 
PRODUCT AND SERVICE PRODUCTION IN THE CORE BUSINESS AREA; AMOUNT, QUALITY, 
DEMAND AND PRICES IN COMPARISON WITH PRIOR PERIODS

PRODUCT AND SERVICE PRICES; SALES REVENUES; SALES CONDITIONS AND 
RELATED DEVELOPMENTS THAT TOOK PLACE DURING THE YEAR; IMPROVEMENTS 
IN PERFORMANCE AND PRODUCTIVITY COEFFICIENTS; REASONS FOR SIGNIFICANT 
CHANGES COMPARED WITH PREVIOUS YEARS

MEASURES CONSIDERED TO IMPROVE THE COMPANY’S FINANCIAL STRUCTURE

CHANGES IN THE SENIOR MANAGEMENT DURING THE YEAR AND NAME, SURNAME 
AND PROFESSIONAL EXPERIENCE OF THE PEOPLE WHO ARE CURRENTLY ON THE JOB 
AND BENEFITS CURRICULUM VITAE FOR THE MEMBERS OF THE BOARD HAVE BEEN 
GIVEN BEFORE

INFORMATION ON EXPENDITURES PERFORMED AS DONATIONS AND SUPPORT UNDER 
THE FRAMEWORK OF SOCIAL RESPONSIBILITY PROJECTS IN 2018



128

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRINCIPLES COMPLIANCE STATEMENT

Torunlar Real Estate Investment Company (Torunlar REIC), being a pioneering and leading publicly held 
company in its industry in terms of its size, recognizes the responsibilities incumbent thereupon towards its 
shareholders. Within this framework, having adopted the principles of “equality,” “transparency,” “accountability” 
and “responsibility” that constitute the basis of corporate governance in its activities, the Company exercises 
due diligence with regard to compliance with the Capital Markets Law (“CML”) and the secondary regulations 
and resolutions of the Capital Markets Board (“CMB”). Our Company duly adopted and implemented the 
mandatory corporate governance principles, as stipulated in the Annex of the Corporate Governance 
Communiqué, in the fiscal period ending on December 31, 2018. Utmost care is paid to compliance with 
voluntary principles, with which compliance is not mandatory in the applicable legislation. Those principles, 
for which the Company has not achieved full compliance, have not resulted in a conflict of interest between 
stakeholders. 

Torunlar Gayrimenkul Yatırım Ortaklığı A.Ş. (Torunlar REIC) adopts the “Capital Markets Board Corporate 
Governance Principles,” as set forth by the Capital Markets Board (CMB); closely monitors the changes that 
emerge in this area; believes in the necessity of compliance with the aforementioned principles to create 
value for all stakeholders; and continues to undertake efforts to ensure full compliance with the “Corporate 
Governance Principles.” In the activity period that ended as of 31 December 2018, necessary explanations are 
provided in the annual report, relevant sections of the Corporate Governance Compliance Report (“CGCR”) and 
the Corporate Governance Fact Sheet(“CGFS”) and this report as to the corporate governance principles in the 
annexes of the Communiqué on Corporate Governance with which the compliance is achieved as well as the 
ones that are not yet complied with. Taking into account the amendments of the regulations and the practices, 
future efforts will continue to improve our corporate governance practices including the limited number of 
unimplemented principles and, to ensure, within the framework of these principles, the better operation of the 
mechanisms. Torunlar REIC’s “Report of Compliance with Corporate Governance Principles,” prepared according 
to the principles published by the Capital Markets Board, covering the accounting period from January 1 to 
December 31, 2018, is presented below for your information. Pursuant to the Capital Markets Board decision 
no. 2/49 on January 10, 2019 and the Corporate Governance Communiqué no. II-17.1, Corporate Governance 
Compliance will be reported on the KAP (Public Disclosure Platform), using the templates of Corporate 
Governance Compliance Report (CGCR) and Corporate Governance Fact Sheet (CGFS). Our Company’s Report 
of Compliance with Corporate Governance Principles, as well as the aforementioned templates, can be found in 
the annex of Board of Directors’ Annual report and at the corporate website of our Company.

TORUNLAR REIC REPORT OF COMPLIANCE WITH  
CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRINCIPLES
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE COMPLIANCE REPORT (CGCR) AND CORPORATE GOVERNANCE INFORMATION 
FORM (CGFS)

The Corporate Governance Compliance Report and Corporate Governance Information Fact Sheet, prepared 
in accordance with the Capital Markets Board decision no. 2/49 on January 10, 2019 and the Corporate 
Governance Communiqué no. II-17.1, are provided below. 

1. SHAREHOLDERS 

1.1. Facilitation of Exercising of Shareholder Rights  

The number of investor conferences and meetings organized 
by the Company throughout the year

Meetings were held with 21 fund managers and 9 analysts. 
The Company attended one conference abroad. One year-end 

analyst meeting was conducted.

1.2. The Right to Obtain and Analyze Information 

The number of special auditor requests 0

The number of special auditor requests that were accepted in the general assembly meeting 0

1.3. General Assembly

The link of the announcement made in the Public Disclosure Platform (KAP), 
which includes the information requested under the principle 1.3.1 (a-d) https://www.kap.org.tr/tr/Bildirim/685513

Whether the general assembly meeting documents were presented in 
Turkish and English languages simultaneously They were not.

The links of the announcements made in the Public Disclosure Platform 
(KAP) related to the transactions which were not approved by the majority 
of independent members, or were not approved unanimously by the 
attendees, under the principle 1.3.9 N/A

The links of the announcements made in the Public Disclosure Platform 
(KAP) related to the transactions carried out with affiliated parties, under 
the Communiqué on Corporate Governance (II-17.1), article 9 https://www.kap.org.tr/tr/Bildirim/669006

The links of the announcements made in the Public Disclosure Platform 
(KAP) related to the transactions that are of a frequent and continuous 
nature, under the Communiqué on Corporate Governance (II-17.1),  
article 10 N/A

The heading of the section of the corporate website of the Company that 
includes the policy on charitable donations

Investor Relations/Corporate/Corporate 
Governance Principles Compliance Report

The link of the announcement made in the Public Disclosure Platform 
(KAP) which includes the minutes of the general assembly meeting in 
which the policy on charitable donations were approved https://www.kap.org.tr/tr/Bildirim/689476

The number of the article of the Articles of Association which regulates the 
attendance of stakeholders to the general assembly N/A

Information on the stakeholders that attended to the general assembly

Shareholders, the representative of the 
independent audit company and investors 

attended the 2017 General Assembly meeting. 
Rights of all stakeholders are protected within 

the framework of the ethical rules published by 
the board of directors. No restriction is in place.

1.4. Voting Rights

Whether there are any privileged voting rights Yes

Privileged shareholders and their privileged voting rights, if any

Class A and B shares have the privilege to nominate 
candidates for elections to be made to the  

Board of Directors.

Share percentage of the biggest shareholder 37.4%
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1.5. Minority Rights

Whether the minority rights are expanded in the Company's Articles of Association 
(with respect to content or rate) No

If the minority rights were expanded with respect to content or rate, please state the 
number of the related article of the Articles of Association. -

1.6. Dividend Right
 

The heading of the section of the corporate website of the Company that  
includes the dividend policy

Investor Relations/Corporate/ Profit 
Distribution Policy

If the Board of Directors have proposed to the general assembly not to pay dividends, 
the minutes of the related general assembly agenda item which includes the reason 
not to pay dividends, and the utilization method of the undistributed profit -

If the Board of Directors has proposed to the general assembly not to pay dividends, 
the link of the announcement made in the Public Disclosure Platform (KAP) which 
includes the related general assembly meeting minutes -

The Date of 
the General 

Assembly

The number 
of additional 
explanations 

requested from 
the Company 
related to the 

agenda of 
the general 

assembly

The rate of the 
shareholders 

that attended 
the general 

assembly

The rate 
of shares 
that were 

represented 
directly

The rate 
of shares 
that were 

represented in 
proxy

The heading of 
the section of 
the corporate 

website of 
the Company 
that includes 
the general 

assembly 
meeting 
minutes, 
including 

affirmative 
and negative 
votes on each 
agenda item

The heading of 
the section of 
the corporate 

website of 
the Company 
that includes 
the questions 

asked in 
the general 

assembly, and 
the replies 
provided

The number 
of the article 
or paragraph 

of the general 
assembly 
meeting 
minutes, 
including 

information 
on affiliated 

parties

The number 
of persons 
who have 
privileged 
access to 
Company 

information 
and who are 
notifying to 
the Board of 
Directors (list 

of insiders)

The link of the 
disclosure made 

in the Public 
Disclosure 

Platform (KAP) 
on the general 

assembly

19/06/2018 0 7.18% 90.38% 9.62%

Investor 
Relations/

General 
Assembly/

General 
Assembly 
Meeting 
Minutes

Investor 
Relations/

General 
Assembly/

General 
Assembly 
Meeting 
Minutes 12 20

https:// www.
kap.org.tr/ tr/

Bildirim/689476

2. PUBLIC DISCLOSURE AND TRANSPARENCY  

2.1. Corporate Website  

The headings of the sections of the corporate website of the 
Company that includes information required by the corporate 
governance principle numbered 2.1.1 About Us, Investor Relations
The heading of the section of the corporate website of the 
Company that includes the list of real person shareholders 
who own more than 5% of the Company's shares, directly or 
indirectly About Us / Shareholding Structure
Languages in which the corporate website is presented Turkish-English
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2.2. Annual Report 

Page numbers or section headings of the annual report which include the information mentioned in the 
corporate governance principle numbered 2.2.2  

a) Page number or section heading of the annual report which includes 
the jobs of board members and executives outside the Company, and 
independence statements of board members Annual Report - Board of Directors
b) Page number or section heading of the annual report which includes 
information on the committees created under the Board of Directors Annual Report - Board of Directors
c) Page number or section heading of the annual report which includes 
the number of board meetings held throughout the year, and the 
members' attendance record Annual Report - Board of Directors
d) Page number or section heading of the annual report which includes 
information on regulatory changes that can have a significant impact 
on the Company's activities

Annual Report - Amendment to the Real Estate 
Legislation

e) Page number or section heading of the annual report which includes 
information on significant lawsuits filed against the Company, and their 
probable outcomes

Annual Report - Financial Statements and 
Independent Auditor's Report - Note 13 Short-Term 

provisions - Provisions for Lawsuits
f) Page number or section heading of the annual report which includes 
information on the conflicts of interest between the Company and 
entities providing investment advisory and rating services to the 
Company, and the precautions taken to prevent these

Annual Report - Risks and Evaluation of the Board of 
Directors

g) Page number or section heading of the annual report which includes 
information on cross holding cases where direct shareholding exceeds 5%

Annual Report - Subsidiaries and Related Party 
Transactions

h) Page number or section heading of the annual report which 
includes information on fringe benefits and professional development 
of employees as well as other corporate social responsibility 
activities related to the Company’s operations that have social and 
environmental impacts 

Annual Report - Personnel and Worker Actions, 
Collective Bargaining Practices, Rights and Benefits 

Offered to Personnel and Workers - Corporate Social 
Responsibility Activities

 
3. STAKEHOLDERS 

3.1. Company Policy Concerning the Stakeholders 

The heading of the section of the corporate website of 
the Company that includes the policy on indemnities

Employees of the Company are subject to the Labor Code and the 
provisions of the applicable legislation. There is no compensation 

policy other than the legal compensation stipulated by Law and 
applicable regulations.

The number of court decisions against the Company that 
has become final, which are the result of the violations of 
employee rights N/A

The title of the Company official in charge of reporting 
of violations Audit Committee

Contact information of the Company's mechanism for 
reporting of violations info@torunlargyo.com.tr 

3.2. Encouraging Stakeholder Participation in Management of the Company

The heading of the section of the corporate website of the Company 
that includes internal regulations on participation of employees to 
managerial bodies of the Company None.

Managerial bodies where employees are represented N/A
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3.3. Human Resources Policy of the Company

The role of the Board of Directors on developing a succession plan for 
key executive positions None.

The heading of the section of the corporate website of the Company 
that includes the human resources policy on the hiring criteria and 
providing equal opportunities to candidates, or a summary of the 
related articles of the policy None.

Whether there is a share acquisition plan for employees There is not a share acquisition plan for employees. 

The heading of the section of the corporate website of the Company 
that includes the human resources policy on preventing discrimination 
and harassment, or a summary of the related articles of the policy Investor Relations - Corporate - Rules of Ethics

The number of court decisions against the Company that has become 
final, which are the result of liabilities associated with work accidents 6

3.5. Rules of Ethics and Social Responsibility 

The heading of the section of the corporate website of the 
Company that includes the policy on ethical rules Investor Relations - Corporate - Rules of Ethics

The heading of the section of the corporate website of the 
Company which includes the report on corporate social 
responsibility. If there is not a report on corporate social 
responsibility, precautions taken with respect to environment, 
social issues and corporate governance

Can be found in the reports on Investor 
relations, financial statements and annual 

reports. Our Company has placed importance 
on social and cultural activities since the day 

it was established. No claim was submitted 
against the Company due to harm to the 

environment during the period. Due attention 
was paid to social responsibility projects.

Precautions taken to fight all kinds of corruption, including 
fraud and bribery

Torunlar REIC's Board Members, employees 
and all third parties acting on behalf of group 
companies are required to avoid any behavior 
and action that may bring the Torunlar Group 
under suspicion of corruption. It is prohibited 

to receive or extend any cash or non-cash 
benefit from or to the public or private sector 

that may fall under the scope of corruption.
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4. BOARD OF DIRECTORS-I

4.2. Fundamentals of Activities of Board of Directors 

The date of the last performance evaluation for the Board of Directors None.

Whether independent experts take roles in the performance evaluation 
for the Board of Directors No

Whether all board members are discharged Yes

Names of authorized board members, and the content of their 
authorization

There is no Board Member who was handed 
over an authority via delegation of tasks.

The number of reports presented to the Audit Board or other related 
committees by the internal control department N/A

Page number or section heading of the annual report which include the 
evaluation on the effectiveness of the internal control system

Investor Relations / Financial Statements / 
Annual Reports / Information Regarding the 

Company's Internal Control System and 
Internal & External Audit Activities

The name of the chairman of the board Aziz Torun

The name of the executive head / general manager Aziz Torun

The link of the announcement made in the Public Disclosure Platform 
(KAP), where the reasoning is explained for the chairman of the board 
and the executive head/general manager being the same person https://www.kap.org.tr/tr/Bildirim/159593

The link of the announcement made in the Public Disclosure Platform 
(KAP), stating that an insurance policy was purchased with a coverage 
amount of more than 25% of the Company's capital, covering the losses 
that may be incurred because of the faulty actions of board members 
during their term

There is an administrative liability insurance  
covering the claims against the Company that may 

result from any negligence by board members 
during the performance of their duties. Such 

insurance does not exceed 25% of the capital. 

The heading of the section of the corporate website of the Company 
that includes the diversity policy to increase the rate of female board 
members None.

The number and rate of female board members 0

Structure of the Board

Aziz Torun Executive Non-Independent 20/09/1996 None No Yes 

Mehmet Torun Executive Non-Independent 03/05/2010 None No Yes 

Mahmut 
Karabıyık Non-Executive Non-Independent 21/01/2008 None No Yes 

Prof. Dr. Ali Alp Non-Executive Non-Independent 08/02/2010 None No Yes 

Ramadan 
Kumova Non-Executive

Independent Board 
Member 19/06/2018 Evaluated No Yes 

Kenan Yavuz Non-Executive
Independent Board 

Member 19/06/2018 Evaluated No Yes

İbrahim Kemal 
Tosun Non-Executive 

Independent Board 
Member 19/06/2018 Evaluated No Yes



134

BOARD OF DIRECTORS-II 

4.4. Structure of Board of Directors Meetings 

The number of board meetings held by means of physical gathering 
during the accounting period 62

Average attendance rate to the board meetings 100%

Whether there is a web portal in place to facilitate the activities of the 
board of directors No 

When do the information and documents are presented to board 
members as per the working rules of the board of directors (how many 
days before the meeting) 5 days

The heading of the section of the corporate website of the Company 
that includes information on internal regulations of the Company which 
specify the rules for board meetings

Corporate Website - Articles of Association -  
Board of Directors' Meetings

The limitation specified in the policy for the board members for having 
other jobs outside the Company

There is no restriction for Members of the Board 
of Directors to assume any role(s) outside the 

Company while the Company complies with the 
Turkish Commercial Code provisions related to the 

competition ban.

4.5. Committees Created under the Board of Directors

Page number or section heading of the annual report which include 
information on the committees of the board of directors

Annual Report/Board of Directors/Board 
Committees

The link of the announcement made in the Public Disclosure Platform 
(KAP), which includes the working rules for committees

The working rules for committees are found at our 
corporate website. Investor Relations/Corporate/

Board Committees
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Board of Directors Committees

Names of Board of  
Directors Committees

Name of the 
Committee which is 
Stated as "Other" in 

the First Column
Name and Surname of 

Committee Members

Committee 
Chairman or 

Not Board Member or Not

Corporate Governance 
Committee Kenan Yavuz Yes Board Member 

Corporate Governance 
Committee Habibe Didem Hömek No Not a Board Member 

Corporate Governance 
Committee Pelin Örsel No Not a Board Member

Audit Committee Kenan Yavuz Yes 

Board Member, Audit 
Committee Ali Alp No Board Member

Audit Committee Ramadan Kumova No Board Member 

Early Detection of Risk 
Committee Ramadan Kumova Yes Board Member

Early Detection of Risk 
Committee Remzi Aydın No Not a Board Member 

Early Detection of Risk 
Committee İsmail Kazanç No Not a Board Member 

Nomination Committee Ramadan Kumova Yes Board Member 

Nomination Committee İbrahim Kemal Tosun No Board Member

Nomination Committee Ali Alp No Board Member

Remuneration Committee Ramadan Kumova Yes Board Member 

Remuneration Committee Ali Alp No Board Member 

Remuneration Committee Kenan Yavuz No Board Member 

 
4. BOARD OF DIRECTORS-III 

4.5. Committees Created under the Board of Directors-II 

Please state the section of the annual report or the corporate website 
that includes information on the activities of the Audit Committee 
(page number or the section heading)

http://www.torunlargyo.com.tr/pdf/yonetimkurulu/
DENETIM_KOMITESI_YONETMELIGI_SUBAT_2014.

pdf 

Please state the section of the annual report or the corporate 
website that includes information on the activities of the Corporate 
Governance Committee (page number or the section heading)

http://www.torunlargyo.com.tr/pdf/yonetimkurulu/
KURUMSAL_YONETIM_KOMITESI_YONETMELIGI_

SUBAT_2014.pdf

Please state the section of the annual report or the corporate 
website that includes information on the activities of the Nomination 
Committee (page number or the section heading)

http://www.torunlargyo.com.tr/pdf/yonetimkurulu/ 
ADAY_GOSTERME_KOMITESI_YONETMELIGI_2014.

pdf

Please state the section of the annual report or the corporate website 
that includes information on the activities of the Early Detection of 
Risk Committee (page number or the section heading)

http://www.torunlargyo.com.tr/pdf/
yonetimkurulu/64_riskin_erken_saptanmasi_

komitesi_yonetmeligi.pdf

Please state the section of the annual report or the corporate website 
that includes information on the activities of the Remuneration 
Committee (page number or the section heading)

http://www.torunlargyo.com.tr/pdf/yonetimkurulu/ 
UCRET_KOMITESI_YONETMELIGI_SUBAT_2014.pdf 
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4.6. Financial Rights of the Board Members and Executive Directors
 

Page number or section heading of the annual report which includes 
information on the Company's operational and financial performance 
objectives, and whether these objectives have been accomplished

Investor Relations - Annual Reports - Evaluation of 
Operating Results

The heading of the section of the corporate website of the Company 
that includes the wage policy for executive and non-executive board 
members Investor Relations - Corporate - Remuneration Policy

Page number or section heading of the annual report which states 
the wages and other benefits provided to board members and other 
executives having administrative responsibilities

Investor Relations - Annual Reports - Board of 
Directors

Board Committees-II

Names of Board 
of Directors 
Committees

Name of the 
Committee 

Referred to as 
"Other" in the First 

Column

The Rate of Non-
Executive Board 

Members

Rate of 
Independent 

Members in the 
Committee

Number of Physical 
Meetings In the 

Committee

Number of 
Reports on 
Committee 

Activities 
Submitted to the 

Board of Directors

Corporate 
Governance 
Committee 100% 33.33% 4 4

Audit Committee 100% 66.66% 4 4

Early Detection of 
Risk Committee 33.33% 33.33% 6 6

Nomination 
Committee 100% 66.66% 1 1

Remuneration 
Committee 100% 66.66% 1 1
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Corporate Governance Compliance Report

Compliance Status
Yes Partial No Exempt N/A Explanation

Corporate Governance Compliance Report
1.1. FACILITATION OF EXERCISING SHAREHOLDER RIGHTS 
1.1.2 - Information and disclosures, which may impact the exercise 
of shareholder rights, are updated regularly on the Company's 
website, with the aim of informing the public and investors. X
1.2. RIGHT TO OBTAIN AND EXAMINE INFORMATION
1.2.1. - Company management avoids any procedures that would 
hinder a special audit. X
1.3. GENERAL ASSEMBLY
1.3.2 - The Company ensures the agenda of the General Assembly 
is clearly announced and each proposal is submitted under a 
separate heading. X
1.3.7 - Persons, who have the opportunity to access the Company’s 
information in a privileged manner, have informed the Board of 
Directors so as to ensure that information regarding transactions 
conducted on behalf of themselves, in the scope of the 
Company’s field of activity, is added to the agenda and presented 
in the General Assembly. X
1.3.8 - The members of the board of directors associated with 
issues of a special nature on the agenda, other relevant persons, 
authorized persons who were responsible for preparing the 
financial statements, and auditors were present at the general 
assembly meeting. X
1.3.10-The amounts and beneficiaries of all the donations and aids 
were presented under a separate heading in the agenda of the 
general assembly. X
1.3.11 - The General Assembly Meeting was public, including 
stakeholders and press members, who did not have the right to 
ask for the floor. X
1.4. VOTING RIGHT
1.4.1 - There is no restriction and practice that would hinder 
shareholders' exercise of their voting rights. X

1.4.2- The Company does not have any shares with a privileged 
voting right. X

There is no privilege in 
voting rights. Shareholders 
or their proxies present at 

general assembly meetings 
shall have one vote per 

share Class A and B shares 
have the privilege to 

nominate candidates for 
elections to be made to 

the Board of Directors.
1.4.3 - The Company did not exercise its voting rights at the 
General Assembly of an entity, with which it has any cross-
shareholding relationship that results in control of management. X
1.5. MINORTY RIGHTS

1.5.1- The Company paid due care to the exercise of minority 
rights. X

Minority rights are not 
represented on the board 

of directors.
1.5.2- The Articles of Association grants minority rights to those 
holding less than one twentieth of the stake in the capital; the 
scope of minority rights was amended and expanded in the 
Articles of Association. X

Minority rights are not 
defined in the articles of 

association.
1.6. DIVIDEND RIGHTS
1.6.1 - The dividend policy approved by the General Assembly is 
disclosed to the public on the corporate website of the Company. X
1.6.2 - The dividend policy contains the information that will 
allow shareholders to anticipate the procedures and principles of 
dividend distribution the Company will employ in the years ahead. X
1.6.3 - Reasons for not paying dividends, as well as how the unpaid 
dividends will be used, were explained in relevant item of the 
agenda. X
1.6.4 - The Board of Directors reviewed shareholders' interests and 
whether or not there is a balance between shareholders' interests 
and the Company's interests in the dividend policy. X
1.7. TRANSFER OF SHARES
1.7.1 - There is no restriction that would hinder the transfer of 
shares. X
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Compliance Status
Yes Partial No Exempt N/A Explanation

2.1. CORPORATE WEBSITE
2.1.1 - The corporate website of the Company covers all the items 
under the corporate governance principle no. 2.1.1. X
2.1.2- The shareholding structure (the names, privileges, the 
number and ratio of shares for real persons who hold more than 
5% of the issued capital) is updated at least once in every six 
months on the corporate website. X

2.1.4 - Information on the corporate website is also available 
in foreign languages chosen as necessary, with content being 
entirely same as Turkish. X

Some parts of the 
corporate website is 

available in English, in 
addition to Turkish.

2.2. ANNUAL REPORT
2.2.1 - The Board of Directors ensures that the annual report 
reflects the Company's activities fully and accurately. X
2.2.2 - The annual report incorporates all the topics under 
principle no. 2.2.2. X
3.1. COMPANY POLICY REGARDING STAKEHOLDERS
3.1.1- The rights of the stakeholders are protected under 
applicable regulations, agreements and goodwill. X

3.1.3 - Policies and procedures regarding stakeholders' rights are 
published on the corporate website of the company. X

Corporate Governance 
compliance report, 

Rules of Ethics, CMB 
continuous information 

form, information society 
service, dividend policy, 

remuneration policy
3.1.4 - Mechanisms necessary for the stakeholders to inform 
transactions contrary to law or ethics have been established. X
3.1.5 - The Company tackles conflicts of interest among 
stakeholders in a balanced manner. X
3.2. ENCOURAGING STAKEHOLDERS TO TAKE PART IN THE 
MANAGEMENT OF THE COMPANY

3.2.1 - Employee participation in management is governed by the 
articles of association and internal regulations. X

There is no related 
article in the articles of 

association.

3.2.2 - Methods including survey and consultation were followed to 
receive stakeholder opinion in material decisions with an impact 
on stakeholders. X

Stakeholder opinion 
was sought in material 

decisions with an impact 
on stakeholders; requests 

and suggestions were 
heard. However, no 

arrangement such as 
survey and otherwise was 

implemented.
3.3. HUMAN RESOURCES POLICY
3.3.1 - The Company has adopted an employment policy based 
on equal opportunity and a succession plan for all core executive 
positions. X

Efforts related with this 
area are ongoing at the 

Company.
3.3.2 - Recruitment criteria are defined in writing. X
3.3.3 - The Company has a Human Resources Development Policy 
in place and conducts training courses for employees. X

3.3.4 - Meetings were held to inform employees on subjects 
including the financial standing of the company, remuneration, 
career planning, training and health. X

Although information is 
provided periodically, no 

meeting is held since the 
efforts are ongoing.
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Compliance Status
Yes Partial No Exempt N/A Explanation

3.3.5 - Decisions that may have an impact on employees were 
communicated to them and employee representatives. Opinion of 
the trade union was heard regarding these topics. X

Decisions that may have 
an impact on employees 

are communicated to 
them and employee 

representatives. However, 
since there is no trade 

union, trade union opinion 
is not sought.

3.3.6 - Job descriptions and performance criteria for all employees 
were prepared in detail, communicated to employees and 
evaluated in decisions regarding remuneration. X
3.3.7 - Measures are implemented such as procedures, training 
courses, awareness-raising, goals, monitoring and complaint 
mechanisms so as to prevent employee discrimination and protect 
employees against physical, psychological and emotional abuse. X

3.3.8 - The Company promotes the freedom of association and 
effective recognition of the right to collective agreement. X

No measure is 
implemented to hinder 

the freedom of association 
and right to collective 

agreement. There is no 
policy which has been 

established in this regard.
3.3.9 - A safe working environment is provided to employees. X
3.4. RELATIONS WITH CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS
3.4.1- The Company has measured customer satisfaction and 
conducted operations to achieve full customer satisfaction. X
3.4.2 - Customers are informed in case of any delays in the 
handling of their requests regarding the goods and services 
purchased. X
3.4.3 - The Company observes the quality standards regarding 
goods and services. X
3.4.4 - The Company has established controls to protect the 
sensitive information and trade secrets of customers and 
suppliers. X
3.5. ETHICAL RULES AND SOCIAL RESPONSIBILITY
3.5.1 - The Board of Directors established the Code of Ethics and 
Conduct and published the same on the corporate website of the 
Company. X
3.5.2- The Company is considerate of its social responsibilities. 
Measures have been taken to prevent corruption and bribery. X
4.1. FUNCTIONS OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS
4.1.1- The Board of Directors ensures the implementation of an 
effective risk management system to prevent strategies and risks 
from jeopardizing the long-term interests of the Company. X
4.1.2- Agendas and minutes of meetings prove that the Board 
discussed and approved the strategic goals of the Company; 
identified the sources needed; and audited the performance of 
the management. X

There is no agenda or 
minutes for the Board 

meetings.
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Compliance Status
Yes Partial No Exempt N/A Explanation

4.2. BOARD OF DICRECTORS' PRINCIPLES OF ACTIVITY
4.2.1-The Board of Directors has documented its activities and 
presented the same to the shareholders. X

4.2.2- Authority and responsibility of the Board Members are 
explained in annual reports. X

In annual reports, authority 
and responsibility of 

the Board Members are 
defined pursuant to the 

Commercial Code.
4.2.3 - The Board of Directors has established an internal audit 
system in parallel with the size of the Company and complexity of 
its activities. X
4.2.4- Information on the functioning and effectiveness of the 
internal control mechanism is provided in the annual report. X
4.2.5 - Roles of the Chairman and Chief Executive Officer (general 
manager) have been separated and defined individually. X

https://www.kap.org.tr/tr / 
Bildirim/159593

4.2.7- The Board of Directors ensures that the investor relations 
department and corporate governance committee function 
effectively, while working in close cooperation with the investor 
relations department and corporate governance committee in 
resolving the disputes among shareholders and communicating 
with shareholders. X
4.2.8 - Regarding possible losses the Company may incur due 
to board members' negligence in performing their duties, the 
Company has taken out an administrative liability insurance at an 
amount exceeding 25% of the capital. X

No administrative liability 
insurance was taken out as 

this is an optional principle.
4.3. STRUCTURE OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS
4.3.9- The Company has set a goal of reaching 25% in the number 
of female members on the board and established a policy to 
achieve this goal. The structure of the board of directors is 
reviewed annually and the nomination process is run in accordance 
with this policy. X

A minimum 25% in the 
ratio of female members is 

not a goal pursued by the 
Board of Directors.

4.3.10 - At least one of the members on the audit committee has 
five years of experience in audit/accounting and finance. X
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Compliance Status
Yes Partial No Exempt N/A Explanation

4.4. THE FORMAT OF BOARD OF DIRECTORS' MEETINGS
4.4.1 - All board members physically attended majority of the 
meetings of the Board of Directors. X
4.4.2 - The Board of Directors has set a minimum time frame for 
the provision of information and documents related with the 
agenda to all board members. X

4.4.3 - The opinions of members who were unable attend the 
meeting, but who presented their opinions to the Board of 
Directors in writing were provided to the other Board members. X

There has been no 
situation in which a board 
member, who was unable 

to attend the meeting, 
provided opinions 

in writing. However, 
communication of such 

opinions, if provided by an 
absent member, to other 

members is essential.
4.4.4. - Each member of the Board of Directors has one voting 
right. X
4.4.5. - The structure of Board of Directors meetings was set down 
in writing as internal regulation of the Company. X
4.4.6 - The minutes of the meeting prove that all the items of the 
agenda are discussed; and the resolution book is prepared in a 
manner to cover all opposing opinions. X

4.4.7 - Restrictions apply to the board members who would 
assume duties outside the company. Duties assumed by the 
board members outside the company were presented to the 
shareholders at the general assembly meeting. X

General provisions apply 
to the board members in 

cases where they would 
assume duties outside the 

company. No restriction 
is in place. Resumes can 

be found at the corporate 
website and annual reports.

4.5. COMMITTEES ESTABLISHED UNDER THE BOARD OF 
DIRECTORS

4.5.5 - Each board member assumes duties only in one committee. X

One board member serves 
more than one committees 

due to the number of the 
board members.

4.5.6- Committees have invited people they deemed necessary to 
seek their opinions. X

No consultancy service was 
received.

4.5.7 - Information on the independence of the persons/entity, 
which provides a committee with consulting services, is presented 
in the annual report. X

No consultancy service was 
received.

4.5.8 - Reports were prepared on the outcomes of committee 
meetings and presented to the board members. X
4.6. FINANCIAL RIGHTS OF THE BOARD MEMBERS AND 
EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS
4.6.1 - The Board of Directors conducted a performance 
assessment on the board to evaluate whether or not it fulfilled its 
responsibilities effectively. X

Performance assessment 
is not being carried out for 

the Board of Directors.
4.6.4 - The company did not lend money, extend any credits, 
prolong the terms of existing loans and credits, improve the 
conditions thereof, and extend credit under the name of 
any personal credit means through a third person or provide 
warranties to a member of the board or the executives. X

4.6.5 - Remuneration granted to the board members and 
managers with administrative responsibilities are announced on 
an individual basis in the annual report. X

Wages, bonus payments 
and similar benefits 

granted to senior 
executives are announced 

collectively, not on an 
individual basis. 
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The financial statements of our Company have been prepared in compliance with the Capital Markets Board’s 
(CMB) Communiqué (Serial: II n.14.1) on the “Principles of Financial Reporting in Capital Markets” and with the 
generally accepted accounting principles and standards (GAAPs). Pursuant to Article 5 of the Communiqué, the 
Company complies with Turkish Accounting Standards/Turkish Financial Reporting Standards (TMS/ TFRS) and 
relevant annexes and comments, issued by the Public Oversight, Accounting and Auditing Standards Authority 
of Turkey (KGK).

In keeping the accounting records and preparing the statutory financial statements, the Company abides by the 
requirements of the Turkish Commercial Code (“TCC”), tax legislation and the Uniform Chart of Accounts issued 
by the Ministry of Finance. The attached financial statements, which reflect the fair value measurements of 
financial assets and liabilities, are based on historical cost accounting and are in Turkish Lira. These statements 
are the result of corrections and classifications made to the statutory TMS/TFRS records based on historical cost 
accounting, in order to ensure an accurate presentation. 

The Company has prepared the consolidated financial statements for the interim period which ended on 
December 31, 2018, in conformity with the Capital Markets Board's Communique (Serial: XII No. 14.1) and 
the Turkish Accounting Standard no. 34 “Interim Period Financial Reporting” and announcements clarifying 
this Communique. Interim consolidated financial statements and notes have been submitted, including the 
compulsory information, in conformity with the formats recommended by the Capital Markets Board. Audits 
by the Independent Audit Company are performed by DRT Bağımsız Denetim ve Serbest Muhasebeci Mali 
Müşavirlik A.Ş.(Deloitte). 

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS



TORUNLAR GAYRİMENKUL 
YATIRIM ORTAKLIĞI A.Ş. 
AND ITS SUBSIDIARY
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AND INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT 
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(CONVENIENCE TRANSLATION OF 
INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT ORIGINALLY ISSUED IN TURKISH)

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

To the General Assembly of Torunlar Gayrimenkul Yatırım Ortaklığı A.Ş.

A)  Report on the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements

1) Opinion

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Torunlar Gayrimenkul Yatırım Ortaklığı A.Ş. (“the 
Company”) and its subsidiary (together “the Group”), which comprise the consolidated statement of financial 
position as at 31 December 2018, and the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive 
income, consolidated statement of changes in equity and consolidated statement of cash flows for the year 
then ended, and notes to the consolidated financial statements, including a summary of significant accounting 
policies.

In our opinion, the accompanying consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, 
the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31 December 2018, and its consolidated financial 
performance and its cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with Turkish Financial Reporting 
Standards (TFRSs).

2) Basis for Opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with the Standards on Independent Auditing (“SIA”) which is a part of 
Turkish Auditing Standards published by the Public Oversight Accounting and Auditing Standards Authority 
(“POA”). Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for 
the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements section of our report. We are independent of the Group in 
accordance with the Code of Ethics for Independent Auditors (“Code of Ethics”) published by the POA, together 
with the ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of the consolidated financial statements, and we 
have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements and the Code of Ethics. 
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our 
opinion.

3) Key Audit Matters

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were of most significance in our audit of 
the consolidated financial statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in the context of our 
audit of the consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not 
provide a separate opinion on these matters.
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Key Audit Matter How the Matter was Addressed in the Audit

Valuation of Investment Properties

The Group, after initial recognition, measures its 
investment properties at fair value. As of 
31 December 2018, investment properties are carried 
by the value amounting to TL 10,143,533, which 
has been determined by an independent appraisal 
company. The relevant details for investment 
properties are presented in Note 8. 

This matter is considered as a key audit matter since 
the investment properties comprise a substantial 
part of the Group’s total assets and the calculations 
in order to determine fair value include significant 
estimates and assumptions. 

We performed the following audit procedures 
with regarding to the fair value calculation of the 
investment properties determined by the appraisal 
company:

• Assessing the competence and sector experience 
of the valuation specialists assigned by the Group 
management,

• Assessing the appropriateness of the valuation 
methods in the calculations within the valuation 
reports,

• Assessing the appropriateness of the basic variables 
such as estimated rent increases, estimated 
occupancy rates and estimated profit margins used 
in valuations with the Discounted Cash Flows (“DCF”) 
method, particularly for shopping malls.

• Comparing the estimates related to annual rent 
increases, occupancy rates and profit margins with 
actual results and assessing thhe appropriateness,

• Comparing discount rates and terminal growth 
rates used in DCF calculations with market data and 
the data received from independent sources and 
assessing the appropriateness,

• Assessing the reasonableness of the sensitivity 
analyses performed by changing discount rates, 
terminal growth rate and other basic variables, and 
valuation results,

• Performing recalculation of valuation work to ensure 
the accuracy of arithmetic calcularions and checking 
value increase/decrease to be reflected in the 
consolidated financial statements.

Additionally, we assessed the accuracy of the 
information and disclosures related to the valuation 
of invesment properties in the notes to the financial 
statements.
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4) Responsibilities of Management and Those Charged with Governance for the Consolidated Financial 
Statements

The Group Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these consolidated financial 
statements in accordance with TFRSs, and for such internal control as management determines is necessary to 
enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether 
due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the Group’s ability 
to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going 
concern basis of accounting unless management either intends to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or 
has no realistic alternative but to do so. 

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Group’s financial reporting process.

5) Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements

In an independent audit, our responsibilities as independent auditors are as follows:

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements as a 
whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that 
includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit 
conducted in accordance with the Independent Auditing Standards published by the Capital Markets Board 
will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are 
considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the 
economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with the standards on auditing issued by Capital Markets Board and SIA, we 
exercise professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. We also:

• Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether due 
to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence 
that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. (The risk of not detecting a material 
misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, 
forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.)

• Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are 
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the 
Group’s internal control.

• Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates 
and related disclosures made by the Group management.
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• Conclude on the appropriateness of management’s use of the going concern basis of accounting and, 
based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions 
that may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a 
material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures 
in the consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our 
conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future 
events or conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

• Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the consolidated financial statements, including 
the disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial statements represent the underlying transactions and 
events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

• Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities or business 
activities within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We are responsible 
for the direction, supervision and performance of the group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit 
opinion.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and 
timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that 
we identify during our audit.

We also provide those charged with governance with a statement that we have complied with relevant ethical 
requirements regarding independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that 
may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable, related safeguards.

From the matters communicated with those charged with governance, we determine those matters that 
were of most significance in the audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current period and are 
therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation 
precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that 
a matter should not be communicated in our report because the adverse consequences of doing so would 
reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.  
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B) Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements

In accordance with paragraph four of the Article 398 of the Turkish Commercial Code No. 6102 (“TCC”), the 
auditor’s report on the system and the committee of early detection of risk has been submitted to the Board of 
Directors of the Company on 11 March 2019.

In accordance with paragraph four of the Article 402 of TCC, nothing has come to our attention that may cause 
us to believe that the Company’s set of accounts and financial statements prepared for the period 1 January-31 
December 2018 does not comply with TCC and the provisions of the Company’s articles of association in relation 
to financial reporting.

In accordance with paragraph four of the Article 402 of TCC, the Board of Directors provided us all the required 
information and documentation with respect to our audit.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent auditor’s report is H. Erdem Selçuk.

DRT BAĞIMSIZ DENETİM VE SERBEST MUHASEBECİ MALİ MÜŞAVİRLİK A.Ş. 
Member of DELOITTE TOUCHE TOHMATSU LIMITED

H. Erdem Selçuk,
Partner

İstanbul, 11 March 2019
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 Notes

(Audited) 
Current Year

31 December 2018

(Audited)
 Prior Year

 31 December 2017
ASSETS  
 Current Assets    1,680,017   2,601,484 
   Cash and Cash Equivalents 4   204,337   602,432 
   Trade Receivables 7   174,151   172,631 
       Trade Receivables from Related Parties 7, 23   30,700   3,882 
       Trade Receivables from Third Parties 7   143,451   168,749 
   Other Receivables 11   12,398   1,642 
       Other Receivables from Third Parties    12,398   1,642 
   Inventories 9   1,261,004   1,624,998 
   Prepaid Expenses 6   14,275   52,555 
   Other Current Assets 10   13,852   147,226 
    
Non-Current Assets    10,594,422   8,734,333 
   Trade Receivables 7   10,661   33,498 
       Trade Receivables from Third Parties    10,661   33,498 
   Investments Accounted by Equity Method 12   348,425   315,593 
   Investment Properties 8   10,143,533   8,282,529 
   Property, Plant and Equipment    86,740   9,416 
   Intangible Assets    1,060   295 
       Other Intangible Assets    1,060   295 
   Prepaid Expenses 6   4,003   93,002 
    
Total Assets    12,274,439   11,335,817 

The consolidated financial statements as of 31 December 2018 were signed by Deputy of General Manager, 
İsmail Kazanç on behalf of the Board of Directors and by Accounting Manager, Erkan Çetin on 11 March 2019.

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

TORUNLAR GAYRİMENKUL YATIRIM ORTAKLIĞI A.Ş. AND ITS SUBSIDIARY
AUDITED CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF 
FINANCIAL POSITION AS OF 31 DECEMBER 2018
(AMOUNTS EXPRESSED IN THOUSANDS OF TURKISH LIRA (“TL”) UNLESS OTHERWISE STATED.)
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The accompanying notes form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

 Notes

(Audited) 
Current Year 

31 December 2018

(Audited)
 Prior Year 

31 December 2017
LIABILITIES  
Current Liabilities    2,356,846   2,215,527 
   Short-Term Borrowings 5    258,038   469,671 
   Short-Term Portion of Long-Term Borrowings 5    1,685,608   396,372 
   Other Payables 11    28,772   35,278 
       Other Payables to Third Parties    28,772   35,278 
   Derivative Instruments    -   277 
   Trade Payables 7    99,246   119,224 
       Trade Payables to Related Parties 7, 23   30,078   11,171 
       Trade Payables to Third Parties 7    69,168   108,053 
   Payables Related to Employee Benefits    1,818   2,496 
   Short-Term Provisions 13    9,807   10,527 
       Other Short-Term Provisions    9,807   10,527 
   Other Current Liabilities 10    175,973   5,172 
   Deferred Income 6    97,584   1,176,510 
   
Non-Current Liabilities    2,303,875   2,741,633 
   Long-Term Borrowings 5    2,250,389   2,740,433 
   Long-Term Provisions 13    1,182   1,200 
       Long-Term Provisions for Employee
          Benefits    1,182   1,200 
   Other Non-Current Liabilities 10    52,304   - 
    
EQUITY    7,613,718   6,378,657 
Share Capital 15    1,000,000   1,000,000 
Treasury Shares 15    (3,338)   (1,195)
   Share Premium 15    25,770   25,770 
   Restricted Reserves Appropriated From Profit    74,255   65,153 

- Legal reserves 15    74,255   65,153 
    Retained Earnings 15    5,229,827   4,833,821 
    Net Profit for the Period 15    1,287,204   455,108 
    
TOTAL LIABILITIES AND EQUITY    12,274,439   11,335,817 

TORUNLAR GAYRİMENKUL YATIRIM ORTAKLIĞI A.Ş. AND ITS SUBSIDIARY
AUDITED CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF 
FINANCIAL POSITION AS OF 31 DECEMBER 2018
(AMOUNTS EXPRESSED IN THOUSANDS OF TURKISH LIRA (“TL”) UNLESS OTHERWISE STATED.)
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 Notes

(Audited)
 1 January-

31 December 2018

(Audited) 
1 January-

31 December 2017
PROFIT OR LOSS   
  Revenue 16   1,954,283   780,140 
  Cost of Sales (-) 16   (1,069,194)   (271,486)
   
GROSS PROFIT/LOSS    885,089   508,654 
   
  Administrative Expenses (-) 17   (51,496)   (44,913)
  Marketing Expenses (-) 17   (6,424)   (11,051)
  Other Income From Operating Activities 19   1,777,183   393,425 
  Other Expenses From Operating Activities (-) 19   (1,394)   (1,754)
    
OPERATING PROFIT/LOSS    2,602,958   844,361 
   
  Share of the Group on Profit/(Loss) of Investments Accounted 
  by Equity Method 12   54,364   30,161 
    
OPERATING PROFIT BEFORE FINANCE INCOME/(EXPENSES)    2,657,322   874,522 
   
  Finance Income 20   64,665   67,229 
  Finance Expenses (-) 20   (1,434,783)   (486,643)
    
PROFIT/LOSS BEFORE TAX FROM CONTINUED OPERATIONS    1,287,204   455,108 
   
  Current Tax Expense/Income 22   -   - 
    
PROFIT/LOSS FOR THE PERIOD FROM CONTINUED OPERATIONS    1,287,204   455,108 
   
PROFIT/LOSS FOR THE PERIOD FROM DISCONTINUED 
OPERATIONS    -   - 
    
PROFIT/LOSS FOR THE PERIOD    1,287,204   455,108 
   
Earnings per share from continuing operations 21 1.29 0.46 
   
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME  -  
   
TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME  1,287,204 455,108 

TORUNLAR GAYRİMENKUL YATIRIM ORTAKLIĞI A.Ş. AND ITS SUBSIDIARY
AUDITED CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE 
INCOME FOR THE PERIOD 1 JANUARY – 31 DECEMBER 2018
(AMOUNTS EXPRESSED IN THOUSANDS OF TURKISH LIRA (“TL”) UNLESS OTHERWISE STATED.)

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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The accompanying notes form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

Notes

(Audited) 
Current Year 

1 January-
31 December 2018

(Audited) 
Prior Year 

1 January-
31 December 2017

A. CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES   271,785   60,667 
Profit for the Period   1,287,204   455,108 
Adjustments Related to Reconciliation of Profit for the Period   (649,381)   (45,592)
Adjustments related to unrealized foreign exchange differences   843,975   207,829 
Adjustments related to interest income and expenses 20   250,437   128,331 
Adjustments related to depreciation and amortisation expenses   1,241   1,312 
Adjustments related to doubtful trade receivable provision expenses 7   3,518   3,512 
Adjustments related to provisions   660   (3,356)
Adjustments related to fair value differences of derivative financial instruments   (277)   (2,974)
Adjustment related to gains arising from changes in the fair values of investment properties 8  (1,694,571)   (374,050)
Adjustments related to undistributed profits of investments accounted for by equity 
method   (54,364)   (6,196)
Changes in working capital   (365,360)   (348,067)

Adjustments related to decrease in trade receivables   17,799   66,541 
Adjustments related to decrease in trade payables   (19,978)   (22,038)
Adjustments related to decrease/(increase) in inventories   324,350   (422,915)
Adjustments related to decrease in prepaid expenses   39,179   42,643 
Adjustments related to increase/(decrease) in deferred income   (855,406)   22,564 
(Increase)/decrease in other current/non-current assets due to operations   135,202   (36,720)
Increase/(decrease) in other payables due to operations   (6,506)   1,858 
Cash generated from operations   272,463   61,449 

Employment termination benefits payment   (678)   (421)
Other payments -   (361)

B. CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES   (113,028)   (143,327)

Dividends received 12   19,389   18,761 

Payments for Acquisition of Property, Plant and Equipment and Intangible Assets   (60,040)   (7,493)
Payments for Acquisition of Investment Properties 8   (72,377)   (154,595)

C. CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES   (550,836)   177,388 

Interest received   70,609   63,220 
Interest paid   (301,243)   (97,922)
Proceeds from borrowings   1,048,123   2,651,296 
Repayment of borrowings  (1,318,397)  (2,392,706)
Cash inflows from derivative financial instruments   72   26,950 
Cash outflows from derivative financial instruments -   (23,450)
Dividends paid   (50,000)   (50,000)
Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents before the effect of exchange rate 
changes   (392,079)   94,728 

Effects of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents -   (6,510)

Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 4 (392,079)  88,218

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT THE BEGINNING OF THE PERIOD 4 595,219  507,001 
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT THE END OF THE PERIOD 4 203,140 595,219 

TORUNLAR GAYRİMENKUL YATIRIM ORTAKLIĞI A.Ş. AND ITS SUBSIDIARY
AUDITED CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
FOR THE PERIOD 1 JANUARY – 31 DECEMBER 2018
(AMOUNTS EXPRESSED IN THOUSANDS OF TURKISH LIRA (“TL”) UNLESS OTHERWISE STATED.)
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1. ORGANIZATION AND OPERATIONS OF THE GROUP

Torunlar Gayrimenkul Yatırım Ortaklığı Anonim Şirketi (“Torunlar REIC” or the “Company”) and its subsidiary, TRN 
Otel İşletmeciliği ve Yatırımları A.Ş. (“TRN”) referred together as a “Group”. The Company was incorporated in 
1996 with the trade name of Toray İnşaat Sanayi ve Ticaret A.Ş. in İstanbul, Turkey. With a change in the Articles 
of Association published on Trade Registry Gazette on 25 January 2008, the Company has been registered with 
the trade name of Torunlar Gayrimenkul Yatırım Ortaklığı A.Ş. on 21 January 2008. The Company’s stocks have 
been traded at the Borsa Istanbul since 21 October 2010 and registered to Capital Markets Board (“CMB”). The 
Company operates in Turkey. As of 31 December 2018, the total number of the Company’s employees is 105 (31 
December 2017: 176) and the main shareholder is the Torun Family (Note 15).

The Company is registered in İstanbul Trade Registry Office in Turkey in the following address: Rüzgarlıbahçe 
Mahallesi Özalp Çıkmazı No: 4 Beykoz 34805 İstanbul/Turkey.

The Company’s principle activity is to engage in the pre-defined objectives and areas stipulated in the 
Communiqué on real estate investment companies published by the Capital Markets Board of Turkey (“CMB”) 
such as investing in real estate, capital market instruments based on real estate, real estate projects and capital 
market instruments.

Torunlar REIC purchased 100% of the shares of TRN Otel İşletmeciliği ve Yatırımları A.Ş. as of 12 March 2018. 
Accordingly, the financial statements for the period ended on 31 December 2018 are prepared as consolidated. 
The principal activity of TRN, and the Group’s participation rates are as follows:

Company
Operating 

country
Operating 

sector

2018
 Participation 

rate %

2017 
Participation

 rate %
TRN Otel İşletmeciliği ve Yatırımları A.Ş. Turkey Hotel Management 100 -

TRN started to opeate in the student residence management during the year ended 31 December 2018.

Joint Ventures

The Joint Ventures of Torunlar REIC operate in Turkey and their principal activities and joint venture partners as 
of 31 December 2018 are as follows (Note 2):

Joint Venture Principal activity Joint venture partner
TTA Gayrimenkul Yatırım Geliştirme ve 
Yönetim A.Ş. (“TTA”) Shopping mall project

Anaterra Gayrimenkul Yatırım İnşaat 
ve Ticaret A.Ş.
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TTA Gayrimenkul Yatırım ve Yönetim A.Ş. has been incorporated on 7 January 2010 after winning the tender 
related to the old cigarette factory and its auxiliary buildings which are located in Samsun, İlkadım district, 205 
lot, 2, 8, 9, 10, 11, 12, 13, 14 parcels and 376 lot, 1 parcel and 377 lot, 5 parcel whose ownership is registered 
to Samsun Metropolitan Municipality. The project includes, by the approval of Samsun Cultural and Natural 
Heritage Protection Regional Committee;  the renovation as shopping mall and/or hotel; constructing two 
stores underground car park and facilitating the right of operation to Samsun Metropolitan Municipality; 
operating for 30 years with a limited incorporeal right (permanent and individual usufruct right) on land registry 
by the same term and providing a certain share of the revenue of shopping mall and/or hotel to Samsun 
Metropolitan Municipality; delivering the project to Samsun Metropolitan Municipality at the end of the 30 year 
term.

As a result of winning the tender and the agreement made with Samsun Metropolitan Municipality, the earned 
right as part of the financial leasing is classified as investment property within the scope of TAS 40 and is 
measured at fair value.

In August 2011, 450,000 shares which were previously owned by Turkmall Gayrimenkul Geliştirme Yönetim ve 
Yatırım A.Ş. and valued nominally as TL 450,000 and 50,000 shares which were previously owned by Ahmet Demir 
and valued nominally as TL 50,000 were transferred to Anaterra Gayrimenkul Yatırım İnşaat ve Ticaret A.Ş. After 
the transfer, the shareholding structure of TTA is 40% Torunlar REIC, 8% Torunlar Gıda Sanayi Ticaret A.Ş., 1% Aziz 
Torun, 1% Mehmet Torun and 50% Anaterra Gayrimenkul Yatırım İnşaat ve Ticaret A.Ş. The construction of the 
TTA Bulvar Samsun Mall project has been started in 2011 and the Mall started to operate in July 2012.

Torunlar Özyazıcı

Torunlar Özyazıcı was incorporated as an ordinary partnership with a joint venture agreement on 26 January 
2009. The subject of the joint venture is to conduct construction and sales of the housing development project 
Nishistanbul in Yenibosna İstanbul. This project includes 63 offices, 585 residences and 52 shops in 4 blocks each 
with 17 floors.

In accordance with the revenue sharing agreement signed between Torunlar Özyazıcı and land owner of the 
project, 31% of total project revenues will be distributed to the land owner and the remaining 69% portion 
will be shared to between the joint ventures as 60% Torunlar REIC and 40% Özyazıcı İnşaat Elektrik, Makine, 
Müşavirlik ve Taah. Ltd. Şti.

As of 31 December 2016, the Torunlar Özyazici project partnership, which is a joint venture of the Company, 
has completed its operations after the sale of all property belonging to the project partnership and completed 
the dissolution procedures on 30 May 2017. The profit from the dissolution of the project partnership has been 
accounted in the statement of profit or loss as of 31 December 2017.
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Associates

The Associates of Torunlar REIC are incorporated in Turkey and their primary operations and nature of 
businesses are stated below:

Associate Principal Activity
Yeni Gimat GYO A.Ş. (“Yeni Gimat”) Owner of ANKAmall AVM and Crowne Plaza Hotel 
Netsel Turizm Yatırımları A.Ş. (“Netsel”) Management of Marmaris Marina

Yeni Gimat

Yeni Gimat has been incorporated by participation of 1,050 individual shareholders as founding members on 30 
July 1999. The Entity owns Ankamall Shopping Mall since 2006 and Ankara Crowne Plaza Hotel since 2007. While 
the Group owns 14.83% of Yeni Gimat shares and Torunlar family members also own another 5% of Yeni Gimat, 
as a result the Group has significant influence on Yeni Gimat and is also represented in the Board of Directors. 
The investment in Yeni Gimat is accounted by the equity method in the consolidated financial statements.

Netsel

Netsel has been incorporated by Net Turizm Ticaret and Sanayi A.Ş. and Yüksel İnşaat A.Ş. on 6 October 1987. 
The coastal property operated by Netsel, has been leased from Ministry of Culture and Tourism for 49 years 
on 22 December 1988. Net Turizm sold its shares to Marmara Bank on 1992 and Yüksel İnşaat sold its shares 
to Çukurova Group in 1994. Following the liquidation process of Marmara Bank, 44.60% of Netsel was sold to 
Torunlar REIC in accordance with share transfer agreements on 31 May 2005 and 7 June 2005 respectively and 
55% of Netsel was transferred to Tek-Art Kalamış and Fenerbahçe Marmara Turizm Tesisleri A.Ş. (a subsidiary of 
Koç Holding A.Ş.) in accordance with share transfer agreement on 22 August 2005 as a privatization transaction. 
It was accounted for by using equity method since the Group has a significant influence in Netsel. The remaining 
0.40% belongs to Torun family.

Subsidiary

TRN Otel İşletmeciliği A.Ş.

The Group management has decided to purchase that 100% of the shares of TRN Otel İşletmeciliği ve 
Yatırımları A.Ş. with a nominal value of 500,000 nominal amount and nominal value of TL 0.22 that has been 
valued at TL 109 as of 12 March 2018. The Group has consolidated TRN Otel İşletmeciliği A.Ş. at the rate of 100% 
in the consolidated financial statements. 
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2. BASIS OF PRESENTATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2.1 Basis of Preparation

Preparation of the consolidated financial statements

The Company and its subsidiaries maintain their books of account and prepare their statutory financial 
statements in accordance with the Turkish Commercial Code (“TCC”), tax legislation and the Uniform Chart of 
Accounts issued by the Ministry of Finance. The accompanying financial statements are prepared in TL based on 
historical cost method, except for investment properties at fair values. These financial statements are restated 
based on statutory records, which are maintained under historical cost conversion, with the required adjustments 
and reclassifications reflected for the purpose of fair presentation in accordance with the TAS/TFRS.

The Company maintains its books of account and prepares their statutory financial statements in accordance 
with the Turkish Commercial Code (“TCC”), tax legislation and the Uniform Chart of Accounts issued by the 
Ministry of Finance. The accompanying financial statements are prepared in Turkish Lira based on historical cost 
method, except for financial assets and liabilities at fair values. These financial statements are restated based 
on statutory records, which are maintained under historical cost conversion, with the required adjustments and 
reclassifications reflected for the purpose of fair presentation in accordance with the TAS/TFRS.

The Group’s financial statements as of 31 December 2018 have been approved by the Board of Directors on 11 
March 2019. General assembly has the right to modify the consolidated financial statements.

Statement of Compliance in TAS

The accompanying consolidated financial statements are prepared in accordance with the requirements of 
Capital Markets Board (“CMB”) Communiqué Serial II, No: 14.1 “Basis of Financial Reporting in Capital Markets”, 
which was published in the Official Gazette No:28676 on 13 June 2013. The accompanying consolidated 
financial statements are prepared based on the Turkish Accounting Standards/Turkish Financial Reporting 
Standards (“TAS/TFRS”) and their appendices and interpretations that have been put into effect by the Public 
Oversight Accounting and Auditing Standards Authority (“POA”) under Article 5 of the Communiqué. In addition, 
the consolidated financial statements and disclosures have been prepared in accordance with the formats of 
CMB dated 7 June 2013.

Preparation of financial statements in hyperinflationary economies

In accordance with the communique issued by CMB, for companies that operate in Turkey and prepare their 
financial statements applying Turkish Accounting Standards, it is decided not to apply inflation accounting from 
1 January 2005 which is published on 17 March 2005 numbered 11/367. Accordingly, as of 1 January 2005 No:29 
“ Financial Reporting in Hyperinflationary Economies” (“TAS 29”) was not applied.

Functional and Presentation Currency

Items included in the financial statements of the company are measured using the currency of the primary 
economic environment in which the entity operates (“the functional currency”). The Company’s functional and 
presentation currency is Turkish Lira (“TL”).
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Basis of the Consolidation

Subsidiary

Subsidiaries of the Company as at 31 December 2018 and 2017 are detailed as follows:

Company
Operating 

country
Operating 

sector

2018 
Participation 

rate %

2017 
Participation 

rate %
TRN Otel İşletmeciliği ve Yatırımları A.Ş. Turkey Hotel Management 100 -

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial statements of the Company and entities 
controlled by the Company and its subsidiaries. Control is achieved when the Company:

• has power over the investee;
• is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the investee; and
• has the ability to use its power to affect its returns.

The Company reassesses whether or not it controls an investee if facts and circumstances indicate that there are 
changes to one or more of the three elements of control listed above.

When the Company has less than a majority of the voting rights of an investee, it has power over the investee 
when  the voting rights are sufficient to give it the practical ability to direct the relevant activities of the 
investee unilaterally. The Company considers all relevant facts and circumstances in assessing whether or not the 
Company’s voting rights in an investee are sufficient to give it power, including:

• the size of the Company’s holding of voting rights relative to the size and dispersion of holdings of the other 
vote holders;

• potential voting rights held by the Company, other vote holders or other parties;
• rights arising from other contractual arrangements; and
• any additional facts and circumstances that indicate that the Company has, or does not have, the current 

ability to direct the relevant activities at the time that decisions need to be made, including voting patterns at 
previous shareholders’ meetings.

Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Company obtains control over the subsidiary and ceases when the 
Company loses control of the subsidiary. Specifically, income and expenses of a subsidiary acquired or disposed 
of during the year are included in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income 
from the date the Company gains control until the date when the Company ceases to control the subsidiary.

Profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive income are attributed to the owners of the 
Company and to the non-controlling interests. Total comprehensive income of subsidiaries is attributed to the 
owners of the Company and to the non-controlling interests even if this results in the non-controlling interests 
having a deficit balance.

When necessary, adjustments are made to the financial statements of subsidiaries to bring their accounting 
policies into line with the Group’s accounting policies.
 
All intragroup assets and liabilities, equity, income, expenses and cash flows relating to transactions between 
members of the Group are eliminated in full on consolidation. 
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Joint Ventures

Interests in joint ventures

A joint operation is a joint arrangement whereby the parties that have joint control of the arrangement 
have rights to the assets, and obligations for the liabilities, relating to the arrangement. Joint control is the 
contractually agreed sharing of control of an arrangement, which exists only when decisions about the relevant 
activities require unanimous consent of the parties sharing control.

Interests in Joint Ventures on combined basis are as follows:

31 December 2018 31 December 2017
Current assets  2,714  7,310 
Non-current assets  141,431  128,867 
Total assets  144,145  136,177 

Short-term liabilities  51,587  39,119 
Long-term liabilities  27,804  38,307 
Equity  64,754  58,751 
Total liabilities and equity  144,145  136,177 
Net profit/(loss) for the period  9,129  (14,722)

When a Group entity undertakes its activities under joint operations, the Group as a joint operator recognises in 
its consolidated financial statements in proportion to its interest in a joint operation:

• Its assets, including its share of any assets held jointly.
• Its liabilities, including its share of any liabilities incurred jointly.
• Its revenue from the sale of its share of the output arising from the joint operation.
• Its share of the revenue from the sale of the output by the joint operation.
• Its expenses, including its share of any expenses incurred jointly.

The Group accounts for the assets, liabilities, revenues and expenses relating to its interest in a joint operation in 
accordance with the TFRSs applicable to the particular assets, liabilities, revenues and expenses.
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Associates

Investments in associates, over which the Group has significant influence, but which it does not control, are 
accounted for by the equity method of accounting. The Group’s share of its associates’ post-acquisition profits 
or losses is recognized under “profit from investments accounted for by using equity method” in the statement 
of profit or loss. When the Group’s share of losses in an associate equals or exceeds its interest in the associate, 
including any other unsecured receivables, the Group does not recognize further losses, unless it has incurred 
obligations or made payments on behalf of the associate. The accounting policies of the associates can be 
modified if required in order to provide integrity with policies accepted by the Group.

Unrealized gains on transactions between the Group and its associates are eliminated to the extent of the 
Group’s interest in the associates. Carrying amount in the date of termination of significant influence, presented 
with fair value if fair value after this date can be measured securely, otherwise, presented with cost value.

Torunlar REIC’s direct and indirect voting rights in the associates as of 31 December 2018 and 2017 are as 
follows:

31 December 2018 (%) 31 December 2017 (%)
Netsel 44.60 44.60
Yeni Gimat 14.83 14.83

Interest in associates on combined basis (*) 

31 December 2018 31 December 2017
Total assets 1,871,068  1,981,809 
Total liabilities 41,012  32,806 
Net profit for the period 297,502  195,985 

(*) These combined balances represent amounts presented in the consolidated financial statements of associates which are accounted by the 
equity method after their classifications and adjustment entries for the equity method. The above mentioned figures represent the complete 
result of operations of these companies.

Interest in Yeni Gimat

31 December 2018 31 December 2017
Total assets 1,825,053  1,954,235 
Total liabilities 26,731  19,698 
Net profit for the period 275,719  189,964 
 
Interest in Netsel

31 December 2018 31 December 2017
Total assets 46,015  27,574 
Total liabilities 14,281  13,108 
Net profit for the period 21,783  6,021 
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Offsetting

Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net amount reported in the balance sheet when there is a 
legally enforceable right to set-off the recognized amounts and there is an intention to settle on a net basis, or 
realize the asset and settle the liability simultaneously.

Going concern

The Group’s consolidated financial statements have been prepared on a going concern basis.

2.2. Changes in Accounting Policies

Significant changes in accounting policies have been applied retrospectively and prior period consolidated 
financial statements are restated. 

2.3 Changes in Accounting Estimates and Errors

If changes in accounting estimates and errors are for only one period, changes are applied in the current 
period but if the estimated changes affect the following periods, changes are applied both on the current and 
following years prospectively.

2.4 New and Revised Turkish Accounting Standards

New and amended Turkish Financial Reporting Standards that are effective for the current year 

TFRS 9 Financial Instruments

(a) Recognition and measurement of financial assets

In the current year, the Group has applied TFRS 9 Financial Instruments (as revised in 2017) and the related 
consequential amendments to other TFRS Standards that are effective for an annual period that begins on or 
after 1 January 2018. As a result of the transition provisions of TFRS 9, the Group has recognized the cumulative 
effect arising from the first-time adoption of TFRS 9 as difference adjustment in retained earnings as of 1 
January 2018, and the comparatives have not been restated accordingly. TFRS 9 introduced new requirements 
for:

1) The classification and measurement of financial assets and financial liabilities,
2) Impairment of financial assets, and
3) General hedge accounting.

Details of these new requirements as well as their impact on the Group’s consolidated financial statements are 
described below.

The Group has applied TFRS 9 in accordance with the transition provisions set out in TFRS 9.
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The date of initial application (i.e. the date on which the Group has assessed its existing financial assets and 
financial liabilities in terms of the requirements of TFRS 9) is 1 January 2018. Accordingly, the Group has 
applied the requirements of TFRS 9 to instruments that continue to be recognised as at 1 January 2018 and 
has not applied the requirements to instruments that have already been derecognised as at 1 January 2018. 
Comparative amounts related to the instruments that will be accounted as of 1 January 2018 are restated when 
required.

All recognised financial assets that are within the scope of TFRS 9 are required to be measured subsequently at 
amortised cost or fair value on the basis of the entity’s business model for managing the financial assets and the 
contractual cash flow characteristics of the financial assets. Specifically:

• debt instruments that are held within a business model whose objective is to collect the contractual cash 
flows, and that have contractual cash flows that are solely payments of principal and interest on the principal 
amount outstanding, are measured subsequently at amortised cost;

• all other debt investments and equity investments are measured subsequently at fair value through profit or 
loss (FVTPL).

The Group’s management reviewed and assessed the Group’s existing financial assets as at 1 January 2018 
based on the facts and circumstances that existed at that date and concluded that the initial application of 
TFRS 9 does not have a significant impact on the Group’s financial assets as regards their classification and 
measurement:

None of the other reclassifications of financial assets have had any impact on the Group’s financial position, 
profit or loss, other comprehensive income or total comprehensive income in either year.

(b) Impairment of financial assets

In relation to the impairment of financial assets, TFRS 9 requires an expected credit loss model as opposed to 
an incurred credit loss model under TAS 39. The expected credit loss model requires the Group to account for 
expected credit losses and changes in those expected credit losses at each reporting date to reflect changes 
in credit risk since initial recognition of the financial assets. In other words, it is no longer necessary for a credit 
event to have occurred before credit losses are recognised. Specifically, TFRS 9 requires the Group to recognise 
a loss allowance for expected credit losses on:

1) Trade receivables:

In particular, TFRS 9 requires the Group to measure the loss allowance for a financial instrument at an amount 
equal to the lifetime expected credit losses (ECL) if the credit risk on that financial instrument has increased 
significantly since initial recognition, or if the financial instrument is a purchased or originated credit-impaired 
financial asset.

However, if the credit risk on a financial instrument has not increased significantly since initial recognition 
(except for a purchased or originated credit-impaired financial asset), the Group is required to measure the loss 
allowance for that financial instrument at an amount equal to 12-months ECL. TFRS 9 also requires a simplified 
approach for measuring the loss allowance at an amount equal to lifetime ECL for trade receivables, contract 
assets and lease receivables in certain circumstances.
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Impairment

Financial assets measured at amortized cost are subject to the impairment provisions of TFRS 9. The Group 
applies the simplified approach to recognize lifetime expected credit losses for its trade receivables, receivables 
from related parties, finance lease receivables and contract assets as required or permitted by TFRS 9. These 
calculated amounts are not materially high, therefore no provision for expected credit losses is made in the 
accompanying consolidated financial statements.

(c) Classification and measurement of financial liabilities

A significant change introduced by TFRS 9 in the classification and measurement of financial liabilities relates 
to the accounting for changes in the fair value of a financial liability designated as at FVTPL attributable to 
changes in the credit risk of the issuer.

The application of TFRS 9 has had no impact on the classification and measurement of the Group’s financial 
liabilities. 

TFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers

Impact on the Consolidated Financial Statements

In the current year, the Group has applied TFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers which is effective 
for an annual period that begins on or after 1 January 2018. TFRS 15 introduced a 5-step approach to revenue 
recognition. Far more prescriptive guidance has been added in TFRS 15 to deal with specific scenarios. Details of 
the new requirements as well as their impact on the Group’s financial statements are described below.

TFRS 15 uses the terms ‘contract asset’ and ‘contract liability’ to describe what might more commonly be 
known as ‘accrued revenue’ and ‘deferred revenue’, however the Standard does not prohibit an entity from using 
alternative descriptions in the statement of financial position. The Group has preferred disclosures with previous 
terms rather than adopting new terminology in order to define such balances. 

Apart from providing more extensive disclosures for the Group’s revenue transactions, the application of TFRS 
15 has not had a significant impact on the financial position and/or financial performance of the Group.

Amendments to TFRS 2 Classification and Measurement of Share-Based Payment Transactions

The amendments clarify the standard in respect of the share-based payment arrangement has a ‘net 
settlement feature’, such an arrangement should be classified as equity-settled in its entirety, provided that 
the share-based payment would have been classified as equity-settled had it not included the net settlement 
feature. Amendments to TFRS 2 have no impact on the Group’s consolidated financial statements.

Amendments to TAS 40 Transfers of Investment Property

Amends paragraph 57 to state that an entity shall transfer a property to, or from, investment property when, 
and only when, there is evidence of a change in use. A change of use occurs if property meets, or ceases to 
meet, the definition of investment property. A change in management’s intentions for the use of a property by 
itself does not constitute evidence of a change in use. Amendments to TAS 40 have no impact on the Group’s 
consolidated financial position or performance.



TORUNLAR GAYRİMENKUL YATIRIM ORTAKLIĞI A.Ş. AND ITS SUBSIDIARY
NOTES TO THE AUDITED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AS OF 31 DECEMBER 2018
(AMOUNTS EXPRESSED IN THOUSANDS OF TURKISH LIRA (“TL”) UNLESS OTHERWISE STATED.)

165

Torunlar GYO Annual Report 2018

Annual Improvements to TFRS Standards 2014-2016 Cycle:

TAS 28: The detailed list of evidences stated between paragraphj 57(a)-(d) was changed as a list of examples.

The amendment clarifies that the election to measure at fair value through profit or loss an investment in an 
associate or a joint venture that is held by an entity that is a venture capital organization, or other qualifying 
entity, is available for each investment in an associate or joint venture on an investment-by-investment basis, 
upon initial recognition. Annual improvements to TFRS Standards 2014-2016 cycle have no impact on the 
Group’s consolidated financial statements.
 
TFRS Interpretation 22 Foreign Currency Transaction and Advance Consideration

The interpretation addresses foreign currency transactions or parts of transactions where:

• There is consideration that is denominated or priced in a foreign currency;
• the entity recognizes a prepayment asset or a deferred income liability in respect of that consideration, in 

advance of the recognition of the related asset, expense or income; and
• the prepayment asset or deferred income liability is non-monetary.

The Interpretation Committee came to the following conclusion:

• The date of the transaction, for the purpose of determining the exchange rate, is the date of initial 
recognition of the non-monetary prepayment asset or deferred income liability. 

• If there are multiple payments or receipts in advance, a date of transaction is established for each payment or 
receipt.

New and revised Turkish Financial Reporting Standards in issue but not yet effective

At the date of authorisation of these financial statements, The Group has not applied the following new and 
revised standards below that have been issued but are not yet effective:

TFRS 16 Leases1

Amendments to TAS 28 Long-term Interests in Associates and Joint Ventures 1 
TFRS Interpretation 23 Uncertainty over Income Tax Treatments 1

TFRS 10 and TAS 28 (amendments)
Sale of Contribution of Assets between an Investor and 
its Associate or Joint Venture

Amendments to TAS 19 Amendments to “Employee Benefits”1

Annual Improvements to TFRS Standards 2015–2017 
Cycle

Amendments to TFRS 3, TFRS 11, TAS 12 and TAS 23 
standards 1

1 Effective from periods on or after 1 January 2019.
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The Group Management do not expect that the adoption of the Standards listed above will have a material 
impact on the consolidated financial statements in future periods, except as noted below:

Amendments to TAS 28 Long-term Interests in Associates and Joint Ventures

This amendment clarifies that an entity applies TFRS 9 Financial Instruments to long-term interests in an 
associate or joint venture that form part of the net investment in the associate or joint venture but to which the 
equity method is not applied.

TFRS Interpretation 23 Uncertainty over Income Tax Treatments

This Interpretation addresses the application of recognition and measurement provisions under TAS 12 when 
there is uncertainty over income tax treatments.

TFRS 10 and TAS 28 (Amendments) Sale or Contribution of Assets between an Investor and its Associate or 
Joint Venture

This amendment clarifies that all profit or loss from the sale or contribution of assets between an investor and 
its associate or joint venture are required to be recognized by the investor. 

TFRS 16 Leases

General impact of application of TFRS 16 Leases

TFRS 16 provides a comprehensive model for the identification of lease arrangements and their treatment 
in the financial statements for both lessors and lessees. TFRS 16 will supersede the current lease guidance 
including TAS 17 Leases and the related Interpretations when it becomes effective for accounting periods 
beginning on or after 1 January 2019. The date of initial application of TFRS 16 for the Group will be 1 January 
2019. In contrast to lessee accounting, TFRS 16 substantially carries forward the lessor accounting requirements 
in TAS 17.

Amendments to TAS 19 Employee Benefits

The Amendments to TAS 19 Employee Benefits address the impact of the changes in defined benefit plans 
(one of the two benefits provided after employment relationship is ended: defined benefit plans and defined 
contribution plans) to the recognition of the defined benefit plans, and TAS 19 has been amended.

Annual Improvements to TFRS Standards 2015–2017 Cycle

Annual Improvements to TFRS Standards 2015–2017 Cycle include amendments to TFRS 3 Business 
Combinations and TFRS 11 Joint Arrangements in when a party that participates in, but does not have joint 
control of, TAS 12 Income Taxes; income tax consequences of dividends in profit or loss, and TAS 23 Borrowing 
Costs in capitalized borrowing costs. 

The Group evaluates the effects of these standards, amendments and improvements on the Group’s 
consolidated financial position and performance.
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2.5 Comparative Information and Restatement of Prior Period Consolidated Financial Statements

Consolidated financial statements of the Group have been prepared comparatively with the prior period in 
order to give information about financial position and performance. In order to maintain consistency with 
current year consolidated financial statements, comparative information is reclassed and significant changes are 
disclosed if necessary.

In the current period, the Group has not made any reclassifications to its prior period consolidated financial 
statements.

2.6 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

Significant accounting policies applied to prepare the consolidated financial statements are summarized as 
follows:

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand and demand deposits and other short-term highly liquid 
investments which their maturities are three months or less from date of acquisition and that are readily 
convertible to a known amount of cash and are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value (Note 4).
 
Related parties

A related party is a person or entity that is related to reporting entity, the entity that is preparing its financial 
statements.

(a)  A person or a close member of that person’s family is related to a reporting entity if that person:

 (i)  has control or joint control over the reporting entity;
 (ii)  has significant influence over the reporting entity; or
 (iii)  is a member of the key management personnel of the reporting entity or of a parent of the reporting
entity.

(b)  An entity is related to a reporting entity if any of the following conditions applies:

 (i)  The entity and the reporting entity are members of the same group (which means that each parent, 
subsidiary and fellow subsidiary is related to the others).

 (ii)  One entity is an associate or joint venture of the other entity (or an associate or joint venture of a 
member of a group of which the other entity is a member).

 (iii)  Both entities are joint ventures of the same third party.
 (iv)  One entity is a joint venture of a third entity and the other entity is an associate of the third entity.
 (v)  The entity is a post-employment benefit plan for the benefit of employees of either the reporting 

entity or an entity related to the reporting entity. If the reporting entity is itself such a plan, the sponsoring 
employers are also related to the reporting entity.

 (vi)  The entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a person identified in (a).
 (vii)  A person identified in (a)(i) has significant influence over the entity or is a member of the key 

management personnel of the entity (or of a parent of the entity).
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In the consolidated financial statements, shareholders, key management personnel and members of Board 
of Directors and their families, Torun Family and companies under their control and affiliated companies, 
subsidiaries and partnerships are considered and stated as related parties (Note 23).

Foreign Currency Transactions

Transactions in foreign currencies are translated into functional currency at the dates of the transactions. 
Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies at the reporting date are retranslated to 
functional currency TL at the exchange rate at that date. Gains or losses on translation of foreign currency 
denominated transactions to functional currency TL are recognized in statement of comprehensive income.

Financial assets

All regular way purchases or sales of financial assets are recognised and derecognised on the delivery date. 
The Group classifies its financial assets as (a) Business model used for managing financial assets, (b) financial 
assets subsequently measured at amortised cost, at fair value through other comprehensive income or at 
fair value through profit or loss based on the characteristics of contractual cash flows. The Group reclassifies 
all financial assets effected from the change in the business model it uses for the management of financial 
assets. The reclassification of financial assets is applied prospectively from the reclassification date. In such 
cases, no adjustment is made to gains, losses (including any gains or losses of impairment) or interest previously 
recognized in the consolidated financial statements.
 
Classification of financial assets

Financial assets that meet the following conditions are measured subsequently at amortised cost:

• the financial asset is held within a business model whose objective is to hold financial assets in order to collect 
contractual cash flows; and

• the contractual terms of the financial asset give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are solely payments 
of principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding.

Financial assets that meet the following conditions are measured subsequently at fair value through other 
comprehensive income (FVTOCI):

• the financial asset is held within a business model whose objective is achieved by both collecting contractual 
cash flows and selling the financial assets; and

• the contractual terms of the financial asset give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are solely payments 
of principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding.

If a financial asset is not measured at amortized cost or at FVTPL, the change in fair value is measured at profit 
or loss. 

At the initial recognition, the Group may irrevocably elect to present changes in fair value of an equity 
investment that is not held for trade, in other comprehensive income.
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(i) Amortised cost and effective interest method

Interest income on financial assets carried at amortized cost is calculated using the effective interest method. 
The effective interest method is a method of calculating the amortised cost of a debt instrument and of 
allocating interest income over the relevant period. This income is calculated by applying the effective interest 
rate to the gross carrying amount of the financial asset:

(a) Credit-impaired financial assets when purchased or generated. For such financial assets, the Group applies 
the effective interest rate on the amortized cost of a financial asset based on the loan from the date of the 
recognition in the financial statements.
(b) Non-financial assets that are impaired at the time of acquisition or generation but subsequently become a 
financial asset that has been impaired. For such financial assets, the Group applies the effective interest rate to 
the amortized cost of the asset in the subsequent reporting periods.

Interest income is recognised using the effective interest method for debt instruments measured subsequently 
at amortised cost and at FVTOCI. 

Interest income is recognised in profit or loss and is included in the “finance income – interest income” line item 
(Note 20).

Financial assets at FVTPL

Financial assets that do not meet the criteria for being measured at amortised cost or FVTOCI are measured at 
FVTPL.

Financial assets at FVTPL are measured at fair value at the end of each reporting period, with any fair value 
gains or losses recognised in profit or loss to the extent they are not part of a designated hedging relationship 
(see hedging policy).

Foreign exchange gains and losses

The carrying amount of financial assets that are denominated in a foreign currency is determined in that foreign 
currency and translated at the spot rate at the end of each reporting period. Specifically,

• for financial assets measured at amortised cost that are not part of a designated hedging relationship, 
exchange differences are recognised in profit or loss;

• for debt instruments measured at FVTOCI that are not part of a designated hedging relationship, exchange 
differences on the amortised cost of the debt instrument are recognised in profit or loss for the period. Other 
exchange differences are recognised in other comprehensive income;

• for financial assets measured at FVTPL that are not part of a designated hedging relationship, exchange 
differences are recognised in profit or loss; and

• for equity instruments measured at FVTOCI, exchange differences are recognised in other comprehensive 
income.
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Impairment of financial assets

The Group recognises a loss allowance for expected credit losses on borrowing instruments, rental receivables, 
trade receivables, contract assets and expected credit losses related to investments for financial guarantee 
contracts that are measured at amortised cost and at FVTOCI. The amount of expected credit losses is updated 
at each reporting date to reflect changes in credit risk since initial recognition of the respective financial 
instrument.

The Group utilizes a simplified approach for trade receivables that are not significant financing components 
and calculates the allowance for impairment at the same amount with the lifetime ECL of the related financial 
assets. For all other financial instruments, the Group recognises lifetime ECL when there has been a significant 
increase in credit risk since initial recognition. However, if on the other hand, the credit risk on the financial 
instrument has not increased significantly since initial recognition, the Group measures the loss allowance for 
that financial instrument at an amount equal to 12-month ECL.

Measurement and recognition of expected credit losses

The measurement of expected credit losses is a function of the probability of default, loss given default (i.e. the 
magnitude of the loss if there is a default) and the exposure at default. The assessment of the probability of 
default and loss given default is based on historical data adjusted by forward-looking information as described 
above. As for the exposure at default, for financial assets, this is represented by the assets’ gross carrying 
amount at the reporting date.

For financial assets, the expected credit loss is estimated as the difference between all contractual cash flows 
(all cash-deficiencies) that are due to the Group in accordance with the contract and all the cash flows that the 
Group expects to receive, discounted at the original effective interest rate (or credit-based adjusted effective 
interest rate for financial assets with credit-value impairment when purchased or incurred).

Derecognition of financial assets

The Group derecognises a financial asset only when the contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset 
expire, or when it transfers the financial asset and substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of the 
asset to another entity.

On derecognition of a financial asset measured at amortised cost, the difference between the asset’s carrying 
amount and the sum of the consideration received and receivable is recognised in profit or loss. In addition, 
on derecognition of an investment in a debt instrument classified as at FVTOCI, the cumulative gain or loss 
previously accumulated in the investments revaluation reserve is reclassified to profit or loss. In contrast, on 
derecognition of an investment in equity instrument which the Group has elected on initial recognition to 
measure at FVTOCI, the cumulative gain or loss previously accumulated in the investments revaluation reserve is 
not reclassified to profit or loss, but is transferred to retained earnings.
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Financial liabilities

Financial liabilities are classified as at FVTPL on initial recognition. On initial recognition of liabilities other than 
those that are recognised at FVTPL, transaction costs directly attributable to the acquisition or issuance thereof 
are also recognised in the fair value.

A financial liability is subsequently classified at amortized cost except:

Financial liabilities at FVTPL: These liabilities including derivative instruments are subsequently measured at fair 
value.

Financial liabilities arising if the transfer of the financial asset does not meet the conditions of derecognition 
from the financial statements or if the ongoing relationship approach is applied: When the Group continues to 
present an asset based on the ongoing relationship approach, a liability in relation to this is also recognised in 
the financial statements. The transferred asset and the related liability are measured to reflect the rights and 
liabilities that the Group continues to hold. The transferred liability is measured in the same manner as the net 
book value of the transferred asset.

A contingent consideration recognized in the consolidated financial statements by the entity acquired in a 
business combination where TFRS 3 is applied: After initial recognition, the related contingent consideration is 
measured as at FVTPL.

The entity does not reclassify any financial liability. 

Derecognition of financial liabilities

The Group derecognises financial liabilities when, and only when, the Group’s obligations are discharged, 
cancelled or have expired. The difference between the carrying amount of the financial liability derecognised 
and the consideration paid and payable, including any non-cash assets transferred or liabilities assumed, is 
recognised in profit or loss.

Derivative financial instruments

The Group enters into a variety of derivative financial instruments to manage its exposure to interest rate and 
foreign exchange rate risks, including foreign exchange forward contracts, options and interest rate swaps.

Derivatives are recognised initially at fair value at the date a derivative contract is entered into and are 
subsequently remeasured to their fair value at each reporting date. The resulting gain or loss is recognised in 
profit or loss immediately unless the derivative is designated and effective as a hedging instrument, in which 
event the timing of the recognition in profit or loss depends on the nature of the hedge relationship.

A derivative with a positive fair value is recognised as a financial asset whereas a derivative with a negative fair 
value is recognised as a financial liability. Derivatives are not offset in the consolidated financial statements 
unless the Group has both legal right and intention to offset. A derivative is presented as a non-current asset or 
a non-current liability if the remaining maturity of the instrument is more than 12 months and it is not expected 
to be realised or settled within 12 months. Other derivatives are presented as current assets or current liabilities. 
The Group does not have an open derivative instrument as of 31 December 2018.
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Accounting Policy Applied for Financial Instruments Until 31 December 2017

Financial assets

Classification

The Group’s financial assets comprise trade receivables and cash and cash equivalents. The Management does 
the classification of the financial assets according to their acquisition dates.

a) Loans and receivables

Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are not 
quoted in an active market. They are included in current assets, except for maturities greater than 12 months 
after the balance sheet which are classified as non-current assets.

Trade receivables generally comprise receivables from sales on credit terms based on preliminary sale contracts 
of residence projects and rent receivables from shopping malls.

b) Derivative financial instruments

The Group applies option, forward and swap transaction with full indemnity in order to manage the cash flows 
risks that the Group is exposed to due to the foreign currency position. Transactions that do not comply with 
the required documentation terms in the TAS 39 “Recognition of financial assets” regarding the risk accounting 
are recognized as derivative financial instruments in the consolidated financial statements. 

Recognition and Measurement

Financial assets are recognized on the trade-date - the date on which the Group commits to purchase or sell 
the asset. Investments are initially recognized at fair value plus transaction costs for all financial assets except 
for these that are carried at fair value through profit or loss. Financial assets carried at fair value through 
profit or losses are initially recognized at fair value, and transaction costs are expensed in the statement of 
comprehensive income. Financial assets are derecognized when the rights to receive cash flows from the 
investments have expired or have been transferred and the Group has transferred substantially all risks and 
rewards of ownership. Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are subsequently carried at fair value. 
Loans and receivables are subsequently carried at amortized cost using the effective interest method.

Marketable derivative financial instruments are initially recognized at cost and subsequently valued at fair value. 
Gains and losses arising from the changes in the fair values of these instruments are accounted as income or 
expense in the statement of comprehensive income.

Derivatives, which have positive fair value, are recognized in assets, derivatives which have negative fair value are 
recognized in liabilities in the financial statements.
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Advances

Advances received due to preliminary sales contracts related to residence projects are classified as short-
term and long-term regarding the estimated delivery date of the residences. Other advances received due to 
operational reasons are classified as short-term and long-term regarding the acquisition purpose and term of 
the advance. Advances denominated in foreign currencies given to suppliers and subcontractors in relation to 
the projects being developed are not subject to exchange rate valuation. Advances denominated in foreign 
currencies given to legal entities and real persons in relation to residence and office projects are subject to 
exchange rate valuation if received from real persons with repayment obligations continuing after the delivery 
of the residences and offices, however exchange rate valuation is not applied if the advances are received from 
legal entities with no obligation regarding the repayment of the advance.

Financial liabilities and borrowing cost

Borrowings are recognized initially at the proceeds received, net of transaction costs incurred. Borrowings 
are subsequently stated at amortized cost using the effective interest method in the consolidated financial 
statements. For the projects starting after the 1 January 2009, the borrowing costs are capitalized as a part of 
the qualifying assets which are directly attributable with the construction or production of the regarding assets 
if it takes significant time to be available for use or sale (“qualifying assets”). In the periods prior to 1 January 
2009, borrowing costs were recognized as expense in the scope of the option existed TAS 23.

Leases

The Group – as lessee 

Finance Lease
 
Finance leases are capitalized at the lease’s commencement at the lower of the fair value of the leased property 
and the present value of the minimum lease payments. Principal rental payments are recognized as liability and 
decreased when they are paid. Interest payments are recognized as expense in the statement of comprehensive 
expense during the lease period. Assets acquired via finance leases are considered an integral part of these 
investment properties (elevators, escalators etc.) therefore, they are classified under cost of investment 
properties. 

Investment properties are carried at market value in the financial statements and include these additional 
components purchased under finance lease. Debts arising from financial lease contracts are shown under 
“Financial liabilities” in the balance sheet. Interest and foreign exchange differences related to financial leasing 
are reflected in comprehensive income statements.

The Group has sell and leaseback agreements for the acquisition of equipment for the malls. These contracts, 
in accordance with TAS 27, are essentially treated as a financial liability and recognized as financial liabilities on 
the financial statements. Assets subject to sell and leaseback contract within the scope of sell and leaseback 
contract are air conditioning and cooling systems, elevators and escalators and electronic devices.
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Operational Lease

Leases in which a significant portion of the risks and rewards of ownership are retained by the lessor are 
classified as operating leases. Payments made under operating leases are charged to the statement of 
comprehensive income on a straight-line basis over the period of the lease.  

Current and deferred tax for the period

The Company is exempt from corporate income taxes in accordance with paragraph d-4 of Article 5 of the 
Corporate Income Tax Law. In accordance with paragraph 6-a of Article 94 of the Income Tax Law, the earnings 
of the real estate investment trusts are subject to withholding taxes, with Council of Ministers decision No, 
93/5148, the withholding rate is determined as “0”. Therefore, the Company has no tax obligation over its 
earnings for the related period.

Provision for employment termination benefits

Severance pay according to the current laws and collective bargaining agreements in Turkey is paid in case of 
retirement or dismissal. In accordance with the updated TAS 19 Employee Benefits Standard (“TAS 19”), such 
payments are considered as defined retirement benefit plans.

The defined provision for the present value of the defined benefit obligation is calculated using the prescribed 
liability method. All actuarial gains and losses are recognized in the statement of comprehensive income. As of 
31 December 2018, they are not recognized since their effect on the consolidated financial statements is not 
significant.

Share capital 

Common shares are classified as equity. Costs related to newly issued shares are recognized in equity less tax 
effect.

Provisions, contingent assets and liabilities

Provisions are recognized when the Group has a present obligation (legal or constructive) as a result of a past 
event, it is probable that the Group will be required to settle the obligation, and a reliable estimate can be made 
of the amount of the obligation. Provisions are not recognized for future operating losses.

Contingent assets or contingent obligations that arise from past events and whose existence will be confirmed 
only by the occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more uncertain future events not wholly within the control 
of the Group are not included in financial statements and are treated as contingent assets or liabilities.



TORUNLAR GAYRİMENKUL YATIRIM ORTAKLIĞI A.Ş. AND ITS SUBSIDIARY
NOTES TO THE AUDITED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AS OF 31 DECEMBER 2018
(AMOUNTS EXPRESSED IN THOUSANDS OF TURKISH LIRA (“TL”) UNLESS OTHERWISE STATED.)

175

Torunlar GYO Annual Report 2018

Inventories

Inventories are valued at the lower of cost or net realizable value. Cost elements included in inventories 
consist of the cost of lands which is held for residential construction for sale by the Group and residential 
construction in process on these lands. Cost of inventories includes all purchase costs, conversion costs and 
other costs incurred in bringing the inventories to their present state and position. The unit cost of inventories 
is determined using the lower of cost or net realizable value. Borrowing costs of the Inventories (Inventories 
that are identified as qualifying asset according to TAS 23) which the construction has started before 1 January 
2009 are not capitalized but the borrowing costs that can be attributed to the projects that are started after 
1 January 2009 are capitalized. The lands that are or will be used for residential constructions are evaluated in 
Inventory. Inventories are classified as short-term as of 31 December 2018, taking into account the expected 
completion date of residential construction (Note 9). 

Property, plant and equipment and related depreciation

Property and equipment are carried at cost less accumulated depreciation and provision for impairment, if any. 
Any directly attributable costs of setting the asset in working order for its intended use are included in the initial 
measurement.

Depreciation is calculated over of the cost of property and equipment using the straight-line method based on 
expected useful lives.

The expected useful lives for property, plant and equipment are stated below:

Years
Motor vehicles 5
Furniture and fixtures 4-5
Buildings 50

Subsequent costs incurred for tangible assets are included in the asset’s carrying amount or recognized as a 
separate asset as appropriate, only when it is probable that future economic benefits associated with the item 
will flow to the Group and the cost of the item can be measured reliably. All other expenditures are recognized 
as expense.

Where the carrying amount of an asset is greater than its estimated recoverable amount, it is written down to its 
recoverable amount and the provision for impairment is charged to statement of comprehensive income.

Gains and losses on the disposal of property and equipment are determined by deducting the net book value 
of the property and equipment from its sales and are included in the related income and expense accounts, as 
appropriate.
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Intangible Assets

Intangible assets acquired separately are carried at cost, less accumulated amortization and any accumulated 
impairment losses. Amortization is charged on a straight-line basis over their estimated useful lives. Estimated 
useful life and amortization method are reviewed at the end of each annual reporting period, with the effect of 
any changes in the estimate being accounted for on a prospective basis.

Impairment of assets

The Group reviews all assets including tangible assets at each balance sheet date in order to see if there is a 
sign of impairment on the stated asset. If there is such a sign, carrying amount of the stated asset is projected. 
Impairment exists if the carrying value of an asset or a cash generating unit including the asset is greater than 
its net realizable value. Net recoverable value is the higher of the net sales value or value in use. Value in use 
is the present value of cash flows generated from the use of the asset and the disposal of the asset after its 
useful life. Impairment losses are recorded in the statement of comprehensive income. Impairment loss for an 
asset is reversed, if an increase in recoverable amount is related to a subsequent event following the booking of 
impairment by not exceeding the amount reserved for impairment.
 
Investment properties

Lands, buildings, hotels, congress centers and malls that are held to acquire rent or appreciation purpose 
instead of the purpose of using in the production of goods and services or selling for management purposes 
or in the natural course of the business, are classified as investment properties. Investment properties, after 
initial recognition, are carried at fair value. Gains and losses resulting from changes in fair values of investment 
property are recognized in the statement of comprehensive income (Note 8).

An investment property can be accounted as an asset, if and only if, it is probable that economic benefits 
related to real estate would flow to the entity and the cost of the investment property would be measured 
reliably.

The profit or loss recognized due to condemnation or disposal of an investment property is the difference 
between net collection obtained from the disposal of the asset and the book value of the real estate, and it is 
accounted as net profit or loss from appreciation in investment properties when their use is ended or they are 
disposed.

Investment property is measured initially at cost. These costs comprise of the costs related to the acquisition 
of investment properties and costs from subsequent additions, adjustments or service costs for investment 
properties. The transaction cost and borrowing costs are included to the cost. Borrowing costs related to 
acquisition, construction or production of qualifying assets are capitalized and this capitalization continues 
until the completion of the asset. The Group does not include the daily service expenses related to real estate 
in the book value of the investment property. Those costs are recognized in the statement of profit or loss to 
the extent that they are realized. “Maintenance and repair” expenses regarding the real estates relates to the 
income statement in the period they incur.

After initial recognition, investment property is carried at fair value. Fair value is based on active market prices, 
and it can be adjusted, if necessary, for any difference in the nature, location or condition of the specific asset. 
If this information is not available, the Group uses alternative valuation methods, such as discounted cash flow 
projections. 
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The fair value of investment property does not reflect future capital expenditure that will improve or enhance 
the property and does not reflect the related future benefits from this future expenditure.

The Group measures the investment property under construction at fair value. In order to evaluate whether the 
fair value of an investment property under construction can be determined reliably, management considers 
the stage of completion, comparability of the project in market, the level of reliability of cash inflows after 
completion, the development risk specific to the property, past experiences with similar constructions and 
status of construction permits.

The Group transfers its investment properties to inventory or fixed assets if and only if a change occurs in 
use of the investment property. The aforementioned change in use is to start development for the purpose 
of sale after the development. If the Group decides on disposal of the investment properties without any 
development, until the disposal date, it is continued to be classified as investment property. Likewise, if the 
Company re-develops an existing investment property to be used as an investment property in the future, the 
classification of the property remained as investment properly and cannot be reclassified to fixed assets during 
the course of development.
 
Business combinations and goodwill

Business combinations are considered as a merge of two different legal entities as a single reporting entity. 
When the Group acquires a business, it assesses the financial assets and liabilities assumed for appropriate 
classification and designation in accordance with the contractual terms, economic circumstances and pertinent 
conditions as at the acquisition date.

Acquisition method requires allocation of the acquisition cost to the assets acquired and liabilities assumed at 
their fair values on the date of acquisition. Accordingly, acquired assets and liabilities and contingent liabilities 
assumed are recognized at TFRS 3 fair values on the date of acquisition. Acquired company is included in 
income statement starting from the date of acquisition.

If the fair values of the acquired identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities or cost of the acquisition 
are determined temporarily, the Group recognizes the combination on these temporary values if there is a 
requirement for temporary recognition in the initial recognition of the combination at the end of the period. 
Temporarily determined business combination accounting has to be completed within twelve months following 
the combination date and adjustment entries have to be made beginning from combination date.

Goodwill represents the excess of the cost of the acquisition over the fair value of identifiable net assets of 
the acquired business, at the date of acquisition. Group does not amortize goodwill. Goodwill is reviewed for 
impairment in the terms and conditions when the value carried is not realized and at least once in a year.

Segment reporting

Operating segments are reported in a manner consistent with the internal reporting provided to the chief 
operating decision-maker. The chief operating decision-maker, who is responsible for allocating resources and 
assessing performance of the operating segments, has been identified as the board of directors (Note 3).
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Revenue

The Group recognizes revenue in the consolidated financial statements within the 5-step model below in 
accordance with TFRS 15 “Revenue from Contracts with Customers” standard that is effective as of 1 January 
2018.

(a) Identification of customer contracts 
(b) Identification of performance obligations
(c) Determination of transaction price in the contract 
(d) Allocation of price to performance obligations
(e) Recognition of revenue when each performance obligation is fulfilled

Rental income from real estates

Rental income from real estates is recognized on an accrual basis using the straight-line method during the 
renting period. If the Group provides benefits to its lessees, these benefits are recognized by deducting the 
rental income during the renting period. 

General expense reflection income (Common area expenses)

Invoices for common area expenses billed to Torunlar REIC related to the shopping malls the Group owns are 
charged to managers of malls and/or lessees in accordance with the agreements.

Sale of residences and offices

Revenue is recognized in the consolidated financial statements when real estates (residence or office) that are 
committed in accordance with the contract are transferred to the customer and the contractual performance 
obligation is realized. When the control is obtained to the customer, the real estate is considered as transferred.
 
Dividend and interest income:

Dividend income from investments is recognized when the shareholder’s right to receive payment has been 
established (provided that it is probable that the economic benefits will flow to the Group and the amount of 
income can be measured reliably).

Interest income from a financial asset is recognized when it is probable that the economic benefits will flow to 
the Group and the amount of income can be measured reliably. Interest income is accrued on a time basis, by 
reference to the principal outstanding and at the effective interest rate applicable, which is the rate that exactly 
discounts estimated future cash receipts through the expected life of the financial asset to that asset’s net 
carrying amount on initial recognition.

Share premiums

Share premium refers to the difference arising from the sale of the Company’s subsidiaries or investments 
accounted for using equity method, on a price higher than nominal amount, or refers to the difference between 
nominal amount and fair value of shares issued by the Company in relation to the acquired companies. 
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Treasury shares

The Company’s own shares which are purchased by the Company itself from Borsa İstanbul are named as 
treasury shares and recorded on nominal value in equities. Purchase/sale of treasury stocks is not associated 
with comprehensive income statement, and recognition is made directly on equities.

Earnings per share

Earnings per share are determined by dividing net comprehensive income by the weighted average number of 
shares that have been outstanding during the period concerned. 

In Turkey, companies can increase their share capital by making a pro-rata distribution of their shares “bonus 
shares” to existing shareholders funded from retained earnings or other reserves. For the purpose of earnings 
per share computations, such bonus share issuances are regarded as issued shares for all periods presented and 
accordingly the weighted average number of shares used in earnings per share computations in prior periods is 
adjusted retrospectively for the effects of these shares, issued without receiving cash or another consideration 
from shareholders.

Reporting of cash flows

The statement of cash flows includes cash and cash equivalents, cash with original maturity periods of less than 
three months and bank deposits (Note 4).

Offsetting

Each material class of similar items according to their nature or function is presented separately in the 
consolidated financial statements. If a line item is not individually material, it is aggregated with other similar 
items according to their nature or function. If the essence of the transaction and events requires offsetting, 
presentation of these transactions and events at their net values or following up of the assets at their amounts 
after the deduction of impairment, is not evaluated as a breach of the non-deductibility rule.

Subsequent events

Subsequent events cover any events which arise between the reporting date and the balance sheet date, even 
if they occurred after any declaration of the net profit for the period or specific financial information publicly 
disclosed. The Group adjusts its consolidated financial statements if such subsequent events arise which require 
an adjustment to the financial statements (Note 7 and Note 26).
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2.7 Critical Accounting Estimates, Assumptions and Judgements

Inpairment of trade receivables

As of 31 December 2018, provision for doubtful receivables has been set aside for trade receivables amounting 
to TL 13,762 (31 December 2017: TL 10,224). An important part of the doubtful receivables belongs to the 
tenants, which unexpectedly falls into economic difficults. Provision for doubtful receivables reated to trade 
receivables is determined based on past default experience. Expected credit loss calculated under TFRS 9 is 
not a material amount therefore, no provision was made for expected credit losses in the consolidated financial 
statements.

The preparation of consolidated financial statements requires the use of assumptions and estimates that affect 
the reported amounts of assets and liabilities, and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date 
of the financial statements and reported amounts of revenues expenses, which are reported throughout the 
period. Even though, these assumptions and estimates rely on the best estimates of the management; the 
actual results might differ from them. The estimates and assumptions that have a significant risk of causing a 
material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities are outlined below:

Fair values of investment properties:

The fair value of the investment properties has been determined according to valuation carried out by an 
independent valuation company. The fair value of the investment property is determined according to the 
income approved and comparable transaction. Estimates and assumptions are determined by comparable or 
independent valuation experts, based on the income approach using appropriate discount rates, occupancy 
rates, annual rent increases, terminal value growth rates, etc. Differences between estimates and assumptions 
and actual results may cause significant impact on the Group’s consolidated financial statements.

Principal assumptions found in the income reduction method are disclosed below:

In 2018, fair values of the investment properties are determined by independent valuation expert; Lotus 
Gayrimenkul Değerleme ve Danışmanlık A.Ş. The Group Management assumes that expenditure amount on 
investment property has an equivalent effect on fair value of related real estate.

In the consolidated financial statements, the following assumptions used by valuation experts; selection of the 
valuation method, the discount rate, the rent increase per annum terminal value growth rate, the capitalization 
rate and determination of the market comparable m² values are considered critical and thus disclosed below.
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Significant estimates and assumptions disclosed in the financial statements as of 31 December 2018 and 2017 
are as follows:

31 December 2018
Valuation 
report date Valuation method

Discount 
rate (*)

Rent
 increase 

rate p.a
Terminal 

growth rate

Comparable
 m² prices 
in full TL

Antalya Deepo Shopping Mall 8 January 2019 Discounted cash flow 16-25% 8-15% 8% -

Mall of Antalya 8 January 2019 Discounted cash flow 16-25% 8-15% 8% - 

Antalya Kepez lands 8 January 2019 Sale comparison - - 263-1,858

Bursa Korupark Shopping Mall 8 January 2019 Discounted cash flow 16-25% 8-15% 8% -

Torium Shopping Mall 8 January 2019 Discounted cash flow 16-25% 8-15% 8% -

Bursa Zafer Plaza Shopping Mall 8 January 2019 Discounted cash flow 16-25% 8-15% 8% -

Mall of İstanbul Shopping Mall 8 January 2019 Discounted cash flow 16-25% 8-15% 8% -

Torun Tower 8 January 2019 Sale comparison - - 12,000-45,850

Paşabahçe project 8 January 2019 Discounted cash flow 16-25% 8-15% 8% - 

İstanbul İkitelli Kayabaşı land 8 January 2019 Sale comparison - - - 1,065

İstanbul Beyoğlu Kemankeş building 8 January 2019 Sale comparison - - - 41,700 

Bursa Korupark independent areas 8 January 2019 Sale comparison - - - 500 - 4,790

Mall of İstanbul residents and offices 8 January 2019 Sale comparison - - - 5,556-10,870

Mall of İstanbul hotel convention 
center and office project 8 January 2019 Discounted cash flow 16-25% 8-15% 8%

Torun Center 8 January 2019 Sale comparison - - - 19,565 - 27,397

(*) In accordance with the decree no. 32 that is effective as of 16 November 2018, monthly rental fees are denominated in Turkish Lira. 
Accordingly, in future projections, discount rates are calculated inTL due to from cash flows denominated in TL as a result of rental income in TL. 

31 December 2017
Valuation
report date Valuation method

Discount 
rate (*)

Rent 
increase 

rate %
Terminal 

growth rate

Comparable m² 
prices

 in full TL

Antalya Deepo Shopping Mall 5 January 2018 Discounted cash flow 11% 3% 3% -

Mall of Antalya 5 January 2018 Discounted cash flow 11% 3% 3% -

Antalya Kepez lands 5 January 2018 Sale comparison - - - 250-1,805

Bursa Korupark Shopping Mall 5 January 2018 Discounted cash flow 11% 3% 3% -

Torium Shopping Mall 5 January 2018 Discounted cash flow 11% 3% 3% -

Bursa Zafer Plaza Shopping Mall 5 January 2018 Discounted cash flow 11% 3% 3% -

Mall of İstanbul Shopping Mall 5 January 2018 Discounted cash flow 11% 3% 3% -

Torun Tower 5 January 2018 Sale comparison - - - 8,120-26,440

Paşabahçe project 5 January 2018 Discounted cash flow 11% 4% 4% 3,010-10,100

İstanbul İkitelli Kayabaşı land 5 January 2018 Sale comparison - - - 875

İstanbul Beyoğlu Kemankeş building 5 January 2018 Sale comparison - - - 38,450-39,700

Bursa Korupark independent areas 5 January 2018 Sale comparison - - - 500-4,340

Mall of İstanbul hotel residents and 
offices 5 January 2018 Sale comparison - - - 5,127-10,000

Mall of İstanbul otel convention center 
and residence project 5 January 2018 Discounted cash flow 11% 3% 3% -

Torun Center 5 January 2018 Sale comparison - - - 10,165 - 25,715
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Discount rates for the year ended 31 December 2017 are determined based on cash flows denominated in 
the foreign currency mostly used for each real estate. In Turkey, Euro and US Dollar are commonly used in rent 
agreements.

If all the variables in the valuations of the real estates with the fair value of TL 6,986,844 (31 December 2017: TL 
5,498,739) valued using the income approach as of 31 December 2018 were fixed and the discount rate used 
was more than 0.5% and less than 0.5%, the fair values would have been TL 349,342 lower and TL 349,342 higher 
(31 December 2017: TL 274,936 lower, TL 274,936 higher).

i. The Antalya Deepo Shopping Center and growth project (Mall of Antalya), which was established on an 
area of 84,503.61 m² on the territory of Antalya Province, Merkez District, Koyunlar Village, and which the 
Group classified under investment properties as of 31 December 2018 and 2017, was opened in April 2017, 
respectively. Leasing and management of shopping center is conducted by Torun Alışveriş Merkezleri Yatırım 
ve Yönetim A.Ş.

 Based on Lotus Gayrimenkul Değerleme ve Danışmanlık A.Ş.’s valuation report in accordance with Capital 
Markets Board’s Serie: IV No:1 Communiqué, as at 8 January 2019 with the report number 2018-409 the 
aforementioned property’s fair value is TL 900,000 as at 31 December 2018 (Based on Lotus Gayrimenkul 
Değerleme ve Danışmanlık A.Ş.’s valuation report in accordance with Capital Markets Board’s Serie: IV No:1 
Communiqué, as at 5 January 2018 with the report number 2017-581 the aforementioned property’s fair 
value is TL 580,000 as at 31 December 2017). 

ii. The Group has 57,680 m² of land in the province of Antalya, Merkez District, Koyunlar Village, which is 
classified under investment properties as of 31 December 2018 and 2017.

 Based on Lotus Gayrimenkul Değerleme ve Danışmanlık A.Ş.’s valuation report in accordance with Capital 
Markets Board’s Serie: IV No:1 Communiqué, as at 8 January 2019 with the report number 2018-408 the 
aforementioned property’s fair value is TL 62,235 as at 31 December 2018 (Based on Lotus Gayrimenkul 
Değerleme ve Danışmanlık A.Ş.’s valuation report in accordance with Capital Markets Board’s Serie: IV No:1 
Communiqué, as at 5 January 2018 with the report number 2017-579 the aforementioned property’s fair 
value is TL 78,010 as at 31 December 2017).

 
iii. The Bursa Korupark Shopping Center, which was established on the area of 53,185.61 m² in Bursa Province, 

Osmangazi District, Emek Village, which is classified under investment properties as of 31 December 2018 
and 2017, has been put into service on May 2007. The management of the shopping center is conducted by 
Torun Alışveriş Merkezleri Yatırım ve Yönetim A.Ş.

 Based on Lotus Gayrimenkul Değerleme ve Danışmanlık A.Ş.’s valuation report with the number 2018-398, 
Capital Markets Board’s Serie: IV No:1 Communiqué, dated 8 January 2019, as of 31 December 2018, the 
aforementioned property’s fair value is TL 1,540,000 (Based on Lotus Gayrimenkul Değerleme ve Danışmanlık 
A.Ş.’s valuation report with the number 2017-575, Capital Markets Board’s Serie: IV No:1 Communiqué, dated 
5 January 2018, at 31 December 2017, the aforementioned property’s fair value is TL 1,293,000).
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iv. The Mall of İstanbul Shopping Center, which was established on the rentable area of 181,295 m2 in İstanbul 
Province, Başakşehir Disctrict, İkitelli – 2 Neighborhood, which is classified under invesment properties as of 
31 December 2018 and 2017, has been put into service on 23 May 2014. The management of the shopping 
center is conducted by Torun Alışveriş Merkezleri Yatırım ve Yönetim A.Ş. 

 Based on Lotus Gayrimenkul Değerleme ve Danışmanlık A.Ş.’s valuation report in accordance with Capital 
Markets Board’s Serie: IV No:1 Communiqué, dated 8 January 2019 with the report number 2018-391, the 
aforementioned property’s fair value is TL 2,590,000 as at 31 December 2018 (Based on Lotus Gayrimenkul 
Değerleme ve Danışmanlık A.Ş.’s valuation report in accordance with Capital Markets Board’s Serie: IV No:1 
Communiqué, dated 5 January 2018 with the report number 2017-566, the aforementioned property’s fair 
value is TL 1,860,000 as at 31 December 2017).

v.  As of 31 December 2018 and 2017, the Group has completed the Torium Shopping Center project on an 
area of 44,571 m2 in Istanbul Province, Büyükçekmece District, Esenyurt Village which is classified under 
investment properties. The Torium AVM project has been completed and the shopping mall was opened on 
30 October 2010.

 Based on Lotus Gayrimenkul Değerleme ve Danışmanlık A.Ş.’s valuation report in accordance with Capital 
Markets Board’s Serie: IV No:1 Communiqué, dated 8 January 2019 with the report number 2018-400, the 
aforementioned property’s fair value is TL 490,000 as at 31 December 2018 (Based on Lotus Gayrimenkul 
Değerleme ve Danışmanlık A.Ş.’s valuation report in accordance with Capital Markets Board’s Serie: IV No:1 
Communiqué, dated 5 January 2018 with the report number 2017-568, the aforementioned property’s fair 
value is TL 465,200 as at 31 December 2017).

vi. As of 31 December 2018 and 2017, the Group has an area of 70,644 m² in the Istanbul Province, Beykoz 
District which is classified as investment property and has 49 years of usage rights for a 3,935 m² pier and 
dock. It is planned to make a 5 star Hotel and Apart Hotel project on the land.

 Based on Lotus Gayrimenkul Değerleme ve Danışmanlık A.Ş.’s valuation report in accordance with Capital 
Markets Board’s Serie: IV No:1 Communiqué, dated 8 January 2019 with the report number 2018-404, the 
aforementioned property’s fair value is TL 801,100 as at 31 December 2018 (Based on Lotus Gayrimenkul 
Değerleme ve Danışmanlık A.Ş.’s valuation report in accordance with Capital Markets Board’s Serie: IV No:1 
Communiqué, dated 5 January 2018 with the report number 2017-570, the aforementioned property’s fair 
value is TL 754,600 as at 31 December 2017).

 
vii. On the 11,099 m² land located in İstanbul - Şişli 2nd District - which is classified under investment property 

as of 31 December 2018 and 2017, the Group completed Torun Tower Project in 2014. The project has been 
completed in 2014 and a rent agreement has been signed with Denizbank A.Ş. for 60,023 m² of area (30 
floors) on 6 February 2014.

 Based on Lotus Gayrimenkul Değerleme ve Danışmanlık A.Ş.’s valuation report in accordance with Capital 
Markets Board’s Serie: IV No:1 Communiqué, dated 8 January 2019 with the report number 2018-402, the 
aforementioned property’s fair value is TL 1,724,000 as at 31 December 2018 (Based on Lotus Gayrimenkul 
Değerleme ve Danışmanlık A.Ş.’s valuation report in accordance with Capital Markets Board’s Serie: IV No:1 
Communiqué, dated 5 January 2017 with the report number 2017-563, the aforementioned property’s fair 
value is TL 1,532,000 as at 31 December 2017).
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viii. Bursa Zafer Plaza located on the 9,622 m² land in Bursa - Osmangazi Şehreküstü District - which is classified 
under investment property as of 31 December 2018 and 2017 has been opened in October 1999. Rental 
procedures and management of the Mall is conducted by Zafer Plaza İşletmecilik A.Ş.

 Based on Lotus Gayrimenkul Değerleme ve Danışmanlık A.Ş.’s valuation report in accordance with Capital 
Markets Board’s Serie: IV No:1 Communiqué, dated 8 January 2019 with the report number 2018-397, the 
aforementioned property’s fair value is TL 352,400 as at 31 December 2018 (Based on Lotus Gayrimenkul 
Değerleme ve Danışmanlık A.Ş.’s valuation report in accordance with Capital Markets Board’s Serie: IV No:1 
Communiqué, dated 5 January 2018 with the report number 2017-574, the aforementioned property’s fair 
value is TL 291,600 as at 31 December 2017).

ix. The Group owns 60,833 m² land located in İstanbul - Küçükçekmece Kayabaşı District - which is classified 
under investment property as of 31 December 2018 and 2017. The usage of this land has not been 
determined by the management as of balance sheet date and the land is retained for capital appreciation.

 Based on Lotus Gayrimenkul Değerleme ve Danışmanlık A.Ş.’s valuation report in accordance with Capital 
Markets Board’s Serie: IV No:1 Communiqué, dated 8 January 2019 with the report number 2017-569 the 
aforementioned property’s fair value is TL 64,785 as at 31 December 2018 (Based on Lotus Gayrimenkul 
Değerleme ve Danışmanlık A.Ş.’s valuation report in accordance with Capital Markets Board’s Serie: IV No:1 
Communiqué, dated 5 January 2018 with the report number 2017-569 the aforementioned property’s fair 
value is TL 53,230 as at 31 December 2017).

x. The Group owns a building located on 1,501 m² land in İstanbul - Beyoğlu Kemankeş District - which is 
classified under investment property as of 31 December 2018 and 2017. The building is planned to be 
renovated as a hotel.

 Based on Lotus Gayrimenkul Değerleme ve Danışmanlık A.Ş.’s valuation report in accordance with Capital 
Markets Board’s Serie: IV No:1 Communiqué, dated 8 January 2019 with the report number 2018-406 the 
aforementioned property’s fair value is TL 61,660 as at 31 December 2018 (Based on Lotus Gayrimenkul 
Değerleme ve Danışmanlık A.Ş.’s valuation report in accordance with Capital Markets Board’s Serie: IV No:1 
Communiqué, dated 5 January 2018 with the report number 2017-571 the aforementioned property’s fair 
value is TL 58,170 as at 31 December 2017).

xi. As at 31 December 2018 and 2017 separate unit of Bursa Korupark Shopping Mall located in Bursa - 
Osmangazi Emek district which is classified under investment properties includes a dolphin pool, social 
recreation areas, office and stores.

 Based on Lotus Gayrimenkul Değerleme ve Danışmanlık A.Ş.’s valuation report in accordance with Capital 
Markets Board’s Serie: IV No:1 Communiqué, dated 8 January 2019 with the report number 2018-399 the 
aforementioned property’s fair value is TL 22,433 as at 31 December 2018 (Based on Lotus Gayrimenkul 
Değerleme ve Danışmanlık A.Ş.’s valuation report in accordance with Capital Markets Board’s Serie: IV No:1 
Communiqué, dated 5 January 2018 with the report number 2017-576 the aforementioned property’s fair 
value is TL 20,613 as at 31 December 2017).
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xii. The Group has started to Mall of Istanbul Hotel, Convention Center and Office Project on 18,209 m² land 
located in İstanbul-Başakşehir district which is classified under investment properties as of 31 December 
2018 and 2017.

 Based on Lotus Gayrimenkul Değerleme ve Danışmanlık A.Ş.’s valuation report in accordance with Capital 
Markets Board’s Serie: IV No:1 Communiqué, dated 8 January 2019 with the report number 2018-394 the 
aforementioned property’s fair value is TL 313,344 as at 31 December 2018 (Based on Lotus Gayrimenkul 
Değerleme ve Danışmanlık A.Ş.’s valuation report in accordance with Capital Markets Board’s Serie: IV No:1 
Communiqué, dated 5 January 2018 with the report number 2017-565 the aforementioned property’s fair 
value is TL 256,339 as at 31 December 2017).

xiii. The Group has rented 22 units consisting of 20 offices and 2 residents with a rentable area of 2,177 m² which 
is located in Istanbul Province, Başakşehir-İkitelli-2 District and is classified under invesment properties as of 
31 December 2018 and 2017.

 Based on Lotus Gayrimenkul Değerleme ve Danışmanlık A.Ş.’s valuation report in accordance with Capital 
Markets Board’s Serie: IV No1 Communiqué, dated 8 January 2019 with the report number 2018-392, the 
aforementioned property’s fair value is TL 13,550 as at 31 December 2018 (Based on Lotus Gayrimenkul 
Değerleme ve Danışmanlık A.Ş.’s valuation report in accordance with Capital Markets Board’s Serie: IV No1 
Communiqué, dated 5 January 2018 with the report number 2017-564, the aforementioned property’s fair 
value is TL 19,080 as at 31 December 2017).

xiv. In 2018, The Group leased out the rentable area of 68,673 m2 which consists of workplaces, offices and 
commercial units within the Torun Center project and in the address of İstanbul Province, Şişli-Dikilitaş 
District, as of 31 December 2018 and 2017. 

 Based on Lotus Gayrimenkul Değerleme ve Danışmanlık A.Ş.’s valuation report in accordance with Capital 
Markets Board’s Serie: IV No:1 Communiqué, dated 8 January 2019 with the report number 2018-403 the 
aforementioned property’s fair value is TL 1,086,976 as at 31 December 2018 (Based on Lotus Gayrimenkul 
Değerleme ve Danışmanlık A.Ş.’s valuation report in accordance with Capital Markets Board’s Serie: IV No:1 
Communiqué, dated 5 January 2018 with the report number 2017-562 the aforementioned property’s fair 
value is TL 1,022,687 as at 31 December 2017).

2.8 Compliance with the portfolio limitations

Presented information in Additional Note: control of compliance with the portfolio limitations are the 
condensed information which comprised of Serial: II, No: 14.1 “Financial Reporting in Capital Markets” 
Amendment No: 16 and prepared in accordance with Capital Markets Board’s Communiqué Serial: III, No: 48.1 
“Real Estate Investment Company” published in the Official Gazette dated 28 May 2013 numbered 28660 
Capital Markets Board’s Communiqué Serial: III, No: 48.1 a “Amendment on Real Estate Investment Company” 
published in the Official Gazette dated 23 January 2014 numbered 28891.
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3. SEGMENT REPORTING

The reportable segments of Torunlar REIC have been organized by the management as a portfolio on a project-
by-project basis and makes decisions about resources to be allocated to the properties on the same basis. 
Accounting policies applied by each operational segment of Torunlar REIC are the same as those are applied 
in Torunlar REIC’s financial statements which are prepared in accordance with TFRS. The information about 
each segment is presented below. Management follows and evaluates the performance of its segments in the 
statement of profit or loss until the operating profit before the financing income/expense. Since all of the loans 
and deposits which are constituted the financing activities of the Group can not be matched with the projects 
and are generally related to mixed projects, the Management does not make an assessment by distributing the 
financing activities according to the departments. In addition, the Management does not make an assessment 
by distributing its total assets and liabilities according to the divisions. The segment information for the 
reportable segments as of and for the period ended 31 December 2018 is as follows:

 

 Total 
revenue

 from 
departments 

Gross
 profit

Increase in 
fair value of 
investment 

properties (*)

 Operating 
profit

/(loss) 

Income / 
(expense) 

from 
subsidiaries

Finance 
expenses, 

net

Profit/
(loss) from 
operations 
before tax

Investment 
expenditures (**)

Offices and shopping malls for rent
Mall of İstanbul Shopping Mall  245,185  186,572  725,400  903,778  -  -  903,778  4,600 
Korupark Shopping Mall  134,951  110,078  245,517  360,580  -  -  360,580  1,483 
Torun Tower  83,696  75,729  192,000  273,757  -  -  273,757  - 
Torium Shopping Mall  60,789  23,593  38,888  60,402  -  -  60,402  5,202 
Zafer Plaza Shopping Mall  33,900  25,149  60,800  85,740  -  -  85,740  - 
Antalya Deepo Shopping Mall  40,393  31,359  110,295  141,632  141,632  - 
Mall of Antalya  43,370  28,392  198,860  226,920  -  -  226,920  12,740 
Korupark independent areas  622  615  129  -  -  129  - 
Torun Center  4,287  2,695  61,031  60,635  -  -  60,635  3,258 
Subtotal  647,193  484,182  1,632,791  2,113,573  -  -  2,113,573  27,283 
Residences and office projects
Torun Center  32,289  23,987  -  11,552     -    -  11,552 
Korupark 3rd phase residences  2,771  2,047  1,809  3,753     -    -  3,753  - 
Mall of İstanbul  -  -  (5,590)  (5,590)     -    -  (5,590)  60 
Nishistanbul Project  97  123  -  16     -    -  16  - 
5. Levent Project (***)  1,088  308  14,684  14,992     -    -  14,992  - 
Subtotal  36,245  26,465  10,903  24,723  -  -  24,723  60 
Projects under construction
5. Levent Project (***)   1,270,845   373,996     -   361,096     -    -   361,096  438,305 
Paşabahçe project    -    -    41,645  41,645     -    -   41,645   4,855 
Mall of İstanbul hotel convention center and residence 
project    -    -    17,194   17,194     -    -   17,194  39,751 
Properties held for new projects
Antalya Kepez Lands    -    -  (15,775)  (15,775)     -    - -  15,775   - 
Kayabaşı land    - -    11,555  11,555     -    -   11,555   - 
Kemankeş building    -    252    3,238  3,490     -    -   3,490   252 
Mall of İstanbul 3rd Phase (**)    -    -  (6,980)  (6,980)     -    -  (6,980)   - 
Associates
Ankamall ve Hotel (Yeni Gimat)  -  -  -  -  40,997  -  40,997  - 
Netsel  -  -  -  -  9,715  -  9,715  - 
TTA  -  -  -  -  3,652  -  3,652  - 
Unallocated  -  194  -  52,437  -  (1,370,118)  (1,317,681)  - 
  
Total  1,954,283  885,089  1,694,571  2,602,958  54,364  (1,370,118)  1,287,204  510,506 

(*) Comprises of fair value increases / decreases arising from investment properties.
(**) Investment expenditures include investments for items classified as inventory in financial statements and shopping malls classified as 
investment properties.
(**) Investment expenditures related to the 5.Levent project, consist of direct costs, indirect costs and other cost items that the Group 
management classified as related to the project.
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The segment information for the reportable segments as of and for the period ended 31 December 2017 is as 
follows:

 

 Total 
revenue

 from 
departments 

Gross 
profit

Increase in 
fair value of
 investment 

properties (*)

 Operating 
profit/(loss) 

Income / 
(expense) from 

subsidiaries

Finance 
expenses,

 net

Profit/
(loss) from 
operations 
before tax

Investment 
expenditures (**)

Offices and shopping malls for rent

Mall of İstanbul Shopping Mall  188,677  146,072  210,551  352,487  -  -  352,487  8,535 

Korupark Shopping Mall  107,503  87,826  90,474  178,447  -  -  178,447  728 

Torun Tower  74,805  74,362  39,503  113,860  -  -  113,860  87 

Torium Shopping Mall  49,596  22,981  (71,301)  (48,272)  -  -  (48,272)  11,311 

Zafer Plaza Shopping Mall  28,800  21,003  (37,420)  (16,417)  -  -  (16,417)  - 

Antalya Deepo Shopping Mall  25,178  16,980  12,516  29,496  29,496  262 

Mall of Antalya Shopping Mall  17,631  4,550  (56,967)  (55,327)  -  -  (55,327)  108,819 

Mall of İstanbul convention center 
and residence project  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  - 

Antalya Kepez Lands  222  222  16,360  16,582  -  -  16,582  - 

Korupark independent areas  398  368  (1,117)  (749)  -  -  (749)  - 

Torun Center  156  156  (8,242)  (8,086)  -  -  (8,086)  2,736 

Subtotal  492,966  374,520  194,357  562,021  -  -  562,021  132,478 

Residences and office projects 
Torun Center  88,502  34,033  -  34,858     -    -  34,858  40,090 

Korupark 3rd phase residences  12,066  7,579  -  6,188     -    -  6,188  - 

Mall of İstanbul  -  -  (5,361)  (5,361)     -    -  (5,361)  115 

Torium residences  -  -  -  -     -    -  -  - 

Nishistanbul Project  2,246  1,560  -  1,393     -    -  1,393  - 

Subtotal  102,814  43,172  (5,361)  37,078     -    -  37,078  40,205 

Projects under construction

5. Levent Project (***)  183,990  90,706  -  84,533     -    -  84,533  522,975 

Torun Center    -    -     -  -     -    -    -   - 

Mall of İstanbul hotel convention 
center and residence project    -    -    40,361   40,361     -    -   40,361  9,002 

Properties held for new projects

Paşabahçe land    -    -    134,270   134,270     -    -   134,270   13,000 

Kayabaşı land    -    -    3,984   3,984     -    -   3,984   - 

Kemankeş building    -    -    6,439   6,439     -    -   6,439   - 

Associates

Ankamall ve Hotel (Yeni Gimat)  -  -  -  -  28,172  -  28,172  - 

Netsel  -  -  -  -  3,239  -  3,239  - 

TTA  -  -  -  -  (1,250)  -  (1,250)  - 

Torunlar Özyazıcı  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  - 

Unallocated  370  256  -  (24,325)  30,161  (419,414)  (413,578)  - 

  

Total  780,140  508,654  374,050  844,361  60,321  (419,414)  485,269  717,660 

(*) Comprises of fair value increases / decreases arising from investment properties.
(**) Investment expenditures include investments for items classified as inventory in financial statements and shopping malls classified as 
investment properties.
(**) Investment expenditures related to the 5.Levent project, consist of direct costs, indirect costs and other cost items that the Group 
management classified as related to the project.
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4. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

 31 December 2018 31 December 2017
Cash - 1
Bank 203,925 602,340

Demand deposits 2,928 829
Time deposits up to 3 months maturity 200,997 601,511

Other cash equivalents 412 91

 204,337 602,432

As of 31 December 2018 and 2017, cash and cash equivalents in the statements of cash flows are as follows:

31 December 2018 31 December 2017
Cash and cash equivalents 204,337 602,432
Less: Interest accrual of time deposits (1,197) (7,213)
Cash and cash equivalents in the statement of cash flows 203,140 595,219

Weighted average effective interest rate for time deposits (%): 

  31 December 2018 (%) 31 December 2017 (%)
US Dollar 6.39% 4.05%
Euro 3.80% 2.12%
Turkish Lira 23.43% 14.76%

The breakdown of foreign currency denominated cash and cash equivalents in terms of TL is as follows:
  

31 December 2018 31 December 2017
 Original Amount TL Equivalent Original Amount TL Equivalent
US Dollar 20,195 106,243 46,689 176,108
Euro 6,502 39,194 3,009 13,586
Other 1 8 1 5
 145,445 189,699
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5. FINANCIAL LIABILITIES

31 December 2018 31 December 2017
Financial borrowings  
Bank borrowings 258,038 469,671
Short term financial borrowings 258,038 469,671
Current portion of long-term borrowings 1,652,764 374,690
Finance leases 32,844 21,682
Short-term portions of long-term borrowings 1,685,608 396,372
Bank borrowings 2,187,695 2,669,391
Finance leases 62,694 71,042
Long-term borrowings 2,250,389 2,740,433
Total borrowings 4,194,035 3,606,476

As of 31 December 2018, there are mortgages amounting to TL 2,240,185 (31 December 2017: TL 1,438,978) 
given to the banks regarding the financial liabilitites amounting to TL 7,372,063 (31 December 2017: TL 
4,885,676) on the investment properties.

a) Bank borrowings

 31 December 2018 31 December 2017
Short-term bank borrowings 258,038 469,671
Current portion of long-term borrowings 1,652,764 374,690
Long-term bank borrowings 2,187,695 2,669,391
Total borrowings 4,098,497 3,513,752

31 December 2018

Weighted 
avg. effective 

interest (%) Currency
Original 
amount TL equivalent

Short-term bank borrowings 19.34 TL 86,554 86,554 
 4.90 US Dollar 16,172 85,079 
 3.00 Euro 14,334 86,405 
Current portion of long-term borrowings 19.21 TL 194,817 194,817 

6.61 US Dollar 246,680 1,297,759 
 4.46 Euro 26,574 160,188 
Long-term bank borrowings 22.01 TL 285,031 285,031 
 5.76 US Dollar 197,989 1,041,606 
 3.93 Euro 142,843 861,058 
Total bank borrowings 4,098,497
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31 December 2017

Weighted 
avg. effective 
interest (%)(*) Currency

Original
 amount TL equivalent

Short-term bank borrowings 14.75 TL 312,123 312,123 
 2 Euro 34,891 157,548 
Current portion of long-term borrowings 14.75 TL 61,550 61,550 
          5.84 US Dollar 58,902 222,173 
 3.47 Euro 20,146 90,967 
Long-term bank borrowings 15 TL 248,566 248,566 
 5.47 US Dollar 515,037 1,942,667 
 3.94 Euro 105,893 478,158 
Total bank borrowings 3,513,752

(*) Weighted average effective interest rates consists of weighted average rate of fixed and floating loans.

The repayment schedule for long-term bank borrowings as of 31 December 2018 and 2017 is as follows:

31 December 2018 31 December 2017
2019 - 1,585,968
2020 703,497 452,846
2021 190,334 452,846
2021 and beyond 1,293,864 630,577
 2,187,695 3,122,237

Finance leases 

The maturities of obligations under finance lease is as follows. 
 

31 December 2018 31 December 2017
Up to 1 year 32,844 21,681
1 years - 5 years 62,694 71,043
 95,538 92,724

Finance leases consist of US Dollar and EUR. The Group has a finance leases obligation of 3.56% interest rate 
with original currency of EUR 1,527 and interest rate of 4.95% with original currency US Dollar 827 (31 December 
2017: US Dollar 688 and EUR 20,891) as of 30 September 2018.

As of 31 December 2018, a significant part of the finance leases consists of financial lease obligations related to 
the shopping malls which are sold to Ak Finansal Kiralama A.Ş. regarding the sell and leaseback agreement that 
was made on 27 May 2016 and which are represented as the investment properties (Note 2). 



TORUNLAR GAYRİMENKUL YATIRIM ORTAKLIĞI A.Ş. AND ITS SUBSIDIARY
NOTES TO THE AUDITED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AS OF 31 DECEMBER 2018
(AMOUNTS EXPRESSED IN THOUSANDS OF TURKISH LIRA (“TL”) UNLESS OTHERWISE STATED.)

191

Torunlar GYO Annual Report 2018

6. PREPAID EXPENSES AND DEFERRED INCOME 

 31 December 2018 31 December 2017
Short-Term Prepaid Expenses  
Advances given  8,748  44,339 
Prepaid expenses  5,527  8,216 
  14,275  52,555 

Long-Term Prepaid Expenses  
Advances given (*) 970 89,651 
Prepaid expenses 3,033 3,351 
  4,003  93,002 

(*) As of 31 December 2017, advances given amounting to TL 88,680 is related with purchased land which is 12,131.79 m² and located near 
Mall Of İstanbul. The land has been purchased from Başakşehir Municipality for 75,100 TL + VAT on 10 January 2018 and presented as under 
investment properties in 2018.

 31 December 2018 31 December 2017
Short-Term Deferred Income  
Advances received (**)  97,584  1,164,658 
Deferred income -  11,852 
  97,584  1,176,510 

(**) As of 31 December 2018, advances received amounting to TL 85,881 consist of the sales commitments regarding the offices and residential 
units of 5.Levent Project, TL 4,270 for Mall of İstanbul project, TL 2,143 for Korupark 3rd Phase and remaining TL 5,190 consist of other advances 
(31 December 2017: TL 1,153,027 5. Levent Project, TL 6,578 Torun Center Project, 672 TL Korupark 1st-2nd-3rd Phase and remaining TL 4,679 
other advances).
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7. TRADE RECEIVABLES AND PAYABLES

Current trade receivables 31 December 2018 31 December 2017
Trade receivables  75,589  48,174 
Notes receivables (*)  81,011  122,252 
Trade receivables from related parties (Note:23)  30,700  3,882 
Checks received  613  8,567 
Less: Allowance for doubtful receivables  (13,762)  (10,244)
  174,151  172,631 

Non-current trade receivables 31 December 2018 31 December 2017
Notes receivables (*)  10,661  33,498 
  10,661  33,498 

(*) As of 31 December 2018, TL 55,369 of long-term and short-term notes receivable are related to 5. Levent project, TL 11,054 of Mall of 
Istanbul 2nd Phase Project, TL 6,471 of Korupark 3rd Phase resident project, TL 3,081 of Mall of Antalya, TL 2,079 of Torium project and the 
remaining TL 13,618 consist of other notes receivables (31 December 2017: 5.Levent Project TL 148,400, Mall of İstanbul TL 2,047, Korupark 3rd 
Phase TL 5,997).

Movement of the provision for the doubtful receivables is as follows:

Movement of provision for doubtful receivables  

 31 December 2018 31 December 2017
Opening balance  (10,244)  (6,732)
Provision provided during the period  (3,864)  (5,044)
Provisions no longer required  346  1,532 
Closing balance  (13,762)  (10,244)

Aging of provision for doubtful receivables is as follows:

 31 December 2018 31 December 2017
3 to 6 months  (262)  (3,128)
Over 6 months  (13,500)  (7,116)
  (13,762)  (10,244)

Short-term trade payables 31 December 2018 31 December 2017
Trade payables  68,518  103,553 
Trade payables to related parties (Note:23)  30,078  11,172 
Notes payable  650  4,499 
  99,246  119,224 

As of 31 December 2018 and 2017, majority of trade payables consist of payables to subcontractors relating to 
projects in progress.
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8. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

Movement schedule of investment properties as of 31 December 2018 and 2017:

 1 January 2018 Additions Disposals Transfers
Change in
 fair value 31 December 2018

Shopping Malls and Offices

MOI Shopping Mall  1,860,000  4,600  -  -  725,400  2,590,000 

Torun Tower  1,532,000  -  -  -  192,000  1,724,000 

Bursa Korupark Shopping Mall  1,293,000  1,483  -  -  245,517  1,540,000 

Torun Center  1,022,687  3,258  -  -  61,031  1,086,976 

Torium Shopping Mall (***)  465,200  5,202  -  (19,290)  38,888  490,000 

Antalya Deepo Shopping Mall  299,600  105  110,295  410,000 

Mall of Antalya (*)  278,400  12,740  -  -  198,860  490,000 

Bursa Zafer Plaza Shopping 
Mall  291,600  -  -  -  60,800  352,400 

Mall of İstanbul Residences 
and offices  19,080  60  -  -  (5,590)  13,550 

Korupark independent areas  20,613  11  -  -  1,809  22,433 

5. Levent (***)  -  -  -  38,246  14,684  52,930 

Investment properties under 
construction   

Paşabahçe land (**)  754,600  4,855  -  -  41,645  801,100 

Mall of İstanbul hotel, congress 
center and office project  256,339  39,811  -  -  17,194  313,344 

Properties held for new-
projects

Antalya Kepez Lands  78,010  -  -  -  (15,775)  62,235 

Kemankeş building  58,170  252  -  -  3,238  61,660 

Kayabaşı land  53,230  -  -  -  11,555  64,785 

Mall of İstanbul 3rd Phase  -  75,100  -  -  (6,980)  68,120 

 8,282,529 147,477 - 18,956 1,694,571 10,143,533

(*) Mall of Antalya started operations on 28 April 2017.
(**) The Group has purchased a reall estate after a successful tender at a price of TL 355 million from R.T. Prime Ministry Privatization 
Administration. The aforementioned purchase contains real estates as follows: Block 195, Lot 7 as 54,870 m2; Block 209, Lot 3 as 16,212 m2; 
Block 200, lot 3 as 827 m2 and buildings on these real estates. Title deed processes of real estates have been completed as of 20 September 
2012. Torunlar REIC is planning to develop a project on this land which will include a five-star hotel and apart hotel. The building license for the 
project was received on 7 September 2017.
(***) The land cost related to the dorm near the Torium Shopping Center are classified to property, plant and equipment, and the areas from 
which rent income is acquired related to the 5. Levent project are reclassified from inventories to investment properties.
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 1 January 2017 Additions Disposals Transfers
Change in 
fair value 31 December 2017

Shopping Malls and Offices

MOI Shopping Mall  1,640,914  8,535  -  -  210,551  1,860,000 

Torun Tower  1,492,410  87  -  -  39,503  1,532,000 

Bursa Korupark Shopping Mall  1,201,798  728  -  -  90,474  1,293,000 

Torun Center  1,028,193  2,736  -  -  (8,242)  1,022,687 

Torium Shopping Mall  525,190  11,311  -  -  (71,301)  465,200 

Antalya Deepo Shopping Mall 
and Mall of Antalya (*)  513,370  109,081  -  -  (44,451)  578,000 

Bursa Zafer Plaza Shopping Mall  329,020  -  -  -  (37,420)  291,600 

Mall of İstanbul Residences and 
Offices  24,441  -  -  -  (5,361)  19,080 

Korupark independent areas  21,730  -  -  -  (1,117)  20,613 

Investment properties under 
construction  

Paşabahçe project  607,330  13,000  -  -  134,270  754,600 

Mall of İstanbul hotel congress 
center and office project  206,861  9,117  -  -  40,361  256,339 

Properties held for new-projects  

Antalya Kepez Lands  61,650  -  -  -  16,360  78,010 

Kemankeş building  51,731  -  -  -  6,439  58,170 

Kayabaşı land  49,246  -  -  -  3,984  53,230 

   

 7,753,884 154,595 - - 374,050 8,282,529

(*) Mall of Antalya started operations on 28 April 2017.
(**) The Group has purchased a reall estate after a successful tender at a price of TL 355 million from R.T. Prime Ministry Privatization 
Administration. The aforementioned purchase contains real estates as follows: Block 195, Lot 7 as 54,870 m2; Block 209, Lot 3 as 16,212 m2; 
Block 200, lot 3 as 827 m2 and buildings on these real estates. Title deed processes of real estates have been completed as of 20 September 
2012. Torunlar REIC is planning to develop a project on this land which will include a five-star hotel and apart hotel.

31 December 2018 31 December 2017

Original Amount Original Amount Currency Type 31 December 2018 31 December 2017

Torun Tower 390,000 390,000 US Dollar 2,051,751 1,471,041

Paşabahçe Land 375,000 375,000 US Dollar 1,972,838 1,414,463

Mall of İstanbul Shopping Mall 150,000 150,000 US Dollar 789,135 565,785

Mall of İstanbul Shopping Mall 406,399 406,399 TL 406,399 406,399

Bursa Korupark Shopping Mall 225,000 225,000 Euro 1,356,301 1,015,989

Antalya Deepo Shopping Mall 130,000 - Euro 783,641 - 

Mall of İstanbul Additional Land 12,000 12,000 TL 12,000 12,000

 7,372,065 4,885,677
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9. INVENTORIES

 31 December 2018 31 December 2017
Short-term inventories 
Residences and office projects  
Completed Projects  

 - Torun Center project (*)  560,563  301,326 
 - Mall of İstanbul project (**)  25,965  30,558 
 - Nishistanbul (***)  12,088  12,495 
 - Korupark 3rd phase (****)  2,673  3,560 
 - Torium (*****)  438  438 

Non-Completed Projects  
 - 5.Levent project (******)  659,277  961,806 
 - Torun center project (*)  -  314,815 
  
  1,261,004  1,624,998 

Provision for impairment of inventories amounting to TL 67 has been recognised for Torium Residences 
(31 December 2017: TL 67); TL 1,398 (31 December 2017: 1,398) for Nishistanbul total of TL 1,465 (31 
December 2017: TL 1,465) as of 31 December 2018.

(*) The Torun Center Project consists of sellable area with a total of 175,408 m², segregated as 45,776 m² Office Tower, 36,382 m² Horizontal 
Office, 77,988 m² Residence and 15,312 m² Commercial Area. The delivery of Office Tower and Horizontal Office has started as of 31 December 
2016. 87 residences, 46 offices and 39 Horizontal offices have been delivered, and in this context, the Group has recognised revenue amounting 
to TL 573,522 as of 31 December 2018. (31 December 2017: 81 residences, 45 offices and 39 horizontal offices and in this context the Group has 
collected revenue TL 541,849). As of 31 December 2018, the Group did not capitalized any financial expense during Torun Center Project (31 
December 2017: None).
(**) Construction license of Mall of İstanbul Project was taken on 18 March 2011. The Project with 656,528 m² construction area comprising 
129,186 m² shopping mall, 97,700 m² residence, 8,433 m² office and 421,209 m² is mixed-use project. Project construction has started in March 
2011. Residence and office transfers started on 24 December 2013 and the shopping mall opened its door to the visitors on 23 May 2014. 
Based on the valuation report numbered 2011/TGYO/10 and dated 31 March 2011, which was prepared by Prime Gayrimenkul Değerleme ve 
Danışmanlık A,Ş., the fair value of land including 146,039 m² sellable residences and offices was determined as TL 203,233 and the value of land 
belonging to residences and offices to be sold after Project completion has been transferred to inventories. The Group has started to deliver 
the projects on 24 December 2013 and has delivered 1,078 residences, 133 offices and 21 horizontal offices and in this context the Group has 
recognised revenue amounting TL 985 as of 31 December 2018. As of 31 December 2018, TL 361 final sales income is obtained (31 December 
2017: 1,077 residences, 133 offices and 21 horizontal offices and in this context the Group has recognised revenue amounting TL 623,824).
(***) There are 1 offices (gross 260 m²) and 6 stores (gross 1,546 m²) registered in Nishistanbul project in İstanbul, Yenibosna, plate 243DS3A, 
Block 338, and Lot 1.
(****) In the context of 3rd phase of the Korupark project, there are 17 blocks, 678 residences and 2 offices where on 20 March 2011 construction 
and on 30 April 2011 pre-sales started. As of 31 December 2018, 667 residences were sold with 100,204 m² and transferred to buyers (31 
December 2017: 99,532 m2 663 residences).
(*****) As of 31 December 2018, in Torium project, 51 residences from the total 53 sellable units (gross 5.534 m²) have been sold and 2 
residential units have been remained with gross 189 m² in the Group inventories. There is no delivered real estate in 2018.
(******) As of 31 December 2018, 1,799 residences were sold and transferred to buyers in 5. Levent project (31 December 2017: 173). 
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10. OTHER ASSETS AND LIABILITIES

 31 December 2018 31 December 2017
Other current assets  
Value added tax (“VAT”) receivables  11,561  139,036 
Prepaid taxes and funds  1,669  4,636 
Other  622  3,554 
  13,852  147,226 

 31 December 2018 31 December 2017
Other short-term liabilities  
Short-term liabilities for project costs (*)  171,213  - 
Prepaid taxes and funds  4,591  5,172 
Accrued expenses  169  - 
  175,973  5,172 

 31 December 2018 31 December 2017
Other Long-Term Liabilities  
Long-term liabilities for project costs (*)  52,304  - 
  52,304  - 

(*) It comprises liabilities from costs related to land share in 5. Levent project.
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11. OTHER RECEIVABLES AND OTHER PAYABLES

Other payables 31 December 2018 31 December 2017
Deposits and warranties abtained  28,608  33,651 
Other  164  1,627 
  28,772  35,278 

Other receivables 31 December 2018 31 December 2017
Deposits and warranties given  9,293  1,454 
Other receivables  3,105  188 
  12,398  1,642 

12. INVESTMENTS ACCOUNTED BY EQUITY METHOD

 31 December 2018 31 December 2017
  (%)  TL  (%)  TL 
Yeni Gimat  14.83  308,370  14.83  286,891 
TTA  40.00  25,902  40.00  22,250 
Netsel  44.60  14,153  44.60  6,452 
   348,425  315,593
 

 31 December 2018 31 December 2017
Opening balance  315,593  328,158 
Income from associates, (net)  50,712  31,411 
Dividends received from associates  (19,389)  (18,761)
Liquidation effect of Torunlar-Özyazıcı (*)  -  (23,965)
Treasury Shares (**)  (2,143)  - 
Income and expenses from joint ventures, (net)  3,652  (1,250)
Closing balance  348,425  315,593 

(*) Torunlar Özyazıcı project partnership, which used to be a joint venture of the Group, was terminated after the sale of all of the properties 
belonging to the project partnership on 30 May 2017. Profit amounting to TL 4,301 as a result of the liquidation of the project partnership has 
been accounted in the statement of profit or loss as of 31 December 2017.
(**) The Company’s subsidiary, Yeni Gimat GYO, is a 100% subsidiary of the Anadolu Gayrimenkul Yönetimi A.Ş. As a result of the merger in 2017, 
the repurchase transaction which is held by the subsidiary in 2018, the shares of Yeni Gimat GYO A.Ş. amounting to 2,143 are classified as 
treasury shares.
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Profit or losses from investments accounted for by the equity method:

 31 December 2018 31 December 2017
Yeni Gimat  40,997  28,172 
Netsel  9,715  3,239 
TTA  3,652  (1,250)
Total  54,364  30,161 

13. PROVISIONS

Short-term provisions 31 December 2018 31 December 2017
Cost provisions  -  6,820 
Provisions for legal cases (*)  9,807  3,707 
  9,807  10,527 

(*) In accordance with the opinions of the Group lawyers, as of 31 December 2018, provision for legal cases amounting to TL 9,806 was made 
(31 December 2017: 3,708 TL). There are 29 cases for pecuniary and non-pecuniary damages, 158 business cases and 29 other various cases 
against the Group as of 31 December 2018. The amount or risk arising from total probable cash outflows is TL 9,807, and the relevant cases are 
on progress. (31 December 2017: Provision for legal cases amounting to TL 1,422 consist of the working accident lawsuits, TL 962 consist of the 
cases for employee-employer dispute and remaining TL1,325 consist of the other various cases). In accordance with the opinions of the Group, 
no liability is expected except for the provision amount. There is no legal case that the shareholders of the Group is involved as a party.

Provisions for employee benefits

Long-term provisions 31 December 2018 31 December 2017
Provisions for employment termination benefits  1,182  1,200 
  1,182  1,200 
 
Provisions for severance pay consist the present value of the future possible liabilities, which occurs from the 
employees retirements and it is calculated according to the Turkish Labor Law and accounted accrual basis. 
The calculation of severance payment provision is according to the price ceiling which is determined by the 
government. As of 1 January 2018, the effective price ceiling is TL 6,017.6 (1 January 2017: TL 5,001.76).

TAS 19 - Employee Benefits standard requires actuarial valuation methods on determining the severance 
payment liability. Due to the insignificance of actuarial (gain)/loss impact to the financial statements, related 
standard has not been applied. As at 31 December 2018, the estimations during the calculation of severance 
payment are; 4.72% of discount rate, 6.00% of salary/limit increase rate, and the voluntary leave rates are 
8.57% for employees with 0-15 years of service and 0% for employees with more than 16 years of service (31 
December 2017: the estimations during the calculation of severance payment are; 4.72% of discount rate, 6.00% 
of salary/limit increase rate and the voluntary leave rates are 6.2% for employees with 0-15 years of service and 
0% for employees with more than 16 years of service).
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14. COMMITMENTS, CONTINGENT ASSETS AND LIABILITIES

Contingent assets and liabilities:

 31 December 2018 31 December 2017
Collaterals received  217,344  201,867 

Collaterals received usually consist of letters of guarantee received from subcontractors for projects which are 
developed by the Group.

In consideration with the present contract terms, the totals of expected minimum operational lease revenues as 
of 31 December 2018 and 2017 are as follows:

 31 December 2018 31 December 2017
Between 0-1 years  639,084  518,832 
Between 1-5 years 3,613,637  1,594,887 
Between 5-10 years 5,315,000  4,319,737 

The minimum operational lease revenue represents lease revenue from Mall of İstanbul Shopping Mall, Korupark 
Shopping Center, Torium Shopping Mall, Zafer Plaza Shopping Mall and Deepo Shopping Mall and the lease 
revenues from Ankamall and Crowne Plaza Otel that are owned by Yeni Gimat-associate of the Group and Bulvar 
Samsun shopping mall that is owned by joint ventures are not included in minimum operational lease revenue.

Collaterals, Pledges and Mortgages (“CPM”)

Below are the amounts of collaterals, pledges and mortgages of the Group as of 31 December 2018 and 2017:

31 December 2018 31 December 2017
CPM’s given by the company 
Collaterals, Pledges, Mortgages (“GPM”)
A.CPM’s Given for Its Own Legal Personality 7,574,196 4,995,799
 7,574,196 4,995,799

The ratio of the other CPMs issued by the entity to the Group’s own equity is 0% as of 31 December 2018.
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 31 December 2018 31 December 2017
 Foreign Currency TL Equivalent Foreign Currency TL Equivalent
US Dollar 915,000 4,813,724 915,000 3,451,289
Euro 355,000 2,139,942 225,000 1,015,989
TL 418,399 418,399 418,399 418,399
 7,372,065 4,885,677

As of 31 December 2018 mortgages on investment properties of the Group is TL 7,372,063 (31 December 2017: 
TL 4,885,676) (Note 8). Lease income from Korupark Shopping Mall, Mall of Istanbul Shopping Mall and Torun 
Tower is alienated regarding the loans used. 

The Group also stands as the guarantor of the borrowings that will be used by the buyers of the residences until 
the completion of residences and transfer of deeds to the contracting parties in relation to sale of residences 
through loans.

15. EQUITY

The Group increased its issued capital from TL 176,100,000 to TL 224,000,000 through public offering. A total TL 
56,352,942 nominal value of shares were offered to the public, consisting of TL 47,900,000 to be issued from the 
capital increase and additional shares TL 8,452,942 owned by current shareholders. The compulsory prospectus 
of the public offering was registered by the İstanbul Trade Registry Office on 7 October 2010 and announced in 
the Trade Registry no: 7669 on 14 October 2010 pages between 641-735 totally 95 pages. The Group’s quoted 
shares are traded in the İstanbul Stock Exchange as from 21 October 2010.

The Board of Directors decided in its meeting dated 10 May 2012 to increase its paid-up capital of TL 
224,000,000 to TL 500,000,000 within the cap of TL 1,000,000,000 registered capital, through a bonus issue by 
adding TL 276,000,000 out of a total of TL 301,770,000 share premium, transactions related to capital increase 
was completed on 16 August 2012.

On 23 May 2017, the General Assembly had a resolution on the payment of the dividend amounting to TL 
50,000 from the net profit in 2016. The Group has increased its capital that is increased to TL 500,004, to TL 
1,000,000 by providing all of it from the Extraordinary Shares within TL 1,000,000 registered equity ceiling, with 
capital increase through bonus issues by TL 499,996 on 22 December 2017.
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Group’s shareholders and capital structure as of 31 December 2018 and 2017 is as follows:

Shareholders (%)
A Group 

(thousand)
B Group 

(thousand)
C Group 

(thousand) 31 December 2018 31 December 2017

Aziz Torun 37.41  200,328  -  173,740  374,068  374,068 

Mehmet Torun 37.40  -  200,312  173,740  374,052  374,052 

Torunlar Gıda San. Ve 
Tic. A.Ş. 0.02  142  142  -  284  284 

Mahmut Karabıyık less than 0.01  -  16  -  16  16 

Other shareholders less than 0.01  -  -  8  8  8 

Other (Public 
quotation) 25.16  -  -  251,572  251,572  251,572 

Nominal capital  200,470  200,470  599,060  1,000,000  1,000,000 

The A and B group shares have nomination privilege to the Board of Directors according to Article 13 of 
association. The members of the Board of Directors are elected by the General Assembly among the two 
candidates nominated by the shareholders of Group B, two candidates nominated by the shareholders of 
the Group A and the other three members among the candidates nominated by the general assembly. The 
nomination and election of the independent board members, the regulations regarding the independent 
members of the Capital Markets Board are taken as basis. 

Companies whose shares are quoted in Borsa İstanbul are subject to profit distribution rules of Capital Market 
Board as follows:

Dividend is distributed according to Communiqué Serial: IV, No: 27 on “Principles Regarding Distribution of 
Dividends for the quoted entities subjected to Capital Market Board Law”, principles determined in the Articles 
of Association and dividend distribution policy which is declared by the Companies to the market.

In addition, the decision also allows companies to compute their distributable profit amounts by considering 
the net profit for the period presented in the publicly disclosed consolidated financial statements prepared in 
accordance with the Communiqué Serial: XI, No: 29, if such distributable profits could be fully recovered from 
resources subject to profit distribution in the statutory records.

Resources that may be Involved in the Profit Distribution:

As of the balance sheet date, the loss for the period less accumulated losses in the Group’s legal records is TL 
4,167,363.22 (31 December 2017: TL 182,039,970.14), and the total amount of the other resources that may be 
involved in the profit distribution is TL 271,055,021 (31 December 2017: TL 325,222,384.30).
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16. REVENUE AND COST OF SALES

 2018 2017
Sales income  
Rent income  526,116  411,150 
Residence and office sales income  1,307,091  286,070 
Common area income  114,196  81,816 
Other  6,880  1,104 
  1,954,283  780,140 
Cost of sales  
Cost of residence and office sales  (911,233)  (150,946)
Common area expenses  (137,644)  (90,833)
Rent expenses and management fees of shopping malls  (18,486)  (27,613)
Other  (1,831)  (2,094)
  (1,069,194)  (271,486)
Gross profit 885,089  508,654 

Operational lease revenues mainly consist of rent income from shopping malls and Torun Tower office building. 
Shopping malls in operation are Mall of İstanbul, Ankara ANKAmall, Bursa Korupark, Bursa Zafer Plaza, Antalya 
Deepo, Istanbul Torium and Samsun Bulvar Shopping Mall. Bulvar Samsun Shopping Mall started to operate on 
July 2012. Ankamall is owned by the Group’s associate Yeni Gimat; Samsun Bulvar Shopping Mall, is owned by the 
Group’s joint venture TTA. Mall of İstanbul, Istanbul Torium, Bursa Korupark and Antalya Deepo is managed by 
the related party Torun AVM Yatırım ve Yönetim A.Ş. (“Torun Shopping Mall”), the management of Bursa Zafer 
Plaza is conducted by Zafer Plaza İşletmeciliği A.Ş. (Note 23).

Common area expenses consist of electricity, water, security, cleaning, advertising and other common area 
expenses of the shopping malls. Common area income consists of expenses charged to tenants related to 
common areas.
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17. MARKETING, SALES AND DISTRIBUTION EXPENSES, GENERAL ADMINISTRATIVE EXPENSES

General administrative expenses 2018 2017
Taxes, due and fees (*)  (14,428)  (15,106)
Provisions for legal cases and doubtful receivables  (9,964)  (5,044)
Personnel expenses  (8,162)  (9,139)
Donations  (643)  (3,284)
Property expenses  (12,122)  (4,699)
Consultancy expenses  (1,268)  (1,932)
Depreciation expenses  (1,241)  (1,312)
Transportation and travel expenses  (825)  (398)
Borsa İstanbul, CMB and CRA expenses  (338)  (1,719)
Other  (2,505)  (2,280)
  (51,496)  (44,913)

(*) A substantial part of the taxes and duties consist of estate taxes, and the estate tax is TL 14,163 for 2018 and TL 15,022 for 2017.

Marketing expenses 2018 2017
Advertising expenses (**)  (1,954)  (4,326)
Personnel expenses  (1,873)  (2,775)
Marketing expenses for residence sales  (103)  - 
Depreciation expenses  (748)  (682)
Consultancy expenses  (60)  (2,148)
Other  (1,686)  (1,120)
  (6,424)  (11,051)

(**) As of 31 December 2018; TL 1,764 (31 December 2017: TL 3,235) of the advertising expenses are related to 5. Levent project, TL 35 (31 
December 2017: TL 51) of it related to Mall of İstanbul, TL 9 (31 December 2017: TL 230) of it related to the advertising expenses of Torun 
Center project, TL 146 of it related to the advertising expenses of Korupark, and the remaining part is related to the Group’s publicity expenses.
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18. EXPENSES BY NATURE

 2018 2017
Cost of residence sales  (911,233)  (150,946)
Common area expenses  (137,644)  (90,833)
Provision for litigation and doubtful receivable expenses  (9,964)  (5,044)
Taxes, due and fees  (14,428)  (15,106)
Rent expenses and management fees of shopping malls  (18,486)  (27,613)
Personnel expenses  (10,035)  (11,914)
Advertising expenses  (1,954)  (4,326)
Donations  (643)  (3,284)
Property expenses  (12,122)  (4,699)
Consultancy expenses  (1,328)  (4,080)
Depreciation expenses  (1,989)  (1,994)
Transportation and travel expenses  (825)  (398)
Borsa İstanbul expenses  (338)  (1,719)
Other  (6,125)  (5,494)
  (1,127,114)  (327,450)
 
19. OTHER INCOME/EXPENSES FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES

 2018 2017
Other income from operating activities  
Net gain from fair value adjustments on investment properties (Note 8)  1,694,571  374,050 
Other income from construction site (*)  5,577  5,126 
Provisions no longer required (Note 7)  346  1,532 
Foreign exchange income, net  68,967  2,212 
Other  7,722  10,505 
  1,777,183  393,425 

Other expenses from operating activities 2018 2017
Other expenses from construction site (*)  (1,394)  (1,579)
Other  -  (175)
  (1,394)  (1,754)

(*) As of 31 December 2018, the major part of the construction income/expenses occur from the usage of construction services by the 
subcontractors of 5. Levent and Torun Center projects (31 December 2017: 5. Levent and Torun Center project) and construction income 
generated from punishments to subcontractors.
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20. FINANCE INCOME/(EXPENSES)

 2018 2017
Finance income  
Interest income on time deposits  64,665  63,220 
Gains on derivative financial instruments  -  4,009 
  64,665  67,229 

Finance expenses 2018 2017
Foreign exchange losses, net  (1,106,380)  (295,092)
Interest expense  (315,102)  (191,551)
Losses on derivative financial instruments  (13,301)  - 
  (1,434,783)  (486,643)

(*) Foreign exchange gains are disclosed after being offset with foreign exchange losses since the Group discloses the foreign exchange gains 
and losses as net balance.

 
21. EARNINGS PER SHARE

In Turkey, companies can increase their share capital by making a pro-rata distribution of shares (“Bonus Shares”) 
to existing shareholders from retained earnings and revaluation surplus. The issue of such shares is treated as 
the issuance of ordinary shares in the calculation of earnings per share.

Earnings per share disclosed in the income statement is determined by dividing net income attributable to 
ordinary shareholders by the weighted average number of shares existing during the period concerned.

 31 December 2018 31 December 2017
Net profit of shareholders  1,287,204  455,108 
Weighted average number of ordinary shares (Full TL)  1,000,000,000  1,000,000,000 
Earnings per share (Full TL)  1.29  0.46 

As stated in Note 2.6, the Group’s weighted average number of shares are calculated by including retrospective 
effects of capital increase by bonus issue.
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22. TAX ASSETS AND LIABILITIES

The Company is exempt from corporate income tax in accordance with paragraph d-4 of Article 5 of the 
Corporate Income Tax Law and in accordance with paragraph 6-a of Article 94 of the Income Tax Law, the 
earnings of the real estate investment trusts are subject to withholding taxes, according to the Council of 
Ministers decision, No: 93/5148, the withholding tax rate is determined as “0”. Therefore, the Company has no 
corporate tax obligation. The current period corporate tax is composed of the taxes calculated on the profits of 
the associates and subsidiaries of the Company.

Tax charges recognized in the statement of comprehensive income for the period ended at 31 December 2018 
and 2017 are summarized as follows:

 31 December 2018 31 December 2017
Current period tax  -  - 
 - - 

23. RELATED PARTY DISCLOSURES

Balances with related parties at 31 December 2018 and 2017 are as follows:

 31 December 2018 31 December 2017
Current period tax  -  - 
 - - 
 
Payables to related parties 2018 2017
Torun Yapı San. Ve Tic. A.Ş. (***)  17,981  104 
Torun Shopping Mall (*)  4,011  - 
Torunlar Gıda  24  - 
Torun Family (**)  8,062  11,068 
 30,078 11,172 

(*) Torun Shopping Mall provides management and administration services to Mall of İstanbul, Mall of Antalya, Deepo Shopping Mall, İstanbul 
Torium Shopping Mall and Bursa Korupark Shopping Mall which are owned by the Company. In accordance with the management agreement 
signed for the malls, management fee is paid for malls which is 2% (VAT excluding) of the sum of monthly TL rent bills charged to tenants. 
The payable and receivable balances of Torun Shopping Mall are recognized as offset. The transactions with Torun AVM have been conducted 
through normal market conditions and market prices.
(**) Payables to the Torun Family consist of order advances received within the scope of the sales of the apartment and offices.
(***) Torun Yapı undertakes the Group’s construction works.
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As of 31 December 2018 and 2017, related to sales to related parties and commission paid, service expenses are 
as follows:

Sales to related parties 2018 2017
Torun Shopping Mall  28,345  34,717 
Zafer Plaza İşletmeciliği A.Ş.  33,900  28,820 
Other  8,077  368 
 70,322 63,905 

Zafer Plaza İşletmeciliği A.Ş. is providing management and administration services to Zafer Plaza Shopping 
Mall which is owned by the Company. In accordance with the management agreement signed for Zafer Plaza 
Shopping Mall, Torunlar REIC has a rent income amounting to TL 33,900 for the period ended 31 December 
2018 and TL 28,820 for the period ended 31 December 2017. The transactions with Zafer Plaza İşletmeciliği A.S. 
have been conducted through normal conditions and market prices.

Purchases from related parties 2018 2017
Torun Shopping Mall  77,255  81,723 
Torun Yapı San. Ve Tic. A.Ş. (***)  -  785 
PRN Parakende Mağazacılık ve Tic. A.Ş.  2  110 
Torunlar Gıda  -  886 
Other  -  105 
 77,257 83,609 

Balances with related parties as of 31 December 2018 and 2017 interest income and interest expenses 
regarding the related parties are as follows:

Interest income: 2018 2017
Torun Shopping Mall  1,001  - 
Other  -  74 
 1,001 74 
  
Interest expenses: 2018 2017
Torun Shopping Mall  454  933 
Torun Yapı  121  2 
Torunlar Gıda  3  53 
Zafer Plaza  104  42 
 682 1,030 
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Compensation to Key Management

Salaries and premium 2018 2017
2,611 2,571

The remuneration of top management consists of short-term salaries and other short-term benefits, they are 
and free from long-term benefits.

24. FAIR VALUE DISCLOSURES ON FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

Financial assets

It is assumed that the carrying values of the cash and cash equivalents approximate their fair values since 
classified under short term.

Appraiser report values are used to determine the fair values of the investment properties, which are recognized 
at their fair values in the balance sheet (Note 8).

It is assumed that the carrying values of the trade receivables approximate the fair values.

It is assumed that the revaluations of foreign currency denominated balances with the period end foreign 
exchange rates approximate their carrying values.

Financial liabilities

It is assumed that the carrying values of trade payables approximate their fair values since they are classified 
under short term.

It is assumed that the fair values of liabilities from finance leases approximate their fair values since classified 
under short term.

Derivative financial instruments are carried at their fair values.

Fair Value of Financial Instruments

The fair values of financial assets and financial liabilities are determined and grouped as follows:

• Level 1: the fair value of financial assets and financial liabilities with standard terms and conditions and traded 
on active liquid markets are determined with reference to quoted market prices; 

• Level 2: the fair value of other financial assets and financial liabilities are determined in accordance with 
generally accepted pricing models based on discounted cash flow analysis using prices from directly or 
indirectly observable current market transactions; and 

• Level 3: the fair value of the financial assets and financial liabilities where there is no observable market data. 

Classifications of the assets and liabilities which are measured at fair values are as follows.
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31 December 2018
 Fair Value Levels
Financial assets measured at the fair value  1. Level TL  2. Level TL  3. Level TL 
Investment properties  -  -  - 

31 December 2018
 Fair Value Levels
Financial liabilities  1. Level TL  2. Level TL  3. Level TL 
Derivative instruments  -  -  - 

31 December 2017
 Fair Value Levels
Financial assets measured at the fair value  1. Level TL  2. Level TL  3. Level TL 
Investment properties  -  - - 
Derivative instruments  -  -  - 

31 December 2017
 Fair Value Levels
Financial liabilities  1. Level TL  2. Level TL  3. Level TL 
Derivative instruments  -  277  - 

The fair value of the financial liabilities is determined as the second level.

25. NATURE AND LEVEL OF RISKS ARISING FROM FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

The Group’s activities expose it to a variety of financial risks, including the effects of changes in debt and 
equity market prices, foreign currency exchange rates and interest rates. The Group’s management focuses 
on the unpredictability of financial markets and seeks to minimize potential adverse effects on the financial 
performance of the Group.

Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk is the inability of the Group to match the net funding requirements with sufficient liquidity. The 
Group management tries to avoid liquidity risk from daily operations by trying to keep sufficient levels of cash 
and to have open credit lines with creditors. Management also tries to align the repayment of borrowings 
obtained for the construction and acquisition of investment properties with the rental revenue streams from 
such properties to the extent possible. For the construction of residential units the Group obtains cash advances 
from customers by engaging in pre-sales agreements to minimize the funding requirement in such projects. 
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The analysis of the Group’s financial liabilities with respect to their maturities as of 31 December 2018 and 2017 
is as follows:

31 December 2018
Carrying

 value
Contractual 

cash flow
Up to 

3 months
3 months 
to 1 year

1 year -
 to 5 years Over 5 years

Short-term financial 
liabilities (Non-derivative):
Short term liabilities  258,038  307,708  93,714  213,994  -  - 
Short term portion of long 
term liabilities  1,685,608  1,856,652  408,423  1,448,229  -  - 
Other payables  28,772  28,772  -  28,772  -  - 
Trade payables  99,246  99,246  99,246  -  -  - 
 2,071,664 2,292,378 601,383 1,690,995 - - 
Long-term financial 
liabilities (Non-derivative):
Long term liabilities  2,250,389  2,573,077  -  -  2,387,671  185,406 
 2,250,389 2,573,077 - - 2,387,671 185,406 
No-derivative financial 
liabilities, total 4,322,053 4,865,455 601,383 1,690,995 2,387,671 185,406 
Derivative financial 
liabilities, net  -  -  -  -  -  - 
Derivative cash inflows  
Derivative cash outflows - - - - - - 

31 December 2017
Carrying 

value
Contractual 

cash flow
Up to 

3 months
3 months 
to 1 year

1 year -
 to 5 years Over 5 years

Short-term financial 
liabilities (Non-derivative):
Short term liabilities  469,671  485,293  145,383  339,910  -  - 
Short term portion of long 
term liabilities  396,372  408,033  102,008  306,025  -  - 
Other payables  35,278  35,278  -  35,278  -  - 
Trade payables  119,224  119,224  119,224  -  -  - 
 1,020,545 1,047,828 366,615 681,213 - - 
Long-term financial 
liabilities (Non-derivative):
Long term liabilities  2,740,433  3,015,374  -  -  3,015,374  - 
 2,740,433 3,015,374 - - 3,015,374 - 
No-derivative financial 
liabilities, total 3,760,978 4,063,202 366,615 681,213 3,015,374 - 
Derivative financial 
liabilities, net  -  -  -  -  -  - 
Derivative cash inflows  
Derivative cash outflows 277 277 - 277 - - 
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The analysis of the Group’s assets and liabilities with respect to their maturities as of 31 December 2018 and 
2017 is as follows:

31 December 2018

 
Up to

 3 months
3 months 
to 1 year

More than
 1 year

Non-interest 
bearing Total

Cash and cash equivalents  200,997  -  -  3,340  204,337 
Trade receivables  -  143,451  10,661  -  154,112 
Due from related parties  30,700  -  -  -  30,700 
Total assets 231,697 143,451 10,661 3,340 389,149 
Financial liabilities  434,697  1,508,949  2,250,389  -  4,194,035 
Trade payables  99,246  -  -  -  99,246 
Total liabilities 533,943 1,508,949 2,250,389 - 4,293,281 
Net repricing position (302,246) (1,365,498) (2,239,728) 3,340 (3,904,132)

31 December 2017

 
Up to

 3 months
3 months 
to1 year

More than 
1 year

Non-interest 
bearing Total

Cash and cash equivalents  601,512  -  -  920  602,432 
Trade receivables  -  168,749  33,498  -  202,247 
Due from related parties  3,882  -  -  -  3,882 
Other financial assets  -  -  -  -  - 
Total assets 605,394 168,749 33,498 920 808,561 
Financial liabilities  380,266  485,777  2,740,433  -  3,606,476 
Trade payables  119,225  -  -  -  119,225 
Other financial liabilities  -  277  -  -  277  
Total liabilities 499,491 486,054 2,740,433 - 3,725,978 
Net repricing position 105,903 (317,305) (2,706,935) 920 (2,917,417)
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Interest rate risk

The Group is exposed to interest rate risk through the impact of rate changes on interest bearing assets 
and liabilities. These exposures are managed by offsetting interest rate sensitive assets and liabilities and 
using derivative instruments when considered necessary. In this context, matching of not only maturities of 
receivables and payables but also contractual repricing dates are crucial. In order to keep the exposure of 
financial liabilities to interest rate changes at a minimum, “fixed interest/floating interest”, “short-term/long-
term”, “TL/foreign currency” balance should be structured consistent within and with assets in the balance sheet.

Borrowings with floating interest rate which have been classified as financial liabilities in the Group’s balance 
sheet have been exposed to the interest risk as a result of change in interest rates. As of 31 December 2018, if 
the interest denominated in US Dollar and Euro is 1% higher/lower while all other variables were held constant, 
profit before tax would decrease/increase by TL 19,614 (31 December 2017: TL 28,065)

Interest Position Table
 

31 December 2018 31 December 2017
Fixed interest rate instruments

Financial liabilities  2,078,471  3,288,247 
Variable interest rate instruments

Financial liabilities  2,115,564  318,229 
Total financial liabilities  4,194,035  3,606,476 
 
Credit risk disclosures

The Group is subject to credit risk arising from trade receivables related to credit sales and deposits at banks.

The Group keeps majority of its deposits with top 10 retail banks established in Turkey, with which the Group 
had standing relations.

Credit risk mainly consists of receivables from related parties. Credit risk of receivables from third parties is 
managed by securing receivables with collaterals covering receivables at the highest possible proportion. 
Methods used are as follows:

• Bank guarantees (letter of guarantee, letter of credit, etc.)
• Mortgage on real estate
• Cheques and notes

In credit risk control, the credit quality of each customer is assessed; taking into account its financial position, 
past experience and other factors, individual risk limits are set in accordance and the utilization of credit limits is 
regularly monitored.
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Credit risk details as of 31 December 2018 are as follows:

Trade receivables 

31 December 2018  Related party  Other party 
Deposits 
in banks 

Maximum exposed credit risk as of reporting date 30,700 154,112 204,337 

Secured portion of the maximum credit risk by guarantees, etc. - 217,344 - 

A. Net book value of financial assets that are either not due or not 
impaired 30,700 140,077 204,337 

B. Net book value of the expired but not impaired financial assets - 14,035 - 

C. Net book value of impaired assets net defter değeri - - - 

 - Over due (Gross book value) - 13,762 - 

 - Impairment (-) - (13,762) - 

 - Not over due (Gross book value) - - - 

 - Impairment (-) - - - 

 - Secured portion of the net value by guarantees, etc. - - - 

D. Off balance sheet items with credit risks - - - 

Credit risk details as of 31 December 2017 are as follows:

 Trade receivables

31 December 2017  Related party  Other party 
Deposits 
in banks 

Maximum exposed credit risk as of reporting date 3,882 202,247 602,432 

Secured portion of the maximum credit risk by guarantees, etc. - 201,867 - 

A. Net book value of financial assets that are either not due or not 
impaired 3,882 194,755 602,432 

B. Net book value of the expired but not impaired financial assets - 17,736 - 

C. Net book value of impaired assets - - - 

 - Over due (Gross book value) - 10,244 - 

 - Impairment (-) - (10,244) - 

 - Not over due (Gross book value) - - - 

 - Impairment (-) - - - 

 - Secured portion of the net value   by guarantees, etc. - - - 

D. Off balance sheet items with credit risks - - - 

While determining the above-mentioned amounts, the factors that increase the credibility such as guarantees 
received are not considered. In the financial assets of the Group which are subject to credit risk, no impairment 
risk has been identified. Additionally, Group does not have off balance sheet items which are subject to credit 
risk and assets overdue but not impaired assets.
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Foreign exchange risk

The Group is exposed to foreign exchange rate risk through operations it has made in multiple currencies. The 
main principle in the management of this foreign currency risk is maintaining foreign exchange position in a way 
to be affected least by the fluctuations in foreign exchange rates, in other words, maintaining foreign exchange 
position close to zero.

For this reason, the proportion of the positions of these currencies among each other or against Turkish Lira to 
total equity amount is aimed to be controlled under certain limits. The Group is exposed to foreign exchange 
rate risk mainly for EUR and USD.

Foreign currency position

Foreign currency denominated assets, liabilities and off-balance sheet accounts give rise to foreign exchange 
exposure.

The Group does not have any export or import activity in 31 December 2018 and 2017.

Foreign currency denominated assets and liabilities held by the Group are as follows:

31 December 2018 31 December 2017
Assets  156,175  209,710 
Liabilities  (3,657,437)  (2,916,196)
Net balance sheet position (3,501,262) (2,706,486)
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The table below summaries foreign currency position risk of the Group as of 31 December 2018. The original 
currency amounts of assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies and the total TL equivalent are as 
follows:

31 December 2018  Euro  US Dollar  TL Amount 
Current Assets  
Monetary financial assets 6,502 20,195 145,438 
Other assets 873 497 7,877 
Trade receivables 100 429 2,860 
Total assets 7,475 21,121 156,175 
Short term liabilities
Trade payables (2,013) (1,661) (20,873)
Financial liabilities (40,250) (262,852) (1,589,854)
Other short term liabilities (2,954) (11,026) (75,813)
Long Term Liabilities
Financial liabilities  (142,843)  (197,989) (1,970,897)
Total liabilities (188,060) (473,528) (3,657,437)
Net balance sheet position (180,585) (452,407) (3,501,262)
Assets from off balance sheet derivative instruments - - - 
Liabilities from off balance sheet derivative 
instruments - - - 
Net foreign currency liability position (180,585) (452,407) (3,501,262)
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The table below summaries foreign currency position risk of the Group as of 31 December 2017. The original 
currency amounts of assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies and the total TL equivalent are as 
follows:

31 December 2017  Euro  US Dollar  TL Amount 
Current Assets  
Monetary financial assets 3,009 46,689 189,699 
Other assets 2,933 1,269 18,031 
Trade receivables  -  525  1,980 
Total assets 5,942 48,483 209,710 
Short term liabilities
Trade payables (3,622) (2,207) (24,680)
Financial liabilities (55,037) (58,902) (470,688)
Long Term Liabilities
Financial liabilities  (105,893)  (515,037) (2,420,828)
Total liabilities (164,552) (576,146) (2,916,196)
Net balance sheet position (158,610) (527,663) (2,706,486)
Assets from off balance sheet derivative instruments - - - 
Liabilities from off balance sheet derivative 
instruments - - - 
Foregn currency balance sheet net position derivatives (277) - (1,251)
Net foreign currency liability position (158,887) (527,663) (2,707,737)
 
The table below shows the Group’s sensitivity for 10% fluctuation of USD and EUR. These amounts represent the 
effect on the statement of comprehensive income of 10% fluctuation of USD and EUR against TL. During this 
analysis all other variables especially interest rate are assumed to remain constant.
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Foreign currency sensitivity analysis as of 31 December 2018 and 2017 are as follows:

 Gain / Loss Equity
31 December 2018  Appreciation  Depreciation  Appreciation  Depreciation 
  
%10 fluctuation in USD rate  
USD net asset/liability (238,007) 238,007 (238,007) 238,007 
Secured portion from USD risk
USD net effect (238,007) 238,007 (238,007) 238,007 

%10 fluctuation in EUR rate
EUR net asset/liability (108,857) 108,857 (108,857) 108,857 
Secured portion from EUR risk
EUR net effect (108,857) 108,857 (108,857) 108,857 

 Gain / Loss Equity
31 December 2017  Appreciation  Depreciation  Appreciation  Depreciation 
  
%10 fluctuation in USD rate  
USD net asset/liability (199,478) (199,478) (199,478) (199,478)
Secured portion from USD risk
USD net effect (199,478) (199,478) (199,478) (199,478)

%10 fluctuation in EUR rate
EUR net asset/liability (81,182) (81,182) (81,182) (81,182)

Secured portion from EUR risk
EUR net effect (81,182) (81,182) (81,182) (81,182)

Capital management

The Group attempts to manage its capital by minimizing the investment risk with portfolio diversification. 
The Group’s objectives are to safeguard the Group’s sustainability as a going concern to provide returns for 
shareholders and benefits for other stakeholders and to maintain an optimal capital structure to reduce the 
cost of capital and to keep a gearing ratio that is in-line with industry averages.

When the Group manages the capital, it aims to provide returns to shareholders and to reduce cost of capital, to 
maintain optimal capital structure by protecting the Group’s operation ability.

In order to maintain or adjust the capital structure, Group may adjust the amount of dividends paid to 
shareholders, return capital to shareholders, issue new shares or sell assets to reduce debt.
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Gearing ratios as of 31 December 2018 and 2017 are as follows:

 31 December 2018 31 December 2017
Total liabilities  4,194,035  3,606,476 
Cash and cash equivalents  (204,337)  (602,432)
Net liabilities  3,989,698  4,354,728 
Equity  7,613,718  6,378,657 
Invested capital 1,000,000 1,000,000 

Gearing ratio 52% 68%

26. SUBSEQUENT EVENTS

None.

27. ADDITIONAL NOTES: CONTROL OF COMPLIANCE WITH THE PORTFOLIO LIMITATIONS

The information below, control of compliance with the portfolio limitations are the condensed information 
which comprised of Serial: II, No: 14.1 “Financial Reporting in Capital Markets” Amendment No: 16 and prepared 
in accordance with Capital Markets Board’s Communiqué Serial: III, No: 48.1“Real Estate Investment Company” 
published in the Official Gazette dated 28 May 2013 numbered 28660 Capital Markets Board’s Communiqué 
Serial: III, No: 48.1 a “Amendment on Real Estate Investment Company” published in the Official Gazette dated 
23 January 2014 numbered 28891.

Financial Statements Main Account Items Related Regulations 31 December 2018 31 December 2017

A Money and capital markets instruments Series:III, No:48.1, Art.24/(b) 204,337 602,432

B Properties, projects based on properties and 
rights based on properties Series:III, No:48.1, Art.24/(a) 11,404,537 9,907,527

C Subsidiaries Series:III, No:48.1, Art.24/(b) 348,425 315,593

Due to related parties (non trade) Series:III, No:48.1, Art.23/(f) - -

Other assets 317,140 510,265

D Total assets Series:III, No:48.1, Art.3/(p) 12,274,439 11,335,817

E Financial liabilities Series:III, No:48.1.1, Art.31 4,098,497 3,513,752

F Other financial liabilities Series:III, No:48.1.1, Art.31 - -

G Finance leases Series:III, No:48.1.1, Art.31 95,538 92,724

H Due from related parties(non trade) Series:III, No:48.1, Art.23(f) - -

I Shareholders Equity Series:III, No:48.1, Art.31 7,613,718 6,378,657

Other liabilities 466,686 1,350,684

D Total liabilities Series:III, No:48.1, Art.3/(p) 12,274,439 11,335,817
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Financial Information Related Regulations 31 December 2018 31 December 2017

A1 The portion of money and capital market 
instruments held for payment of properties for 
the following 3 years Series:III, No:48.1, Art.24/(b) 204,337 602,432

A2 TL and foreign currency time and demand 
deposits Series:III, No:48.1, Art.24/(b) 204,337 602,432

A3 Foreign capital market instruments Series:III, No:48.1, Art.24/(d) - -

B1 Foreign properties, projects based on 
properties and rights based on properties Series:III, No:48.1, Art.24/(d) - -

B2 Idle lands Series:III, No:48.1, Art.24/(c) - -

C1 Foreign affiliates Series:III, No:48.1, Art.24/(d) - -

C2 Investments in affiliated operating companies Series:III, No:48.1, Art.28/1(a) - -

J Non-cash loans Series:III, No:48.1, Art.31 202,131 110,122

K Mortgage amount on non-owned land to be 
developed Series:III, No:48.1, Art.28(e) - -

L Total investments for money and capital market 
instruments in a single entity Series:III, No:48.1, Art.22(ı) - -

Portfolio Restrictions Related Regulations 31 December 2018 31 December 2017
Maximum/ 

Minimum Rate

1 Mortgage amount on non-owed 
land to be developed (K/D) Series:III, No:48.1a, Art.22/(e) 0% 0% <10%

2 Properties, projects based on 
properties and rights based on 
properties (B+A1)/D)

Series:III, No:48.1a,
 Art.24/(a),(b) 95% 93% >50%

3 Money and capital market 
instruments and affiliates (A+C-
A1)/D) Series:III, No:48.1a, Art.24/(b) 3% 3% <50%

4 Foreign properties, projects 
based on properties rights based on 
properties affiliates

 capital, market instruments 
(A3+B1+C1/D) Series:III, No:48.1a, Art.24/(d) 0% 0% <49%

5 Idle lands(B2/D) Series:III, No:48.1a, Art.24/(c) 0% 0% <20%

6 Investment in affiliated operating 
companies (C2/D) Series:III, No:48.1a, Art.28/1/(a) 0% 0% <10%

7 Borrowing limit (E+F+G+H+J)/I Series:III, No:48.1, Art.31 58% 58% <500%

8 TL and foreign currency time and 
demand deposits (A2-A1)/D Series:III, No:48.1, Art.24/(b) 0% 0% <10%

9 Total investments for money and 
capital market instruments in a 
single entity Series:III, No:48.1, Art.22/(1) 0% 0% <10%
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Participation rate Participation amount
Associate (%) 31 December 2018 31 December 2017
Yeni Gimat 14.83    308,370    286,891 
TTA 40.00    25,902    22,250 
Netsel 44.60    14,153    6,452 
   348,425   315,593
 
Yeni Gimat, Netsel and TTA which are associates and joint ventures of the Company (all together “Subsidiaries”) 
do not have valuation reports as of 31 December 2018. For the purposes of the control of compliance with the 
portfolio limitations, net asset values of associates are used. In this respect, Yeni Gimat and TTA’s stand-alone 
financial statements, which are prepared in accordance with financial reporting standards of the Company, 
are multiplied with the Company’s ownership rate in the related subsidiary. Thus, it is assumed that net values 
which are determined by adding and deducting net receivables/liabilities as of balance sheet date from the 
investment properties that are owned by associates and followed in stand-alone financial statements with fair 
values, approximate to the fair value of the associates. Investment properties which are owned by associates are 
explained in Note 1 in detail. Since, there are no valuation reports of Netsel, net asset values of the subsidiaries 
based on their stand-alone financial statements are taken into account and they are multiplied with Company’s 
share in these subsidiaries.
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